

USAID/NIGER GENDER ANALYSIS REPORT

OCTOBER 5, 2022

This publication was produced for review by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). It was prepared by Banyan Global for the Gender Integration Technical Assistance II (GITA II) Contract (7200AA19M00013).

Implemented by:

Banyan Global 1120 20th Street NW, Suite 950 Washington, DC 20036

Phone: +I 202-684-9367

Cover Photo Credit: USAID/Niger, Rebecca Goldman (Link)

Recommended Citation: Greenhalgh-Stammer, Emilie, Laura Groggel, Batamaka Somé, and Sani Yahaya Janjouna. 2022. *USAID/Niger Gender Analysis Report.* Prepared by Banyan Global.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACRONYMS	- 1
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
I. INTRODUCTION	14
I.I BACKGROUND	14
1.2 REPORT STRUCTURE	14
I.3 METHODOLOGY AND DATA LIMITATIONS	15
2. COUNTRY LEVEL GENDER EQUALITY OVERVIEW	17
2.1 COUNTRY CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND	17
2.2 LAWS, POLICIES, REGULATIONS, AND INSTITUTIONAL PRACTICES	18
2.3 CULTURAL NORMS AND BELIEFS	20
2.4 GENDER ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND TIME USE	20
2.5 ACCESS TO AND CONTROL OVER ASSETS AND RESOURCES	21
2.6 PATTERNS OF POWER AND DECISION-MAKING	21
2.7 GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	22
3. CROSS-CUTTING FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	23
3.1 CROSS-CUTTING FINDINGS	23
3.2 CROSS-CUTTING RECOMMENDATIONS	38
3.2.1 GENDER-TRANSFORMATIVE APPROACHES	39
3.2.2 GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE	39
3.2.3 INCLUSIVE TARGETING FOR PROGRAMMING	40
3.2.4 SLAVERY AND CASTE SYSTEMS	40
4. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 1: COMMUNITIES STRENGTHENED, EMPOWERED AND MORE RESILIENT	, 41
4.1 ABOUT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE I	41
4.2 DO I GENDER ANALYSIS FINDINGS	41
4.3 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE I RECOMMENDATIONS	48
5. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2: INCLUSIVE ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES IMPROVED	50
5.1 ABOUT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2	50
5.2 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2 GENDER ANALYSIS FINDINGS	50
5.3 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2 RECOMMENDATIONS	59
6. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3: PERFORMANCE AND RESPONSIVENESS OF GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS IMPROVED	61

6.1 ABOUT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3	61
6.2 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3 GENDER ANALYSIS FINDINGS	61
6.3 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3 RECOMMENDATIONS	67
ANNEX A: ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS	70
ANNEX B: USAID/NIGER GENDER ANALYSIS SCOPE OF WORK	73
ANNEX C: LIST OF SOURCES CONSULTED	84
ENDNOTES	99

ACRONYMS

ADS Automated Directives System

AGYW Adolescent Girls and Young Women

ASI Anti-Slavery International

CDCS Country Development Cooperation Strategy

CEDAW Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women

CEFM Child, Early, and Forced Marriage

CEFMU Child, Early, and Forced Marriage and Unions

CENI Commission Électorale Nationale Indépendante (National Independent Electoral

Commission)

CFA CFA franc; Communauté Financière Africaine (African Financial Community)

CI Counterpart International

CNDH Commission Nationale des Droits de l'Homme et des Libertés Fondamentales (National

Human Rights Commission)

CNIN Conseil National de la Jeunesse du Niger (National Youth Council of Niger)

COFOB Commission Foncière de Base (Land Commissions)

COFOCOM Commission Commission Foncière Communale (Communal Land Commissions)

CRS Catholic Relief Services
CSO Civil Society Organization

DHS Demographic Household Survey

DO Development Objective

ECOWAS Economic Community of West African States

EU European Union FFP Food for Peace

FGM/C Female Genital Mutilation or Cutting

FIN Femmes Juristes du Niger (Women Lawyers of Niger)

FP Family Planning

GALS Gender Action Learning Systems

GBV Gender-Based Violence

GBVIMS GBV incidence data collection system

GCPEA Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack

GE Gender equality
GoN Government of Niger

GRB Gender-Responsive Budgeting

GSI Global Slavery Index

GTA Gender Transformative Approach
IDP Internally Displaced Persons
IGA Income-generating Activity
ILO International Labour Organization

ILO International Labour Organization

INGO International Non-Governmental Organization

INS Institut National de la Statistique (National Institute of Statistics)

IOM International Organization for Migration

IP Implementing partner

IPV Intimate partner violence IR Intermediate Results

LGBTQI+ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Intersex+

MJS Ministère de la Jeunesse, du Sport et de la Culture (Ministry of Youth, Sport, and

Culture)

MMD Mata Masu Dubara

MOF Ministère de la Finance (Ministry of Finance)
MOH Ministère de la Sante (Ministry of Public Health)

MOP Ministère du Plan (Ministry of Planning)

MPFPE Ministère de la Promotion de la Femme et de la Protection de l'Enfant (Ministry for

Promotion of Women and Protection of Children)

MSMEs Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises

MSPPAS Ministre de la Santé Publique, de la Population, et des Affaires Sociales (Ministry of

Public Health, Population, and Social Affairs)

NAP National Action Plan

NGM National gender machinery
NGO Non-Governmental Organization
NRM Natural Resource Management

NSSI USAID Niger Stability Support Initiative

OCHA See: UNOCHA

ONPG Observatoire National pour la Promotion du Genre (National Observatory for Gender

Equality)

OTI Office of Transition Initiatives

PNG Politique Nationale Genre (National Gender Policy)
PNJ Politique Nationale de la Jeunesse (National Youth Policy)

PSI Population Services International

RC Reproductive Coercion

RISE II Resilience in the Sahel Enhanced

RPNQG Reseau des Parliamentarism Nigeriens sur les Questions du Genre (Niger

Parliamentarians Network on Gender Issues)

SBC Social and Behavior Change
SEA Sexual exploitation and abuse
SFCG Search for Common Ground

SH Sexual harassment

SILC Saving and Internal Lending Community

SLG Savings and Loans Groups

SNPRVBG La Stratégie Nationale de Prévention et de Réponse aux Violences Basées sur le Genre

(VBG) au Niger (National Strategy on GBV Prevention and Response)

SOGI Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity

SOP Standard Operating Procedures

SOW Scope of Work

SRGBV School-Related Gender-Based Violence

SRH Sexual and Reproductive Health

UN United Nations

UNIFPA United Nations Population Fund UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

UNOCHA United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

USAID United States Agency for International Development

VC Value chain

VEO Violent Extremist Organization
WASH Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene
WEE Women's Economic Empowerment
WEPs Women's Empowerment Principles

WPS Women, Peace, and Security

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the USAID/Niger team for facilitating the organization of this gender analysis and providing valuable guidance and input throughout the process. In particular, Zilahatou Bahari-Tohon provided critical support throughout each stage. A special thanks is also due to the Office of Transition Initiatives' Mary Fredley and the USAID Niger Stability Support Initiative (NSSI), implemented by the Kaizen Company. Their participation provided unique opportunities to greatly enhance the depth and breadth of regional data collection. Gratitude is due to the stakeholders who participated in the consultations and shared their experiences and recommendations, greatly contributing to USAID's efforts to enhance gender equality and women's empowerment in Niger for years to come. Lastly, a special thanks to Ashley Ross and Amy Sunseri from the USAID Gender Integration Technical Assistance II Task Order team at Banyan Global for providing technical support throughout the gender analysis process.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Following the requirements of the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) Automated Directives System (ADS) 201.3.2.9 and ADS 205, USAID/Niger contracted Banyan Global to undertake a countrywide gender analysis to inform the Mission's Country Development Cooperation Strategy (CDCS) for July 2022 to July 2027. This analysis identifies gender advances, constraints, and recommendations related to information gaps on the following three Development Objectives:

- (I) Communities Strengthened, Empowered, and More Resilient
- (2) Inclusive Economic Opportunities Improved
- (3) Performance and Responsiveness of Government Institutions Improved

The report addresses the cross-cutting themes of gender-based violence (GBV) prevention and response and women's economic empowerment (WEE), with attention to the intersecting variables of age, region, ethnicity, and marital status.

Banyan Global prepared this report after a multi-stage process that included a review of secondary data sources followed by primary data collection, through 151 semi-structured interviews and 2 focus groups, with a total of 176 key stakeholders. Stakeholders included representatives from USAID, USAID implementing partners (IPs), other donors, national and subnational government, national and international non-governmental organizations, local civil society, traditional (or customary leaders), and private sector enterprises, including agricultural cooperatives.

Table I presents the most relevant findings and recommendations identified through the analysis of primary and secondary data. Content is organized by cross-cutting themes and USAID/Niger Development Objectives.

TABLE I. GENDER ANALYSIS KEY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

FINDINGS

RECOMMENDATIONS

CROSS-CUTTING FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Gender Integration within USAID/NIGER and IPs

Despite the inclusion of gender and rightsfocused approaches in a number of USAIDfunded programs, few projects have specific gender-equality objectives and there is little evidence on their impact. For USAID IPs: Develop and model organizational policies, processes, and capacity-building for gender equality and inclusion, including embedding gender equality roles and responsibilities across job descriptions and performance evaluations for all staff. Develop gender action plans that inform work planning and monitoring, evaluation, and learning. For new projects, include a gender-specific programming budget and gender advisor with adequate authority and expertise to address key gender barriers through gender transformative approaches (GTAs), as programs with dedicated staff and budgets have better gender equality and inclusion outcomes. (PRIORITY)

Gender-Transformative Approaches

Traditional and religious leaders have a significant impact on the outcome of inclusive development initiatives, especially for culturally-sensitive topics such as gender equality. Programs report working with community influencers to promote gender-equitable objectives around women's participation and leadership in community structures and the economy; however, more evidence is needed to understand their impact on women's empowerment, decision-making power, and GBV.

- Women, especially young women in rural areas, are marginalized socially, politically, and economically. Women have reduced physical mobility, must seek permission to participate in activities outside the home, and disproportionately spend time on unpaid care work. Fear of women's sexuality and beliefs around the importance of female purity impede women's and girls' ability to engage in the public space, the economy, educational opportunities, and essential services.
- Implementing partners (IPs), civil society organizations (CSOs), private sector representatives, and government employees cited a lack of literacy and numeracy skills as a primary reason for women's low participation in leadership roles across sectors.

- For All Stakeholders: Systematically partner with community influencers
 and gatekeepers, including men, traditional and religious leaders, and
 mothers-in-law, to collaboratively design approaches that shift social
 norms and empower women. Intentionally engaging family and
 community support is critical for doing no harm when seeking gender
 transformative change. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID: Fund evaluations to assess whether gender-transformative objectives are being achieved in current IP programming that utilizes the Husband School approach. This approach is being applied in health, economic development, and GBV programming but has only been evaluated for Sexual Reproductive Health (SRH) objectives. (PRIORITY)
- For All Stakeholders: Design and implement gender transformative approaches (GTAs), including those that specifically target younger men and women (segmented by life cycle), that focus on dismantling harmful norms of femininity and masculinity. For example, given the popularity of the Husband Schools, stakeholders could pilot, adapt, and scale similar GTAs working with men and boys for the specific objectives of reducing the acceptance of gender-based violence (GBV) and supporting women's economic empowerment. Sample approaches include Equimundo's (previously Promundo) Journeys of Transformation and Program H, The Living Peace Group, Sonke Gender Justice One Man Can, and Engender Health's Men As Partners. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID: Integrate women-focused functional literacy programs within all sectoral programming and within other "women-focused" approaches (i.e., care groups or Savings and Loans Groups). If literacy is not a specific program component, within humanitarian response programs, for example, ensure referrals for participants to available literacy programs. Ensure IPs integrate rigorous M&E mechanisms to monitor the quality and effectiveness of functional literacy approaches.

Gender-Based Violence (GBV)

Both men and women place a high value on having a large family, and 28 percent of girls are married before age 15 according to the most recent data from 2012. Community leaders and Government of Niger (GoN) stakeholders frequently mentioned Child, Early, and Forced Marriage and Unions (CEFMU) as a key issue in their communities in relation to girls' education.

- For All Stakeholders: Implement approaches to change attitudes and expectations around marriage age and fertility in order to reduce CEFMU. Include a specific focus on reducing CEFMU through social and behavior change (SBC) seeking to promote girls' education. SBC efforts should highlight the positive aspects of continuing girls' education and delaying girls' marriage instead of taking a negative and shame-inducing approach. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID: Work with traditional and religious leaders to speak out against CEFMU in context-appropriate ways. Identify and provide support to CSOs and other organizations to advocate to the GoN to apply a minimum marriage age, first to respect the 15-year-old threshold for girls and then to work towards the international human rights standard of 18 years old.

Domestic and intimate partner violence (IPV) is a hidden phenomenon that is widely accepted as normal by both men and women in Niger. The COVID-19 pandemic, as well as ongoing conflict in Diffa and Tillabéri, has exacerbated risks of GBV.

 For USAID: Analyze the major drivers of Intimate Partner Violence (IPV), including cultural and religious justifications. Work with traditional and religious leaders to identify culturally appropriate behavior-change approaches that include both men and women. (PRIORITY)

Although GBV is a chronic and escalating issue in Niger, prevention and response programming is not prioritized by donors, resulting in underfunding (less than I percent of development funding and 1.2 percent of humanitarian funding). Donor and GoN efforts to address GBV are disjointed and require consolidation and coordination.

- For USAID: Support a stand-alone GBV program; incorporate GBV requirements into more solicitations and proposal evaluation criteria. Improve GBV integration in sectoral programming by requiring all programs to identify and mitigate GBV risks. Provide resources, expertise, and support for IP staff to identify and address GBV in their work, including specialized training for staff in positions to provide referrals or entry points to GBV response services. (PRIORITY)
- For all stakeholders: Promote the exchange of experiences and lessons learned in GBV prevention and response programming, with the aim of identifying and replicating best practices and replicating them. In close collaboration with the GoN (and potentially facilitated by the existing national GBV Sub-Cluster) create a collaborative framework for GBV prevention and response programming to harmonize resource mobilization efforts for a holistic response.

Inclusive Targeting for Programming

Young, unmarried, and childless women, regardless of background, have less social status and power than women who are married and have children. Stakeholders reported an increase in young girls migrating to regional city centers and working on the street, where there is also a noted increase in sexual harassment and transactional sex.

For All Stakeholders: Dedicate culturally sensitive programming across sectors that focuses specifically on the rights and needs of Adolescent Girls and Young Women (AGYW), including migrants, out-of-school AGYW, and newly married but childless women—populations who are often left out of current programs. Capacity-building for AGYW should include out-of-school learning opportunities, including financial literacy and microenterprise skills with the intention of enhancing access to savings. Life skills development and SRH knowledge should also be emphasized across all age groups.

Current programming does not always account for or collect disaggregated data on polygamous households, despite 31 percent of Nigerien households being polygamous.² There is a knowledge gap in how to work with polygamous households to support more equitable household power dynamics, as there are often power imbalances not only between husband and wife but also

• For USAID and IPs: Analyze successful programs, both within Niger and the region, that work with polygamous households. Ensure that program data collection tools are adapted to better understand and work with intra-household power dynamics. During program design, collect data that will allow for a flexible do-no-harm approach that can reach the most vulnerable members of a household.

among co-wives.

Recruitment of project participants and beneficiaries is often conducted in collaboration with local leaders of sedentary populations or through a household census. Although partnering with local leaders or heads of household secures a level of buy-in for programs, this recruitment method reproduces existing exclusion and marginalization within communities.

For Donors: Prioritize the inclusion of nomadic groups within service-delivery projects with GoN. Identify and analyze best practices for working with nomadic populations, including with marginalized groups within these populations (women, youth, persons with disabilities, etc.). (PRIORITY)

Slavery and Caste Systems

Speaking about slavery and caste systems is extremely taboo, but these harmful practices continue covertly, particularly in isolated rural regions. There is very limited information about the individuals living within these systems, and most existing programming does not reach them.

- For Donors: While working diplomatically with the GoN, support in-depth analysis of slavery and the caste system and assist with the dissemination of findings. Support GoN to strengthen enforcement of the 2003 antislavery law.
- For Donors: Support human rights-focused programs that provide
 resources and support to local activists and CSOs who are working with
 individuals in slavery and caste systems. Possible areas of intervention
 include: economic and social reintegration for former slaves; legal
 support for slaves seeking freedom or family reunification; legal support
 for lower caste people and slave descendants who are facing
 discrimination; provision of social services, especially health and
 education; and protection for advocates who speak out about slavery.

DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE I: COMMUNITIES STRENGTHENED, EMPOWERED, AND MORE RESILIENT

Although the quota system is an excellent step in institutionalizing women's participation and leadership in government, the law is not always applied, especially at decentralized levels, due to a dearth of qualified female candidates, watchdogs who lack authority to enforce the quota, and ministries who do not take it seriously.

 For USAID and IPs: Support watchdogs analyzing the application of the quota law, such as the National Observatory for Gender Equality (ONPG), to widely disseminate their findings to diverse audiences and improve advocacy for increased adherence to quotas.

GoN officials recognize that women, even when present, are not participating in community meetings or decision-making.

- For USAID IPs: Work with decentralized GoN officials and local leaders to emphasize the importance of hearing diverse and representational views.
 Train these groups on inclusive facilitation techniques to be used during community meetings.
- For USAID IPs: Explore participatory decision-making models that solicit input from women-only and youth-led stakeholder groups, as an intermediary step before community-wide consultations.

Promoting equitable participation and leadership of women and girls in project activities is a challenge because of low levels of literacy, restricted mobility, need for spousal approval for activities outside of the home, and norms restricting women's leadership roles to certain sectors and community decision-making structures. A number of IPs and local CSOs, however, have developed best practices for

For USAID IPs: Seek deliberate measures to reach women for leadership positions who have not had the opportunity, including working with men to demonstrate the benefit of their wife's participation. Identify women in targeted communities who are keen to learn and participate but may not have adequate resources and/or skill sets. Solicit the support of the existing cadre of women leaders to identify, engage, and provide mentorship to potential women leaders.

overcoming these barriers to participation.

USAID IPs report that projects tend to engage the same few women for leadership positions. These women are reportedly older, of higher socioeconomic status, and/or have connections to traditional leaders.

Factors influencing access to formal and customary justice for women and young girls are complex. Stakeholders indicated women have better access to and prefer customary forms of justice, despite outcomes that frequently do not respect women's human rights. It is unclear how barriers to accessing justice influence women's choice of customary or religious justice systems over formal systems.

For USAID and IPs: Commission a study to understand women's
preferences regarding avenues for justice around key areas of conflict
(i.e., land tenure and divorce), examining barriers to accessing justice as
well as the extent to which outcomes uphold women's rights. IPs who
work with customary, religious, and formal justice systems should
continue training justice actors, including religious and customary actors
in particular, on women's human rights and the importance of neutrality
and confidentiality when responding to issues of GBV.

Despite the recent emphasis on Women, Peace, and Security (WPS), women continue to have a limited role in peacebuilding and conflict resolution, especially at the community level. Conflicts related to assets and natural resources are managed by men. Female justice representatives are called upon to address "women's conflicts." There is little evidence of investments in, or implementation of, GoN's National Action Plan (NAP) for WPS.

- For USAID: In line with WPS' core pillars, fund a standalone GBV prevention program in conflict-affected regions that aligns with national efforts to implement WPS action plans.
- For USAID: Sponsor forums for organizations using gender-specific approaches that increase women's role (and visibility) in conflict mediation, such as the <u>Women Mediator</u> programs, to share best practices and lessons learned.

Youth-serving associations in Niger tend to be led by men (not always young) and focus on serving the needs of young men. The needs of young women are not well-defined or prioritized within these associations.

 For USAID: As young women are often underrepresented in youthserving organizations, ensure youth-focused programs and approaches are not gender-blind and inadvertently designed to meet only the needs of young men.

When women hold decision-making roles in CSOs, it is almost exclusively within local organizations with a gender-related mission (i.e., GBV, women's economic empowerment, etc.), which are concentrated in urban areas.

Networks or federations of CSOs working on gender are few. The more prominent CSOs in urban centers are perceived as not inclusive of particularly marginalized women, including conflict-affected women, nomadic women, rural women, and women IDPs.

- For USAID IPs: Address key barriers to women's effective participation in decision-making positions in local CSOs and agricultural cooperatives through functional literacy and GTAs that seek to identify and address harmful gender power dynamics within groups. For example, Oxfam's Gender Action Learning Systems (GALS) approach seeks to transform unequal power relations in community-based groups.
- For USAID and IPs: 1) USAID and IPs should model principles of equity and inclusion by staffing project teams with women in leadership positions across sectors (including potentially applying project team gender quotas). 2) Deliver capacity-building for CSOs to become more equitable and inclusive through their missions, governance structure, HR systems, strategic planning, and outreach, using approaches such as the Toolbox for Gender Mainstreaming in Member-based Organizations. Provide training on gender integration in programs and on how to design, plan and budget for, and implement GTAs. (PRIORITY)

DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2: INCLUSIVE ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES IMPROVED

Women are concentrated in the value chains (VC) that are considered to be culturally-appropriate "women's crops,"

For USAID: Commission context-specific, gender-responsive VC analyses
designed to: better understand women's and men's roles across
agricultural VCs; identify key barriers to women's participation in any VC

including vegetables, peanut, sesame, nutgrass, and cowpea. Some stakeholders noted there are growth opportunities in these VCs, especially peanut and sesame, because current production does not meet domestic demand.

Women are heavily concentrated in agricultural "transformation," that is, post-harvest processing. This includes (but is not limited to) production of edible oils and condiments, nutritionally enriched flours, and animal fodder.

(such as time constraints, challenges commanding on-farm labor, lack of finance, and limited access to inputs and transportation); and identify opportunities to increase women's visibility and economic gains. These analyses should, first, identify women's unique constraints in production, processing, and commercialization in VCs with high levels of female participation; and second, identify specific strategies to address key barriers to women's engagement in traditionally male-dominated VCs (such as staple crops) and promote women's visibility and participation in these VCs in a context-appropriate manner. (PRIORITY)

As conflict and migration adjust traditional social patterns, more women are engaging in agricultural practices that are traditionally the domain of men, specifically, the cultivation of staple crops. However, despite shifting gender roles in agriculture, women's rights, decision-making power, and control over assets are not necessarily changing.

For USAID and IPs: Programs working with women in agricultural processing activities should obtain buy-in from husbands and broader community influencers in order to avoid creating household conflict. Possible approaches at the community level include Community Conversations or Dimitra Clubs, which allow for reflection and participatory action to address harmful power dynamics that hinder women's access to and control over resources for nutrition and food security. Household-focused approaches, such as Farming as a Family Business or Individual Household Mentoring, promote collaborative management of household income and harvest. (PRIORITY)

The Ministries of Agriculture and Livestock's agricultural extension services have limited ability to address gender gaps in agricultural knowledge and productivity, because most extension workers are men.

- For USAID: Work with the Ministries of Agriculture and Livestock to develop a long-term recruitment strategy to hire more female agriculture extension agents, including by removing unnecessarily prohibitive criteria (e.g., ability to ride a motorcycle) that can be addressed through on-the-job training.
- For USAID and IPs: Pilot context-appropriate approaches to recruit and train more female extension agents. Improve access to knowledge for rural men and women by piloting or up-scaling new approaches, such as identifying lead farming couples (husband/wife) who can be trained by agricultural extension agents to provide technical support to their community. Seek to better understand the agricultural information needs and constraints of nomadic groups and develop a program to provide tailored extension services.

Although women are reportedly inheriting land more often, they are pressured to cede the land to their family.

For USAID: Identify and pilot best practices for increasing women's land tenure, such as: providing incentives for joint land titling, which creates a stepping stone to female ownership of household assets; community land demarcation, with collective titles for women's agricultural cooperatives; and creating gender quotas for women's participation in land management committees. To develop a context-appropriate approach, conduct in-depth consultations with women (including CSOs, cooperatives, and networks) and negotiate support from traditional leaders as well as the formal justice sector. (PRIORITY)

While women are quite active in culturally acceptable SLGs, which are based on the traditional West African *tontine* and frequently used in USAID IP activities, fewer women participate in agricultural cooperatives.

 For USAID IPs: Build the capacity of rural women's associations, cooperatives, and producer organizations. Facilitate networks and mentorship relationships among women's cooperatives with varying levels of capacity, connecting smaller groups to larger groups to improve market linkages. Consider providing small grants and functional literacy and/or business training to individuals and groups to upscale their businesses.

Despite legal provisions against gender discrimination and sexual harassment in the

 For USAID and IPs: Provide technical support to GoN entities working with and regulating the private sector, such as the Ministry of workforce, private sector employers and CSOs of all sizes usually do not have human resource policies in place to support non-discrimination and employee protections. Stakeholders reported discriminatory hiring and firing practices, lack of transparency, underreporting of sexual harassment (SH) and sexual exploitation and abuse (SEA), and underrepresentation of marginalized groups within employment.

- Employment, Labor, and Social Security, on strategies to monitor and promote non-discrimination in the workplace and effectively apply Labor Code rights. Work with these entities to increase the knowledge and understanding of staff at central and decentralized levels on the relevance and benefits of labor policies to support non-discrimination and gender equality. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID IPs: Projects that engage directly with the private sector should consider promoting private sector company adherence to the Women's Empowerment Principles (WEPs), a set of UN-developed principles offering guidance to businesses on how to promote gender equality and women's empowerment in the workplace, marketplace, and community.

Women's limited business skills, literacy, unpaid work burden, and lack of mobility and self-confidence in the public domain are major factors that negatively impact women's employability and ability to formalize a business.

- For USAID and IPs: Prioritize engagement with women-led and person-with-disability-led businesses. Through this engagement, identify barriers to growth for these businesses, develop context-appropriate approaches to overcome these barriers (such as providing improved access to information and functional literacy, numeracy, and business skills training), facilitate business formalization, and support recruitment strategies that target other members of marginalized groups.
- For USAID IPs: Consider supporting a network of women-owned MSMEs, by sector, to foster mutual progress towards formalization and navigating GoN systems.

DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3: PERFORMANCE AND RESPONSIVENESS OF GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS IMPROVED

The GoN national gender machinery (NGM) comprises some of the most underfunded governmental institutions—in particular, the Ministry for the Promotion of Women and Child Protection (MPFPE) and ONPG. These institutions are rarely engaged with development partners in other sectors, especially sectors related to economic development.

The ONPG's mandate is critical to holding sectoral ministries accountable in respecting quotas and integrating gender across their policies and programs; however, there is low awareness of the ONPG across sectoral ministries at all levels. The ONPG is not a permanent institution but rather an initiative tied to the Prime Minister's office.

- For USAID: As the various institutions comprising the NGM are frequently, if inadvertently, excluded from international donor programming, elevate their work by establishing formal technical partnerships. USAID can thus emphasize the importance of gender mainstreaming across sectoral ministries. USAID can also help the NGM advocate for the ONPG to be recognized by the National Assembly as a permanent institutional authority. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID and IPs: There is significant potential to support the integration of gender into decentralized development plans (plans de développement communal ou régional) and their budgets. The GoN is usually more available and willing to focus on cross-sectoral coordination at decentralized levels, which offers unique opportunities for successful gender mainstreaming. (PRIORITY)

Despite capacity-building efforts by a number of international and national NGOs, gender-responsive budgeting (GRB) is not institutionalized across GoN sectoral ministries, perpetuating low levels of gender integration in sectoral programs.

There are very few permanent advocacy platforms enabling CSOs to engage with the GoN to ensure gender mainstreaming into policy, program, or budget decisions. In cases where they do exist and are functional, they are frequently led (and

- For USAID: Partner with the NGM to support the MoF to develop budgeting directives to respond to government priorities with regard to gender equality and women's needs. Work with GoN and international partners to allocate a minimum budget percentage for addressing gender-specific barriers within GoN sectoral policies and programs. In this process, the ONPG can support monitoring for adherence to directives.
- For USAID IPs: Deliver capacity-building for CSOs to conduct advocacy for GRB across sectors. Consider supporting CSO-exchange platforms, allowing CSOs from other African countries with better institutionalized GRB practices to share best practices and lessons learned.
- For USAID: Work with UN Women to revitalize a gender donor working group that can establish funding mechanisms accessible to a wide range

financed) by international organizations.

of CSOs, not only the strongest or the largest. UN Women in Niger has a long-standing relationship with women-led CSOs and can be a priority technical partner for engaging with these groups.

Though Gender Focal Points (GFP) and cellules genre/gender units exist in certain ministries, GFPs do not fully understand their responsibilities, nor do they have adequate training, resources, or support to create and manage gender units.

- For All Stakeholders: Support the MPFPE to establish a standard job description and selection process for GFPs, including minimum qualifications, a minimum seniority level, and encouragement to consider qualified male candidates. Provide support to establish an in-depth permanent training program for GFPs across sectoral ministries, including monitoring and evaluating the program's effectiveness in improving GFP performance.
- For All Stakeholders: Integrate training for the GoN on inclusive management, maintenance, and reporting related to data and advocacy platforms, such as the Platform to End Child Marriage, to ensure ownership and long-term sustainability. This training might also include IT support and management.

The availability and quality of data related to gender equality is generally poor in Niger due to weak institutions, people's reticence to openly discuss issues related to gender. Even where data are disaggregated by sex, in-depth analysis of that data is not always undertaken. When data and its gender analyses are available, they are not systematically shared.

- For USAID and GoN: As the results of the Demographic Household Survey (DHS) were disputed due to poor data quality, prioritize funding for a new DHS – to include the <u>standard modules</u> on women's status, domestic violence, and female genital mutilation or cutting (FGM/C) – and provide for adequate training and preparation in order to ensure acceptable implementation. (PRIORITY)
- For All Stakeholders: Support the MPFPE and ONPG's advocacy efforts to integrate three national women's empowerment indicators into the national data collected by the National Institute of Statistics (INS).
- For USAID: Work with relevant GoN Institutions, including the ONPG, and with other international organizations to create research dissemination plans. As part of this, USAID could provide technical support to the GoN to create a "gender data portal" which, at a minimum, could be a repository for gender-specific data documents and analyses. For example, the Government of Rwanda has established a gender monitoring office which maintains online data portals for gender; this might be considered as a model to replicate.

Although GBV data is collected by health centers and humanitarian partners, accurate measurement is difficult given the cultural context.

 For USAID: Actively participate in and support the national Sub-Cluster on GBV to explore and advocate for initiatives to improve nationwide GBV data.

GBV response services vary widely among regions: better services are available in regions with more humanitarian response programs (such as Tillabéri and Diffa), because there are more international organizations operating with strong GBV response expertise. In all regions, however, holistic GBV services are needed that draw on multi-sectoral coordination, supportive attitudes of service providers (especially as it relates to confidentiality), and adequate psychosocial care.

- For USAID: Design and fund a specific GBV-focused program that aligns
 with GoN strategies (including the National Action Plan to End Child
 Marriage and the National Strategy to Reduce GBV) and focuses
 specifically on GBV "one-stop-shop" centers. (PRIORITY)
- For all Stakeholders: Support GBV-focused CSOs to establish a permanent
 and comprehensive "formal justice" legal aid program for GBV survivors,
 including the following elements: training for justice actors, including
 police, on neutrality and confidentiality; a permanent fund to cover fees,
 including legal, transportation, lodging, health, etc.; and a widespread
 dissemination campaign, including information on types of GBV as well as
 information on how to confidentially seek formal justice, including for
 those who are illiterate.
- For USAID and USAID IPs: Work with all relevant GoN institutions (MPFPE, Ministry of Public Health and Social Affairs, Ministry of Justice, Ministry of Defense/National Gendarmerie, and Ministry of the Interior/National Police) as well as GBV-focused CSOs to define minimum standards of GBV response; develop and apply harmonized SOPs, such as those developed by UN Women. Coordinate with

organizations engaged in GBV programming (and specifically the Spotlight Initiative program) to avoid duplication and to promote adherence to global best practice.

Women face numerous barriers as political candidates, including a lack of input regarding electoral candidate lists (which are monopolized by the male-dominated political elite) and a lack of necessary campaign financing. Some elected women have even been removed from office by the nominating political party to be replaced by a man.

For USAID IPs: Work directly with political parties to discuss the
importance of including and supporting female candidates. Working with
these parties, develop incentives to include women and frame culturally
appropriate explanations demonstrating that having female candidates
can bolster a party's political power.

Some USAID-funded programs have successfully trained and supported female candidates to develop leadership skills that helped them get nominated and elected. However, once female candidates are nominated, they may face ongoing pushback from male colleagues, sexist behavior, and sexual harassment. More programs are needed to support women after they are elected.

- For USAID and IPs: Support capacity-building interventions for women
 political leaders within established women's parliamentary caucuses;
 provide women leaders with skills and knowledge to be effective and
 successful. Meaningful (substantive and visible) representation from
 women leaders reinforces role-modeling and meets voters' demand for
 performance accountability, which increases the public's acceptance and
 support for women's political leadership.
- For USAID IPs: Work with the Women's Parliamentary Network to
 propose an amendment to existing laws on GBV to criminalize violence
 against women in politics, or pass standalone laws to prohibit and
 criminalize these acts. These provisions are needed to provide adequate
 protection and support to women in politics, to create the conditions
 for reporting such violence, and to establish a framework for holding
 perpetrators accountable.

I. INTRODUCTION

I.I BACKGROUND

Per requirements in the USAID Automated Directives System (ADS) 201.3.2.9 and ADS 205, USAID/Niger hired Banyan Global to undertake a countrywide gender analysis to inform the Mission's Country Development Cooperation Strategy (CDCS) for July 2022 - July 2027, as specified in the Scope of Work (SOW) in Annex B. The gender analysis aligns with the USAID Gender Equality and Female Empowerment Policy (2012), U.S. Strategy to Prevent and Respond to GBV (2016), the Women's Entrepreneurship and Economic Empowerment (WEEE) Act (2018), and the United States National Strategy on Gender Equity and Equality.

A gender analysis is used to identify, understand, and describe gender differences and the relevance of gender-specific roles, responsibilities, rights, opportunities, patterns of decision making and leadership, and access to resources and services in a given context. It is a tool for examining the causes and consequences of inequality and for identifying gender program priorities for more impactful and equitable development interventions. Additionally, this study integrates inclusive development analysis to the extent possible by identifying, analyzing, and explaining barriers and processes that exclude certain people from participating fully in society and development programs. The USAID/Niger Gender Analysis identifies gender gaps, developing data to enhance the integration of gender equality and women's empowerment, and provides recommendations to better address gender and inclusion-related inequalities, constraints, advances, and opportunities.

As the basis for this gender analysis, Banyan Global carried out an in-depth literature review to identify data gaps and define lines of inquiry. The literature review found significant literature specific to Niger, the Sahel, and the Lake Chad Basin relating to education and health, especially on sexual and reproductive health (SRH) and family planning (FP). Less literature is available on women's participation in community decisional structures, on the effectiveness of civil society organizations (CSOs)³ working on gender and social inclusion issues, or on opportunities for women's employment in the private sector, particularly in agro-industry. This report is designed to fill these gaps in the existing literature; it does not include detailed analysis of health and education. For more information on gender and inclusion analysis relating to health and education in Niger, see the List of Sources Consulted in Annex C.

1.2 REPORT STRUCTURE

This gender analysis report is organized in three parts, with three accompanying Annexes, as summarized in Table 1.

TABLE I. REPORT STRUCTURE OF USAID/NIGER GENDER ANALYSIS			
REPORT SECTION	DESCRIPTION OF SECTION	ORGANIZING ELEMENTS OF GENDER ANALYSIS	
Section 2: Country Level Gender Equality Overview	A country level overview of gender equality provides background about Niger, along with analysis following the gender analysis domains delineated by the USAID Automated Directives System 205 gender directive.	 Laws, policies, regulations, and institutional practices Cultural norms and beliefs Gender roles, responsibilities, and time use Access to and control over assets and resources Patterns of power and decision-making GBV 	
Section 3: Findings and Recommendations: Cross-Cutting	Cross-cutting findings and recommendations address common challenges identified for advancing gender equality and social inclusion across all sectors.	 Barriers to gender-transformative programming GBV prevention and response, including child, early, and forced marriage and unions (CEFMU) Inclusion of adolescent girls and young women (AGYW), nomadic populations, and persons in slavery and caste systems. 	
Sections 4-6: Findings and Recommendations by Development Objective	Findings and recommendations are presented for each Development Objectives (DO) of the anticipated CDCS. Each of the three DO sections examines intersecting variables of age (youth and children), rural/urban/nomadic residence, and ethnicity.	 DO 1: Communities Strengthened, Empowered, and More Resilient DO 2: Inclusive Economic Opportunities Improved DO 3: Performance and Responsiveness of Government Institutions Improved 	
Annexes		 Annex A: Illustrative Indicators Annex B: Gender Analysis Scope of Work Annex C: List of Sources Consulted 	

1.3 METHODOLOGY AND DATA LIMITATIONS

This report is based on a desk review of nearly 270 sources supplemented by primary data collection through 151 semi-structured interviews and 2 focus groups that engaged a total of 176 stakeholders. Key stakeholders were first identified through an initial list provided by USAID and key implementers. Additional informants were then identified via snowball sampling.

The research team conducted primary data collection May 9–June 9, 2022 with stakeholders that included USAID staff, prime and local implementing partners (IPs), other donors, national and subnational Government of Niger (GoN) officials, national and international non-governmental organizations (NGOs and INGOs), local civil society, traditional (or customary) leaders, and private sector enterprises, including agricultural cooperatives. Of the 176 key stakeholders consulted, 72 (41 percent) were women and 104 (59 percent) were men. See Table 2 for the number of stakeholders consulted by region and Table 3 for the number of stakeholders consulted by group.

TABLE 2. STAKEHOLDERS CONSULTED (BY REGION)			
REGION	NUMBER OF STAKEHOLDERS		
Niamey	43		
Tillaberi	20		
Tahoua	38		
Zinder	24		
Maradi	25		
Dosso	25		
TOTAL	176		

TABLE 3. STAKEHOLDERS CONSULTED (BY GROUP)		
REGION	NUMBER OF STAKEHOLDERS	
Local CSOs	41	
Agricultural Cooperatives	18	
International Organizations and Donors	16	
USAID/Niger	8	
Traditional (Customary) Leaders	20	
Subnational Government Officials	39	
National Government Representatives	5	
Private Sector	13	

With the helpful assistance of the USAID NSSI, through the Office of Transition Initiatives (OTI), the research team was able to collect extensive data outside of Niamey through a team of Nigerien interviewers who met with traditional leaders, subnational government officials, local civil society, and private sector entities in five regions. The Banyan Global team traveled with the NSSI team to collect data in Tahoua, Zinder, Maradi, and Dosso, but was not able to travel to Tillabéri to directly oversee data collection. The Tillabéri interviews included fewer follow-up questions and less detail compared to other regions, presenting data limitations but not quality concerns. The team faced difficulties arranging

meetings with national government representatives, some of whom did not respond for several weeks, canceled meetings, or provided a lower-level representative in their place. Because of these scheduling challenges and resource limitations, representatives from all relevant ministry sectoral directorates could not be interviewed for the study.

Because some lines of inquiry involved sensitive topics, certain stakeholder groups – specifically traditional leaders and GoN representatives – may have been reticent in their responses. The accuracy of quantitative and qualitative data on gender-based violence (GBV), in particular, is limited due to the sensitivity around and normalization of GBV. More generally, recent demographic data for Niger is unavailable, as the last valid demographic household survey (DHS) was conducted in 2012. In many instances, the research team cites this data only because there is no more recent data available. Throughout the report, we have highlighted where we believe more research is needed. Furthermore, while the report integrates inclusive development analysis to the extent possible, further detailed analyses per region and ethnic group would be required to fully capture the rich diversity of Niger.

2. COUNTRY LEVEL GENDER EQUALITY OVERVIEW

2.1 COUNTRY CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND

The Republic of Niger (Niger) is a landlocked country in francophone West Africa. The largest country in West Africa, 80 percent of Niger is covered by the Sahara Desert,⁴ and 84 percent⁵ of the population of 24.2 million⁶ lives in rural areas. Nearly 85 percent of Nigieriens are engaged in agriculture.⁷ Niger is ranked as the most vulnerable country in the world to climate change.⁸

Niger is predominantly Muslim (more than 98 percent); the two primary ethnic groups are the Hausa (53 percent) and the Zarma/Songhai (21 percent), followed by the Tuareg (11 percent), Fulani/Peulh (6.5 percent), Kanuri (5.9 percent), Gurma (0.8 percent), Arab (0.4 percent), and Toubou (0.4 percent).

Niger ranks last in the world (189 out of 189) on the United Nations (U.N.) Human Development Index, ¹¹ and more than half of the population lives below the poverty line. ¹² UNESCO estimates a 35 percent literacy rate (44 percent male, 27 percent female), ¹³ and only 51 percent of students complete primary school (54 percent male, 49 percent female). ¹⁴ Although Niger has dedicated significant efforts to improving health outcomes over the past several decades, maternal and child mortality rates remain high: ¹⁵ maternal mortality is 535 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births; ¹⁶ under-five, infant, and neonatal mortality is 127, 65, and 24 deaths, respectively, per 1,000 live births. ¹⁷ The population suffers from malnutrition (44.5 percent of girls and 46.7 percent of boys below 5 are stunted), ¹⁸ as well as a variety of infectious diseases, including a high prevalence of malaria. ¹⁹

Niger ranks 45 out of 52 African countries on the African Development Bank's African Gender Equality Scale, ²⁰ and has the highest rate of child marriage in the world. ²¹ These elevated rates of child marriage contribute to Niger's high fertility rate, estimated at 6.7 children per woman in 2020. ²² Moreover, according to the most recently available data, nearly one-third of married women in Niger are in polygamous unions. ²³ At the current annual 3 percent growth rate, the population will double in the next 15 years. ²⁴ Two-thirds of the population is younger than 25, and 60 percent is below 18. ²⁵

Niger faces a combination of quick onset and protracted humanitarian crises. The rise of violent extremist organizations (VEOs) in the Sahel and Lake Chad Basin has increased insecurity, especially in

the regions of Tillabéri and Diffa, leading to population displacements in a country that is already vulnerable to climate-related disasters, ²⁶ multiple epidemic outbreaks, ²⁷ and nutritional crises. ²⁸ The United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA, or OCHA) estimates that there are more than 264,000 internally displaced persons (IDPs) in Diffa, Maradi, Tahoua, and Tillabéri regions; women and children are reported to make up the vast majority of IDPs – in certain places, over 80 percent. ²⁹ Niger is also host to roughly 260,000 refugees from Mali, Nigeria, and Burkina Faso. The ongoing situation has created a protection crisis that predominantly affects women and girls, as escalating violence and displacement have heightened the risk of GBV and harmful practices while disrupting access to basic services, especially education and healthcare.

The following sections present crosscutting analysis of gender equality considerations relevant to all USAID/Niger DOs. Based predominantly on secondary data and validated through interviews, the findings are organized by domain (identified in <u>USAID ADS 205</u> as required domains of gender analyses):

1) laws, policies, regulations, and institutional practices; 2) cultural norms and beliefs; 3) gender roles, responsibilities, and time use; 4) access to and control over assets and resources; and 5) patterns of power and decision making. Additionally, a sixth domain of analysis has been included: 6) GBV, as a key cross-cutting theme. Further detail on each domain is found in <u>Sections 3–6</u>.

2.2 LAWS, POLICIES, REGULATIONS, AND INSTITUTIONAL PRACTICES

Text Box I provides an overview of the legal framework relating to gender equality in Niger.

Text Box I. Niger's Legal Framework and Mechanisms for Gender Equality

- **Constitution.** The Constitution of the Republic of Niger includes a provision on equality before the law, without discrimination of sex, or social, racial, ethnic, or religious origin.³⁰
- International and Regional Agreements. Niger ratified the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) in 1999 and the Optional Protocol on violence against women in 2004. ³¹ However, substantive reservations remain representing implementing legislative action as contrary to "existing customs and practices," in effect maintaining customary law. ³² Niger has signed, but not ratified, the Protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on Women's Rights in Africa. ³³ In 1990, Niger ratified the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, and renewed its commitment to full implementation in 2019. ³⁴ Niger has not ratified the Maputo Protocol outlawing early marriage. ³⁵
- Women's Quotas. Niger has a legislated quota requiring 30 percent of appointed positions and 25 percent of elected positions in the National Assembly to be held by women. For more information, see below, Section 2.6 Patterns of Power and Decision-Making.³⁶
- National Gender Machinery (NGM). The Ministry for the Promotion of Women and Child Protection (Ministère de la Promotion de la Femme et de la Protection de l'Enfant, MPFPE) is charged with addressing gender equality ³⁷ The National Observatory for Gender Equality (Observatoire National pour la Promotion du Genre, ONPG) is charged with working with institutions for monitoring gender-related issues through the collection and analysis of gender data.

The Republic of Niger's Constitution provides for equality of sex regardless of social, religious, or ethnic origin, ³⁸ but some statutory laws and regulations render women and girls subordinate. For example, although the Labor Code prohibits gender discrimination, certain provisions limit women's employment in line with cultural norms. The different sources of law—statutory (modern), customary, and religious (Islamic Sharia law)—create legal uncertainty, with no established hierarchy among them. As more than 98 percent of Nigeriens are Muslim, ³⁹ Islamic religious law often, though not always, governs family life

(marriage, divorce, child custody). Men are considered heads of household under Niger's Civil Code.⁴⁰ Niger has no national Family Code, and under customary law, women who are divorced or widowed are not entitled to be head of household even if they have children. In instances of divorce, women are only granted custody of children younger than seven years old.⁴¹ Inheritance is governed largely by customary and Sharia (Islamic) law, with Sharia law often granting women more access to inheritance than customary law. More information on women's ability to inherit assets under Islamic law is discussed below in DO 2. Under customary law, women typically inherit much less than men, especially in regards to landed property.⁴² Polygamy is permitted under religious and customary law, with men able to take up to four wives.⁴³

There is no specific law criminalizing GBV in Niger, including CEFMU, and the country has not ratified the Maputo Protocol outlawing early marriage.⁴⁴ The Civil Code prohibits marriage before age 18 for boys and before 15 for girls, but customary and religious laws may be given precedence over the Civil Code, creating a loophole for marriage of girls under age 15.⁴⁵ Indeed, nearly one in three girls (28 percent) were married before the age of 15 in 2012.⁴⁶

Previous attempts to change Niger's laws related to marriage, divorce, and inheritance to improve women's rights have met with strong opposition, especially from conservative religious groups. In 1994 and 2011, efforts to reform marriage and divorce laws were opposed by Islamic associations, who denounced the proposed changes as being against Islam and (in a Muslim-majority country) against democracy.⁴⁷ In 2012, the GoN tried to increase support for a law that would have forced school principals to declare when child marriages have taken place, in an effort to encourage keeping girls in school.⁴⁸ However, parliamentarians ultimately did not vote on it after the proposed provision sparked a public outcry with opposition from religious leaders.⁴⁹ Issues related to sexual orientation and gender identity (SOGI) are extremely sensitive in Niger, politically, culturally, and religiously.

The GoN established the Ministry for the Promotion of Women and Child Protection/Ministère de la Promotion de la Femme et de la Protection de l'Enfant (MPFPE) in 1998, which is charged with addressing gender equality. There is no parliamentary committee responsible for gender equality. Niger adopted a National Gender Policy (PNG) in 2008, which was revised in 2017 with a five-year action plan (2018-2022). In 2015, the GoN created the National Observatory for Gender Equality/Observatoire National pour la Promotion du Genre (ONPG), charged with working with institutions specifically for monitoring gender-related issues through the collection and analysis of gender data.

Youth—defined within Niger's National Youth Policy as individuals of the "two sexes" between ages 15 and 35⁵²—are protected under the Constitution, specifically from exploitation and abandonment, and with an emphasis on the promotion of training and employment opportunities.⁵³ Niger has ratified all international conventions concerning child labor.⁵⁴ Though Article 106 of Niger's Labor Code sets the minimum age of work at 14, it is challenging to enforce this, due to the informal nature of the economy and especially in rural areas.⁵⁵ The Ministry of Youth and Sports/Ministère de la Jeunesse et des Sports (MJS) is the main governmental agency responsible for youth. The National Youth Council of Niger/Conseil National de la Jeunesse du Niger (CNJN) is an independent, non-partisan advisory body under the supervision of the MJS and undertakes diverse capacity-building projects with its members. The GoN adopted its first National Youth Policy/Politique Nationale de la Jeunesse (PNJ) in 2011 and recently validated a second strategy for 2022-2035.⁵⁶

2.3 CULTURAL NORMS AND BELIEFS

Despite the ethnic diversity of Niger, with differences in belief systems and practices, there are generally similar divisions of gender roles and power dynamics among men and women in households. Men's primary role is seen as economic providers. As the head of the household, the husband controls most assets.⁵⁷ Wives are expected to obey and submit to their husbands, as well as to cook, clean, fetch water and firewood, and raise children. Most rural married women, especially those who are young, face societal pressure that limits their mobility beyond their homes and the homes of their family and friends.⁵⁸ This societal pressure limits women and girls' mobility and restricts their ability to access educational opportunities, particularly after marriage. Though some Nigerien men may accept women's financial contributions, others may see their own status as "provider" threatened by an economically powerful wife.⁵⁹

A woman's greatest perceived asset in Nigerien communities is her fertility.⁶⁰ Both men and women report a strong desire for many children in Niger. These norms are discussed below in <u>cross-cutting findings</u>.

There are other internal inequities between household members in Niger. Once married, women in rural areas typically move in with the husband's family, where mothers-in-law have strong intra-familial power.⁶¹ Polygamy is common, complicating household power hierarchies. While certain polygamous families may provide extra household support to women through shared labor and assets, in other instances polygamy creates jealousy and conflict among family members. Wives occupy different hierarchical levels within the family, with first (older) wives having typically more power regarding control over household food sources or other assets.⁶²

2.4 GENDER ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND TIME USE

In Niger's mostly traditional patriarchal culture,⁶³ a man's role is to be the household leader and decision-maker, economic provider, and community participant.⁶⁴ The women's role is to bear and care for children and manage and maintain the household, including cooking, cleaning, and obtaining water, firewood, and other household supplies.⁶⁵ The gendered prioritization of marriage and domestic responsibilities for AGYW contributes to low educational attainment, especially in rural areas.⁶⁶

Ethnographic research from Maradi showed that 79 percent of husbands agreed that their only role in caregiving is to be the financial provider of their household, and 63 percent of husbands agreed that husbands should *not* participate in caregiving tasks such as bathing or feeding their child.⁶⁷ Women and girls have also internalized these roles. The Girma⁶⁸ activity's 2020 gender analysis (performed for the USAID Food for Peace (FFP) project in Zinder) found that "the internalization [by women and girls] that men should provide for their families' . . . needs [is] tied to women's and girls' submissive role."⁶⁹

Women in Niger on average work 14 to 18 hours a day (especially in rural areas) performing multiple competing priority tasks, including food processing, childcare, household maintenance, and engaging in farm labor and/or petty trade (often from the home).⁷⁰ Additionally, marriage obligations contribute to a dramatic increase in girls' workload,⁷¹ although unwed AGYW also experience a time burden as they help their mothers (and her co-wives) in their domestic chores and occasionally in market activities. In Maradi, the vast majority of husbands agreed that boys should have more free time than girls (88 percent),⁷² and this sentiment seems to be prevalent across regions in Niger.

2.5 ACCESS TO AND CONTROL OVER ASSETS AND RESOURCES

With Niger's strong population growth rate and resulting land fragmentation through inheritance, it is challenging to obtain a clear picture of women's land ownership. In 2012, in Tillabéri and Zinder, less than 18 percent of women owned land, compared to 47 percent of women (age 15-29) in Maradi.⁷³ These differences likely reflect differing culturally acceptable practices and differing applications of Islamic law that allows for female land inheritance, although typically half that granted to a male.

Inheritance issues are likely different among nomadic Fulani populations. The Tuaregs have a matrilineal tradition, and more information is needed to understand how their gender norms affect women's and men's inheritance as well as intra-household decision-making. 74 More information on inheritance is included in the Section on DO 2 Findings; women's inferior status in property disputes is described in DO 1 Findings.

When women have the opportunity to control income—typically generated from agriculture, trade, handicrafts, or domestic labor (discussed in Section on DO 2)—they generally use it for household consumption purposes as well for investments in food production, child's education, or healthcare. In some households, with basic needs assumed to be provided by husbands, women are able to dedicate some of their income to saving for their daughter's wedding, for the maintenance of social networks through gift exchanges and mutual support, and to reinvest in their own income-generating activity (IGA). To

There are few formal and informal banking services or savings mechanisms, with 89 percent of Nigerien women financially excluded, as are 86 percent of people living in rural areas. Most women lack the funds to begin a business. Women are more likely to face challenges in providing collateral (such as land) to gain access to loans. Financial institutions tend to grant loans to married women only with their husband's authorization. Some women receive start-up capital from their husbands or families, but many women, especially young women, do not have access to such resources. Women often seek to overcome this challenge through tontines, a local form of savings and loan groups (SLGs), though participation usually requires the husband's consent. (See Section on DO 2 Findings for more information on participation in SLGs.)

2.6 PATTERNS OF POWER AND DECISION-MAKING

In Niger, men hold decision-making power at all levels—from the household level, including on matters of reproduction, to all levels of political leadership. In Nigerien politics, women's participation is limited due to gender stereotypes, misconceptions about their leadership skills, women's workload burdens, and their lack of awareness of their right to participate in these roles.⁸¹ The GoN's PNG promotes women's political participation, and Niger has voluntary party quotas as well as legislated quotas for the single/lower house and at the sub-national level.⁸² A quota law has been in place since 2000; as of 2019, the quota for appointed positions became 30 percent and for elected positions 25 percent.⁸³ However, these quotas are often not respected, nor do they guarantee that women can participate equally once elected or appointed to cabinet positions (discussed in DO I Findings).⁸⁴ Nomadic groups, including the Fulani, are underrepresented in elected positions and indeed have difficulty registering to vote.⁸⁵

At the household level, men are the primary decision-makers, including decisions around housing, subsistence food, clothing, health costs, and school fees. 86 The most recent national scale data is through the DHS (2012), but there are more recent qualitative studies and small-scale quantitative studies that confirm the limited involvement of women in household decision-making. In the 2012 DHS, only 20

percent of women in Tillabéri, 16 percent of women in Maradi, and 21 percent of women in Zinder reported participating in decisions related to important household purchases.⁸⁷ Women seem to have more control over decisions related to the use of any money they earn (82, 92, and 83 percent of women in Tillabéri, Maradi, and Zinder, respectively).⁸⁸ Men also make decisions around their wives' healthcare, and only 12 percent of women reported to have the sole decision-making authority in regard to their own health.⁸⁹ Interestingly, the Girma gender analysis found that women in polygamous households in Zinder have slightly more decision-making authority than women in monogamous relationships. This is likely due to a lower degree of interaction with husbands in polygamous households.⁹⁰

Relatedly, in many contexts in Niger, women are required to ask permission to participate in any activities outside of the home, which limits their ability to participate fully in formal economic or educational activities. ⁹¹ Young women, however, are increasingly engaging in income-generating activities to support families. In a study of youth inclusion in the world of work in Niger, Da Corta Lucia et al. observed that "the need for income and participation in new livelihoods push young people into conflict with their elders and spouses, forcing rapid changes in gender and generational norms in a difficult context." As young women and girls are in more public-facing roles, household norms tend to shift, weakening rigid gender roles inside the family.

2.7 GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

Women and girls in the Central Sahel face one of the highest rates of GBV in the world, ⁹³ with survivors often accepting it as a normal way of life. Because GBV is culturally acceptable and taboo to discuss, it is difficult to quantify and address through development initiatives (as discussed further in the crosscutting findings). A 2021 study on GBV prevalence, commissioned by the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) and the European Union (EU)-funded Spotlight Initiative in collaboration with the MPFPE, estimates that 38.2 percent of women (and 16.3 percent of men) have experienced GBV in their lifetime. The regions with the highest reported levels of GBV include Dosso (18.5 percent), followed by Niamey (17.8 percent), Maradi (15.6 percent), Zinder (14.6 percent) and Tillabéri (14.3 percent). Despite the chronic conflict related to Boko Haram, reports of GBV are lowest in Diffa, at 5.6 percent. ⁹⁴ It is challenging to assess the prevalence of different forms of GBV because it is chronically under-reported, due to a lack of knowledge and access to support services as well as social repercussions and general cultural normalization.

Although CEFMU is considered to be a type of GBV according to international standards, this designation, as well as the age when a girl can make her own decisions about marriage, is a contentious and sensitive matter in Niger. Demographic Household Survey (DHS) data from 2012 estimated that nationally 76 percent of Nigerien girls marry before the age of 18 (compared to 6 percent of boys), and 28 percent of girls are married before the age of 15 (the age minimum defined by Niger's Civil Code). 95 Overall, the median age for first marriage and for childbearing is 15.7 years and 18 years, respectively, for Nigerien women—the youngest in the region. 6 CEFMU is more common in rural areas than urban areas of Niger. 7 In some rural areas, there are reports that families enter into agreements where girls aged 10–12 join their future husband's family under the guardianship of the mother-in-law. 8 In Niger, CEFMU is more prevalent among the Hausa ethnic group (the majority ethnic group in Niger, at 53 percent). 99 Higher rates of polygamy are also linked with a higher proportion of CEFMU. 100 More recent qualitative research indicates that CEFMU remains common, 101 although additional quantitative data is needed to assess the impact of efforts to reduce CEFMU. 102

3. CROSS-CUTTING FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 CROSS-CUTTING FINDINGS

Misconceptions about the meaning and intention behind gender equality initiatives contribute to local resistance that reduces the impact of programming. From local community to national government levels, primary research demonstrated that the concepts of "gender equality" and "women's empowerment" are conflated with "just adding women." Stakeholders view gender considerations as requiring simply increasing the percentage of female participants, not holistically addressing gender gaps and power imbalances across key domains. Furthermore, gender equity approaches are perceived to promote women's rights and opportunities at the expense of men in a zero-sum situation that threatens to reduce men's power and destroy traditional societal and religious structures.

Interviewees stressed the importance of engaging husbands and traditional and religious leaders, who act as the "gatekeepers" to Nigerien women; they stated that programs that only engage women can be perceived as deliberately excluding men. For example, interviewees noted that directly providing women with emergency cash transfers or distributions of materials for IGAs can produce backlash, resulting in the seizure of the cash/materials or even in GBV, including intimate partner violence (IPV).

Multiple stakeholders noted that the inclusion of women in decision-making structures or in the economy is viewed negatively, especially in rural areas. Spindler et al. confirmed these findings, noting that almost all husbands (91 percent) agreed that giving more rights to women meant that men could lose out. ¹⁰³ Rarely are "gender equality" and "women's empowerment" understood as beneficial and relevant to all members of the community, regardless of gender.

Gender programming is also viewed primarily as a Western priority that attempts to change local culture or to create a revolution among women. One human rights and governance-focused IP explained that working through local partners is critical because otherwise, "we get accused of making the women revolt." One stakeholders shared a frustration that donor-funded gender-equality efforts are not always aligned with cultural and religious structures, reminiscent of the colonial history in Niger when externally imposed institutions and beliefs were viewed as counter to local traditions and knowledge. Some interviewed representatives from international organizations and IPs noted that resistance to gender programming contributes to limited change on gender issues.

Discussions with a variety of stakeholders demonstrated that program gender strategies often focus only on the number of women participants, without addressing or acknowledging the gender barriers related to the project objectives. This misunderstanding is evident also within the local government and CSOs, and even with INGO local staff who do not have a clear understanding of what "gender integration" means.

The concept of "social inclusion," similarly, is often reduced to working specifically with persons with physical disabilities. ¹⁰⁶ When youth are targeted as a marginalized group, programs often do not differentiate between young men and young women; thus, youth programs are inadvertently genderblind, designed and implemented narrowly around the realities of young men.

Despite the inclusion of gender- and rights-focused approaches in a number of USAID-funded programs, there are very few projects that include gender-equality or rights-

focused objectives for women or girls. Although Niger is cited frequently as one of the worst places in the world to be a woman, funding to specifically advance the rights and status of women and girls is not commensurate. Across all sectors, IPs focus narrowly on removing barriers to women's participation in project activities. In some sectors, the focus on women's participation includes a broader gender-sensitive approach, such as in SRH programming that also addresses harmful gender norms such as inequitable decision-making, limited mobility, and stereotypes. However, outside of a few sectors, the emphasis on increasing women's participation is rarely accompanied by a gender-sensitive approach.

USAID FFP programs include strict donor requirements for gender equality and inclusion. IPs are required to integrate gender and inclusion into activity objectives, which has promoted gender transformative approaches (GTAs); see Text Box 2.107 However, this is not done systematically across USAID programming. The USAID, IP, and GoN stakeholders interviewed indicate that agriculture-focused programming in particular needs a more deliberate focus on gender and inclusion. Unfortunately, a majority of these programs are either gender-blind or define a gender strategy as merely increasing the percentage of women participating in project activities.

Text Box 2. Gender-Transformative Approaches

Gender transformative approaches (GTA) create opportunities for individuals to actively challenge gender norms, promote positions of social and political influence for women and girls in communities, and address power inequities between persons of different genders. In sum, GTAs seek to transform harmful or inequitable gender relations to promote gender equality and to achieve program objectives. Transformative approaches can be applied to change unequal gender dynamics and power relations across different levels—households, communities, systems, institutions, and policies.

Gender-transformative approaches work. Evidence shows that programs and trainings that include a gender and power perspective are substantially more effective, especially in tackling difficult issues such as GBV.

Women in Niger, especially young women in rural areas, are marginalized socially, politically, and economically. This marginalization is frequently justified through religion and tradition, and manifests in limitations on women's physical mobility, norms requiring women to ask for permission to participate in any activity outside of the home, and excessive time burden related to household work. 108 Women's marginalization persists across regions and ethnicities and, to some extent, socio-economic groups, although wealthy, educated women are more likely to participate in formal employment. 109 Societal attitudes and values place men as economic providers and decision makers and women in supporting roles as domestic caregivers. 110 The belief that women are less capable to participate in economic and political activities outside the household, and that these activities would take away from their domestic responsibilities, reduces opportunities for women to establish themselves in respected positions outside the home.¹¹¹ To engage women in programming, strategies must overcome women's (1) reduced mobility outside the home, (2) unpaid care burden, and (3) internalization of patriarchal norms. These barriers are generally greater for women in rural areas and younger women. Women in rural areas have less exposure to education, economic opportunities, and women leaders as role models. For both men and women, age can bring greater authority and decision-making power.

Reduced mobility outside the home. Women must ask permission of their husbands (or other male figure, if unmarried, such as father or elder brother) to participate in training, attend community events, or engage in economic activities outside the home. Certain ethnic groups in Niger such as the Arabs

practice wife seclusion, forbidding wives from leaving the house—though prevalence data is unavailable on the practice. ¹¹² As discussed in a cross-cutting finding below, mobility is most controlled for women in slavery systems. Stakeholders noted that, even if they know that women are present within the household, it is impossible to include them in project activities or to even discuss their potential participation. ¹¹³

Unpaid Care Burden. When women do engage in activities outside the home, it is expected that those activities will not interfere with their household responsibilities. As described in Section 2.4, Gender Roles, Responsibilities, and Time Use, women on average work 14 to 18 hours a day, divided among multiple competing priorities including food processing, childcare, household maintenance, and engaging in farm labor and/or petty trade (often from the home). 114 Social attitudes prohibit husbands from engaging in or contributing to these tasks, and women's unpaid care burden limits their availability even for short-term skill-building activities. Women who are professionally successful are expected to prioritize their husbands and children. Educated women with careers are perceived to have a difficult time finding and keeping a husband. 115

Internalization of Patriarchal Norms. Women are perceived as dependents who are unable or unsuited to meaningfully contribute outside of their reproductive and domestic responsibilities. Male family members are expected to influence women to conform to expected behavior, and women also internalize and maintain this system. ¹¹⁶ To explain why women do not seek leadership opportunities, some stakeholders interviewed said that women were simply not interested, while others cited a lack of self-confidence or an internalized belief that women should not hold such roles. One stakeholder noted, "Women are the silent majority who are scared of changing society—if you complain you will be targeted by the community and the religious leaders." ¹¹⁷ The inferior status of women is reinforced by the belief that questioning the system or seeking change will result in social ostracization.

Fear of women's sexuality and beliefs around the importance of female purity greatly impede women's and girls' ability to engage in the public space and the economy or to access educational opportunities and other essential services. Societal beliefs around sexuality are used to control the behavior of women and girls; allowing women and girls to be in public spaces, where there may be men who are not family members, is seen as a risk to their sexual purity, their marriage value, and the family's honor. This risk is tied to beliefs that men cannot control their sexual impulses and behavior, and also to a fear that women, if given more autonomy, cannot control their sexuality. Attitudes around women's sexual purity and men's sexual desires are documented in in several studies. Perlman et al. (2019) found that 87 percent of young husbands (aged 15 to 24) and 85 percent of older husbands (aged 25 or older) believe a woman who has sex before marrying does not deserve respect; 66 percent of young husbands and 61 percent of older husbands believe that a woman, including their own wives, should not initiate sex. Seventy-six percent of young husbands and 73 percent of older husbands agreed that men need sex more than women.

Beliefs around sexuality influence women's participation in programs across all sectors. One study found that Nigerien men fear that, if they migrate for work and their wives use FP methods, their wives will be inclined to engage in extra-marital sex because they do not have to fear pregnancy.¹¹⁹ Some men do not allow their wives to attend training outside of the village because of concerns that she will be "seduced" and thus "spoiled" (as a marriage prospect). Women who leave home, for example to engage in economic or political activities, may be labeled as prostitutes by both men and women.¹²⁰

The role of both men and women in enforcing behaviors to safeguard purity points to the importance of engaging specifically with religious leaders, community influencers, and husbands and parents, to promote gender-equitable masculinities. Programming should engage reference groups to shift social norms to decrease fear of women's sexuality, increase school attendance, support participation in income-generating activities, and expand control over FP choices.

Young, unmarried, and childless women, regardless of background, have less social status and power than women who are married and have children. This section examines three profiles of AGYW in terms of control over their time and mobility and their access to health, education, and social services: (I) unmarried adolescent girls; (2) newly married AGYW; and (3) AGYW who work as domestic labor for other households. It is important to note that AGYW, specifically those who are out-of-school and/or newly married, are often overlooked by development programs, which typically target girls in school or pregnant and breastfeeding women. Moreover, recent research indicates that AGYW are more at risk for GBV. The 2021 GBV report commissioned by UNFPA found that women aged 20–24 were the group the most impacted by GBV in the last 12 months (followed by women aged 10–14 and 25–29). Adolescent girls in particular (aged 10–14) experienced high levels of physical aggression (21.8 percent).¹²¹

Unmarried adolescent girls. Girls who have gone through puberty but have not yet had children are perceived as not yet adding value to the community. Instead, in their position between "girl" and "mother," they are viewed as posing a threat to the honor of the family, as described in the finding above. In insecure areas, girls' mobility is particularly restricted. 122 The increasing conflict in Tillabéri and Diffa has spiked family fears of their daughters being "spoiled" (gatée, a French word frequently used to describe female survivors of GBV) if they venture beyond the household. 123 The conflict has also closed schools, one of the few sometimes permissible reasons for girls to leave the house. As a driver of CEFMU, traditional ideas of social capital and family honor deem it safer for daughters to marry rather than either continue their education or work outside the home. In fact, one stakeholder noted that a 14-year-old girl might beg her family to get married, as she understands that this is the main way to acquire social status. 124

Newly married AGYW. Young women who are either unmarried or newly married but without children have low social status, especially in rural areas. ¹²⁵ When a young woman is married, she may have little power within the dynamics of a polygamous household where older wives often dictate chores to younger wives. Mobility during the first year of marriage is more restricted for AGYW than during any other period in their lives. ¹²⁶ During this period, they are isolated from their previous social circles, are expected to serve their mothers-in-law and older co-wives, and are at the bottom of the household hierarchy. Once they start to bear children, or if and when a husband takes an additional (likely younger) wife, these relationships and power dynamics evolve.

AGYW who work as domestic labor for other households. Some wealthier families employ young girls under age 18 to provide domestic labor in their household in exchange for food, clothing, shelter, and potentially education. Stakeholders noted that families may "sell" their daughters as domestic laborers, as it is also viewed as a mutually beneficial relationship: the impoverished family has one less mouth to feed, and the wealthier family benefits from inexpensive labor in exchange for providing a certain level of care for the girl. However, stakeholders also note that the girls have little say in these transactions; they may not be free to leave or be given enough to eat, and may potentially be exposed to GBV or be

engaged in the wahaya practice (discussed below). 128 Stakeholders indicated that the situation can become exploitative enough to amount to a potential form of indentured servitude.

Stakeholders reported an increase in young girls migrating to regional city centers and working on the street, where there is also a noted increase in sexual harassment and transactional sex. This observation referred to Tahoua and Dosso in particular, where researchers were able to speak directly with "street girls" who do not have families able to support them. The girls can be very young (ages 10-15) and may sometimes engage in harmful survival strategies, including sex work and transactional sex. They are particularly vulnerable to GBV and cannot return to their families or communities because they have lost one of their most valued assets—their sexual purity.

Primary research conducted by Nigerien doctoral students found that young women between the ages of 12 and 23 sometimes receive approval from their families to migrate to urban areas to seek work, in order to send money back home. 129 These may be young women who wish to stay in school, but whose families cannot afford to pay for school fees, uniforms, or supplies. By migrating to urban areas to work during the summer months, they are able to cover these costs. 130 Money earned may also be given to their parents, occasionally to hire farm labor that these young women would have otherwise provided, or it might be set aside to make up their marriage dowry. 131

Secondary data indicate that sexual harassment and transactional sex may be increasingly common for AGYW in Niger. "Hawking," the informal sale of goods in markets or public spaces, may be one contributing factor, as it is a reportedly common activity for girls who are expected to help their mothers, aunts, or other female relatives sell food or goods in the market. 132 In addition to its adverse effects on school performance and retention, hawking makes girls vulnerable to exploitation by men they encounter. 133 Girls and their parents say that sexual harassment is "all too often part and parcel of hawking." 134 Another reason is the ongoing insecurity situation in Niger, which compounds the already limited access to livelihoods. AGYW may deploy negative coping mechanisms for survival, including being married off by their families or engaging in transactional sex. 135 Sexual exploitation is also reportedly commonplace especially among IDPs, including by the security forces and authorities, often involving transactional sex in exchange for access to food and non-food items. 136 Adolescent girls from Lake Chad Basin said they were frequently forced into sexual relationships with men to survive. 137 Family separation increases the likelihood of other forms violence, including abuse and mistreatment at home. 138 More information is needed to understand the complex factors affecting the migration of young women in Niger.

The ongoing conflict in Tillabéri and Diffa is shifting gender norms, particularly around women's economic role, which—coupled with climate change and conflict—has precipitated female migration. While it is well-documented that Nigerien men (especially young men) engage in migration, both primary and secondary research demonstrates that women are increasingly migrating as well, whether for economic or security reasons. Stakeholders noted that men are not always capable of providing for their family due to less arable land, low agricultural returns, or reduced land access due to conflict. Men who migrate to seek employment may not succeed in making enough to support their families, or they might depart to join in the conflict. Due to economic hardship, Nigerien women are increasingly obliged to undertake new livelihood strategies to feed their families. ¹³⁹ After men migrate, women may also need to migrate to find paid (primarily domestic) work. Typically, women do not migrate far for work, traveling as little as 10-15 km, and they bring their young children. ¹⁴⁰

Women may also migrate for security reasons, becoming displaced when they flee the conflict. Female IDPs may go to live with a relative in a safer part of the country or may travel to encampments near urban areas where they might find work.¹⁴¹ Female IDPs, and especially adolescent girls, who travel with their husbands or move in with relatives may find their economic opportunities further curtailed, given restrictions on their mobility coupled with the insecurity of living outside of their communities.

The hardships men face in providing for their families and resulting migration patterns have resulted in evolving gender roles. One stakeholder noted that in Diffa, women can be seen working in the fields, which was not common before. As households are struggling economically, women are called upon to earn money for the household.

The ongoing conflict in Niger has worsened the situation of marginalized groups in regard to economic opportunities and access to services such as education, especially for young women, nomadic groups, young men and women, and persons with disabilities. One stakeholder noted that "the IDP crisis is worsening the already critical situation of women. They are the biggest victims of this displacement." Multiple stakeholders explained that women and youth are disproportionately affected by conflict but are not represented in the peace-building processes. Displacement disrupts the established social fabric, eliminates traditional income-generating activities, and reduces access to social services. These challenges are faced not only by refugees and IDPs but also by host communities. In that regard, multiple IPs mentioned the importance, when working with displaced communities, of considering the needs of the host communities as well, which may in turn affect protection risks for IDPs.

Access to education is one of the key services affected by the conflict in Niger, as the presence of VEOs makes the journey to school more dangerous for students—especially for girls. ¹⁴³ Both boys and girls are affected, but families may keep girls at home at higher rates for fear they will be sexually assaulted. Research conducted by the Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack (GCPEA) finds that in the Central Sahel, "attacks on education, including sexual violence, often have differentiated impacts on women and girls, including forced marriage, forced pregnancy due to rape and premature pregnancy, and stigma which reduces the likelihood of girls returning to school after an attack." ¹⁴⁴ GCPEA also found that, while attacks on schools decreased during the COVID-19 pandemic because many schools were closed, as schools began to reopen, the attacks resumed. ¹⁴⁵

Women also report that insecurity makes it more difficult and dangerous to access healthcare, especially if they need to travel long distances or along insecure routes. ¹⁴⁶ While this insecurity also affects men's access to care, women are particularly vulnerable because of potential exposure to GBV enroute, because they need to access health services for maternal health (specifically pre- and ante-natal services), and because they are normally responsible for their children's health care needs. ¹⁴⁷ Similarly, hospital closures in regions with already inadequate access to healthcare, attacks on and intimidation of healthcare providers, and insecure routes to hospitals are factors that disproportionately affect women. ¹⁴⁸

In terms of marginalization of certain ethnic groups, multiple interviewees noted that the Fulani are perceived to be particularly likely to join VEOs and that many people believe that VEOs are primarily made up of Fulani. 149 This creates a vicious cycle in which Fulani are suspected and targeted by security forces, creating a stronger likelihood that they become disillusioned with the state and move towards the VEOs. Some scholars trace the rise of the Islamic State in Greater Sahara to inter-ethnic conflict

between the Fulani and Tuaregs, blaming the increase in violent extremism on ethnic tensions. However, it is likely that these ethnic tensions, both among herders (who, in Niger, are predominantly Fulani and Tuareg) and between herders and farmers, are exacerbated by competition over natural resources, a widespread phenomenon across the Sahel. 150 VEOs take advantage of resource scarcity and ethnic tensions to add to their recruits, telling each ethnic group that they will support them against the other, especially when the group is under-represented or the GoN is slow to respond to their complaints. 151

Domestic and intimate partner violence (IPV) is a hidden phenomenon that is widely accepted as normal by both men and women in Niger. The COVID-19 pandemic, as well as ongoing conflict in Diffa and Tillabéri, has exacerbated risks of GBV. GBV within families is "hidden" because it is not spoken about or denounced. As explained by one stakeholder, "It is taboo to talk about when a husband beats his wife, does not give her food, or mistreats her, because it is considered shameful to denounce one's husband, the father of one's children." 152 Survey results show that one in four men and six in 10 women in Niger believe it is justifiable in at least one situation for a husband to beat his wife.¹⁵³ Ethnographic research from Maradi in 2019 found similar levels of acceptance among married adolescent girls and their husbands: 54 percent of adolescent wives and 57 percent of husbands felt that people in their village think there are times when a woman deserves to be beaten. 154 Over three-quarters of the same set of respondents agreed that if a woman refuses to have sex with her husband, he has the right to get angry and reprimand her. 155 Over half of adolescent wives also justified the use of physical violence if she uses a method of contraception without her husband's permission, compared to 30 percent of husbands. 156 Men also mentioned sexual satisfaction and coercion in the qualitative study as both a "marital expectation and an obligation." ¹⁵⁷ In fact, it is widely believed that men have the right to have sex with their spouse whenever they desire and by force if necessary. Marital rape is not explicitly criminalized under law. 158

A review of secondary data indicates that conflict, militarization, and insecurity in Tillabéri and Diffa have exacerbated pre-existing risks of multiple forms of GBV—including IPV, sexual exploitation, and CEFMU; the primary research has confirmed these findings. ¹⁵⁹ The COVID-19 pandemic has also contributed to increased rates of GBV. ¹⁶⁰ Although country-level evidence remains limited, a regional study conducted in six Sahelian countries showed that domestic violence, whether physical or verbal, increased from 40.6 percent before the COVID-19 crisis to 52.2 percent during the pandemic crisis. ¹⁶¹ In addition, there is reporting that CEFMU, sexual exploitation and abuse, and human trafficking are on the rise due to the pandemic. ¹⁶²

Community leaders and GoN stakeholders frequently mentioned CEFMU as a key issue in their communities in relation to girls' education. Stakeholders at multiple levels shared concerns about CEFMU because girls drop out of school to be married; they consider staying in school as a way to delay marriage. The link between education and the prevalence of CEFMU is particularly evident in Niger: According to the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 81 percent of women aged 20–24 with no education, and 63 percent with only primary education, were married or in union at age 18, compared to only 17 percent of women with secondary education or higher. 163

Many of the interviewed GoN officials were aware that the transition between primary school and secondary school is a particularly critical window when girls tend to drop out to get married, especially in rural areas. The rate of girls transitioning to secondary school is extremely low in rural as compared to urban areas. Twenty-five percent of girls who passed their primary school exams in Niamey did not go on to secondary school, and 43 percent of girls who passed their exams in Dosso did not go on to

secondary school.¹⁶⁴ However, although interviewed GoN officials acknowledged that CEFMU and education are inextricably linked, CEFMU was rarely framed as a form of GBV or as a human rights issue.

Stakeholders reported that when Niger renewed its commitment to the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, which specifies a minimum marriage age of 18 for both men and women, this change was supposed to be ratified into law in 2017 through a vote by the National Assembly. However, the proposed change to raise the marriage age from 15 to 18 for girls was viewed as culturally unacceptable, and traditional leaders successfully pressured to prevent the vote from happening.

Given that in Niger, nearly one in three girls (28 percent) are married before the age of 15—which is the legal marriage age for girls, according to Niger's Civil Code—more work is needed. Moreover, some stakeholders suspect that CEFMU might actually be on the rise in rural areas. This could be for a variety of reasons, including poverty, food insecurity (worsened by climate change), conflict, and the increased reach of radical Islam. More information is needed to understand whether this is the case and, if so, what are the contributing factors. Meanwhile, traditional leaders communicate that school is the primary vehicle to delay marriage, and that teachers play an important role in both encouraging girls to stay in school and convincing their parents of the value of girls' education. This work is vital, given that CEFMU places them at greater risk for IPV and reproductive coercion (RC). 166

Both men and women place a high value on very large families, and many men prefer multiple and young wives to maximize opportunities for having children. Paying bride price ¹⁶⁷ is customary in most of Niger, and young men often migrate abroad to earn money for marriage. As noted, the social standing of both men and women in Niger is tied up in their fertility; both men and women report a strong desire for many children. The 2012 DHS shows that the desired number of children is 9 for Nigerien women and 11 children for men. Ethnographic research in Maradi similarly found that adolescent wives desire approximately 8 children, and their husbands desire 9.¹⁶⁸ Spindler et al. found that most husbands in Maradi perceived strong social norms around the importance of having children for status: about 69 percent of young husbands (aged 15-24) and 65 percent of older husbands (aged 25 and older) agreed that people in their village would perceive them as more powerful if they have more children. ¹⁶⁹ Masquelier suggests that women who want to limit the number of children anger men, "not only because women 'are sneaking behind their backs' to purchase contraceptives but also because by limiting the number of offspring they produce, women are striking at the heart of their identity [as a provider]."¹⁷⁰

There are strong social expectations that wives become pregnant within their first year of marriage. ¹⁷¹ One regional (Maradi) study found that Nigerien AGYW perceived unmarried adolescent girls (age 15-18) as "old maids." ¹⁷² Many view procreation as the primary object of marriage, and they believe that a girl should marry at the age when she is "most fertile" to make the most of her reproductive period. ¹⁷³

For men to generate as many children as possible, polygamy is a preferable option, and selecting young wives allows greater opportunities for childbearing. In Niger, men must pay a bride price to the family of the woman he wishes to marry, and younger brides attract higher downies. ¹⁷⁴ Given the limited incomegenerating activities in rural areas, coupled with climate-change and insecurity reducing agricultural productivity, young men (aged 35 and below) often migrate to earn money, either abroad or to urban centers of Niger.

Most GBV survivors who have the courage and support to bring a formal complaint of GBV to relevant authorities are forced to withdraw it, often to have the issue "resolved" informally between families. More generally, it is too costly, both financially and socially, for survivors of GBV (especially sexual violence) to seek justice. GBV is dramatically underreported in Niger, not just because of its normalization but also because of the shame and monetary costs associated with pursuing justice, whether through customary or formal justice channels. While women have the right to seek redress for violence in either customary or formal courts, few do so due to their lack of knowledge about the law and fear of repercussions: spousal or familial repudiation, further violence, or stigmatization. The Women who bring a case for resolution, especially against their husband, are subject to discrimination and ostracization. One stakeholder discussed the discrimination women faced in customary tribunals: "It is very difficult for women to go in front of a tribunal because of the prejudices they would encounter—for example, if a woman is raped and she goes before a tribunal, they will ask her what she did to deserve it or attract it." This stigma leads many survivors to keep silent about their experiences.

Women in rural areas who seek justice usually first go to local traditional leaders, usually the *chef de quartier* (neighborhood chief) who will typically seek "reconciliation" between the perpetrator and the victim. These chiefs have little understanding of GBV, its manifestations, or survivors' rights under the law. As one stakeholder put it, "mediation for GBV can make it worse, especially if they do the customary mediation—customary is about reconciliation and not about justice." Other stakeholders hold more optimistic views of traditional leaders: "Women find themselves between a rock and a hard place with GBV and any other conflicts; traditional leaders don't give them many opportunities to be right. Now, the chance we have is that the traditional chiefs we have now are of very high quality. They are educated—they are starting to manage things in a different way. If they make a decision that favors the woman, they explain it to the community so they understand why the woman would win." This indicates there are opportunities to work with these leaders to promote human-rights-based and survivor-centered approaches to GBV conflict resolution.

During customary hearings, any monetary fine extracted from the perpetrator first goes to pay the fees of the local leaders and other justice actors. The remainder is given to the victim's family. There is a widespread perception that cases are not kept confidential; the risk of the community learning that a woman's sexual value was violated results in women and their families keeping quiet rather than pursuing justice.

Very few survivors of GBV seek justice through either customary or formal justice mechanisms. One report from 2021 found that only 0.5 percent of survivors of GBV sought formal justice. ¹⁸¹ If a woman chooses to seek justice in a modern court, it may be to avoid the stigma and potential social ostracism that might result in pursuing justice in a customary court—or she might not favor the reconciliation approach adopted by customary courts. ¹⁸² However, modern courts are often only found in urban areas, and they require money to pay for transportation and lawyers that few women have. Other barriers include a general distrust of judicial systems and the slowness of judicial proceedings. ¹⁸³ While certain non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and local CSOs seek to cover those costs, there are not permanent programs and women often are unaware of these initiatives.

In sum, to avoid having the community learn about their victimization, and deterred by the financial costs of seeking justice in a distant (urban) modern court, most women who have experienced GBV do not report it. The economic and social costs outweigh the potential benefits of pursuing justice.

Although GBV is a chronic and escalating issue in Niger, prevention and response programming is rarely prioritized or funded by donors, amounting to less than I percent of development funding and I.2 percent of humanitarian funding. ¹⁸⁴ Donor and GoN efforts to address GBV are disjointed and require consolidation and coordination. The GBV Sub-Cluster—a working group on GBV comprising representatives from government, donor, and international organizations to coordinate their work, including data collection—meets at the national level, but inconsistently. In 2020, only six organizations in Niger received funding to address GBV in the humanitarian setting. ¹⁸⁵ Total funding for GBV in humanitarian response was just over \$1 million USD, whereas OCHA estimated the cluster requirements for 2020 at nearly \$6 million USD. ¹⁸⁶

Besides limited integration and coordination, there is a lack of specific programming for GBV prevention and response. When asked if their programs contain integrated GBV prevention activities, the majority of stakeholders answered with a resounding "no." For the few programs that seek to prevent GBV, primary research showed that those efforts are often limited to sensitization or awareness-raising. ¹⁸⁷ The potential shortcomings of sensitization-focused approaches are apparent across sectors, especially regarding their ability to overcome harmful gender norms, promote gender-equitable masculinities, and result in behavior change. Certain partners mentioned integrating GBV prevention in their approaches, often through modified Husbands Schools methodologies; however, more study is needed to evaluate their GBV-related outcomes. ¹⁸⁸

A few INGOs and CSOs provide piecemeal support to GBV survivors, such as by providing health services, psychosocial support, legal services, or economic support (either through grants or training on income-generating activities—see DO 3 for more information). ¹⁸⁹ However, these programs are not nationwide, and they face funding limitations that threaten their continuing operation and expansion.

IPs, CSOs, private sector representatives, and government employees cited a lack of literacy and numeracy skills as a primary reason for women's low participation in leadership roles across sectors. Education was consistently mentioned as a primary reason that very few women/girls are active in leadership roles and in community decision-making structures. Increasing the number of women participants or establishing representational quotas does not solve this problem, as there are few women with the minimum skills required for these positions. One example, cited multiple times, was a Ministry of Public Health (MoH) initiative to identify one male and one female health focal point in each village to provide basic prevention, treatment, and referrals to community members. The MoH and IPs both noted that it was difficult to find women who were literate—able to keep accurate inventory records and write simple reports. Moreover, particularly in rural areas, it is extremely difficult to find literate women who have enough time to participate (e.g., older women with older children). As discussed below, programs and community structures end up drawing on the same few women who are literate, well-connected, and available to participate.

Current programming does not always account for or collect disaggregated data on polygamous households, despite nearly one-third of Nigerien households being polygamous. ¹⁹¹ There is a knowledge gap in how to work with polygamous households to support more equitable household power dynamics, not only between husband and wife but also among co-wives. Only one IP discussed the importance of working specifically with households, including those with polygamous unions, through their Harmonious Families methodology. ¹⁹² The methodology focuses on building practical skills for household budgeting and inclusive household decision-making by striving to give equal voice to all household members. ¹⁹³

However, they also noted the sensitive nature of this work in the community and emphasized the importance of working with all members of the household, including all wives and also mothers-in-law—especially in economic empowerment projects, because the household power dynamics are complex, and working with one member instead of another might do more harm than good. ¹⁹⁴ The limited number of approaches for working with polygamous households indicates a need for more, and better, GTAs within this unique context.

Many programs report working with community influencers (such as husbands, traditional leaders, and mothers-in-law) to promote gender-equitable objectives around women's participation and leadership in community structures and the economy. However, despite anecdotal reports suggesting the effectiveness of these approaches, more evidence is needed to understand their impact on women's empowerment, decision-making power, and GBV. Multiple IPs noted that it is challenging to work directly with women without the buy-in of community influencers, who are often the women's "gatekeepers," and without this buy-in, working directly with women can in fact exacerbate IPV. This is one reason why Husband Schools have become increasingly popular. Adapted for use across different sectors, they demonstrate some of the rare results in improving women's mobility and participation. 195 However, there is rigorous data only to demonstrate the impact of working with husbands to increase women's access to SRH, not for other outcomes, and no data on the impact of working with couples or polygamous households in Niger. Although IPs have anecdotal evidence and project reports indicating that their approaches have had positive impacts for women, independent evaluation would be valuable for establishing evidence-based models that can be expanded and replicated.

In addition to working with husbands, USAID IPs noted the importance of working with mothers-in-law and/or grandmothers to promote girls' education and to prevent (and indeed refrain from) GBV. This approach was only mentioned by select partners and requires further study.

Traditional and religious leaders have a significant impact on the success or failure of inclusive development initiatives globally, especially in culturally-sensitive areas such as gender equality (GE). In the Nigerien context, the power of traditional leaders and institutions frequently trumps formal institutions and political authorities. Multiple stakeholders stressed the importance of working with traditional and religious leaders, who can either significantly help or hinder gender equality-related program impacts. The willingness of traditional leaders to work on gender equality issues varies with the individual. There are anecdotal examples of high-level influential traditional leaders who are ready and willing to work with INGOs and CSOs on GE programming, including by convening lower-level traditional leaders for training and sensitization activities and by empowering the female member of the Sultanate (the tambara) to assist women in the region. 196

Traditional leaders also have significant influence over the actions of the government, including on its willingness to pass laws promoting human rights and facilitating access to social services for women and marginalized groups. As discussed above, traditional leaders hindered GE programming by mobilizing to block the National Assembly's vote on the marriage age. Furthermore, certain stakeholders noted that traditional leaders are the primary reason why the GoN is unwilling to acknowledge and act on the slavery and caste systems (further discussed below). People in government positions are typically descendants or relatives of traditional leaders; giving these traditional leaders significant lobbying authority. One stakeholder summed up: "Moving the needle requires working with traditional leaders.

The state is aware of [gender and social inclusion] issues, but they are beholden to the traditional leaders." ¹⁹⁷ Multiple stakeholders noted that the GoN is caught between a rock and a hard place: they must forever balance the demands of traditional leaders, who have authority over the local population, and the demands of the international community, who provide funding for development and humanitarian programs.

Recruitment of project participants and beneficiaries is often conducted in collaboration with local leaders of sedentary populations, or through a household census. 198 These recruitment practices overlook nomadic and marginalized groups. Although partnering with local leaders or heads of household secures a level of buy-in for programs, this recruitment method reproduces existing exclusion and marginalization within communities. Some programs have put in place complaint mechanisms for recruitment, but vulnerable community members may not be able to access them, or may risk further marginalization if they question the decisions of the local leaders or heads of household. 199 Most stakeholders believe that their existing targeting strategies are sufficient: "no one is excluded" was a frequent response. However, they do not necessarily conduct context-specific vulnerability or gendersensitive assessments to identify the most vulnerable and/or marginalized. Due to limited understanding of social inclusion concepts, inclusion strategies often focus only on youth (mainly young men) and on persons with disabilities (mainly those with physical disabilities). IPs often rely on local leaders to determine who within the community is most vulnerable, or they ask members of households to selfselect into programs. Without carrying out a vulnerability assessment that also examines household mobility and time use, self-selection will exclude those who have the least mobility or time (such as young wives). IPs noted that they are aware of completely secluded wives and indentured girls who provide domestic labor to households, but they do not know how to reach them, or they are told "there are no women here." Finally, when partners target participants based on officially designated geographic locations, nomadic populations living in encampments beyond the village borders are often excluded (as discussed below).

Nomadic groups are rarely included in development or humanitarian-focused programs. Relatedly, they are frequently overlooked when discussing marginalized groups; both IPs and GoN lack strategies for how to best work with these groups. Nomadic persons may be included in programs if they happen to be present at the time of its inception, but there are no strategies to follow their movements to ensure continuity in accessing programs or social services. Only a handful of INGOs and local CSOs are working with or have worked with nomadic groups, and no long-term sustained programs or models could be identified. One INGO representative mentioned an education project that targeted nomadic youth utilizing a boarding school model, but the project was discontinued after several years despite some success.²⁰⁰

Traditional representatives from the Fulani noted that Fulani leaders have power over their people that is independent of control over physical assets, unlike traditional leaders of sedentary populations, who have authority through land. Fulani adults pay annual taxes to the chief of their tribal group, much as sedentary adults pay annual taxes to the chief of their village.²⁰¹ Because of these parallel governance structures for the nomadic and sedentary populations, there may be reluctance on the part of the local sedentary leaders to provide services to the Fulani.²⁰²

Nomadic groups are stereotyped as participating in VEOs. Some Fulani may be more likely to participate in VEOs because of their systematic exclusion from both traditional and formal governance systems.

Because of the perception that many Fulani are troublemakers and likely to join VEOs, police and security forces might treat them with additional suspicion, exacerbating the problem and further pushing them away.²⁰³

Conflicts over natural resources (land and water) often occur between the sedentary Hausa or Zarma majority and the Fulani minority, as well as between different nomadic populations such as the Fulani and Tuareg. Nomadic groups who have become sedentary due to economic necessity may face disdain and ostracization from those who remain nomadic.²⁰⁴ These conflicts have worsened in recent years, as land that was once open pasture is now cultivated by sedentary groups, likely without any consultation with the pastoralists to help them find alternative resources for their livestock.²⁰⁵ In Tillabéri, although the Fulani view themselves as the original inhabitants of the land, they do not control it, often facing conflict with other ethnic groups. To prevent conflict and resolve disputes, the Fulani, not trusting the ambiguity of customary laws, are more inclined to bring their cases to the formal courts. As Fulani women's lack direct ownership of cattle and have limited decision-making authority, they are unlikely to participate in dispute resolution processes.²⁰⁶ Corruption, collusion, and discrimination in the courts are perceived as disadvantaging the Fulani in Tillabéri; indeed, in the past the courts have failed to address issues of theft of Fulani cattle by other ethnic groups.²⁰⁷ This biased system leads to lack of trust in local systems and government officials, gradually degrading social cohesion.

Female pastoralists face complex intersectional issues in relation to natural resource competition, ethnic tensions, and conflict. Different sources report varying levels of women's community participation. Women in Fulani and Tuareg communities in Maradi have reported fewer barriers than women in Hausa communities, with regard to participating and voicing their opinions in community forums;²⁰⁸ however, men and women in Fulani communities in Zinder agree that women may not participate or give their opinion unless they receive permission from men. There is little known about how other vulnerable groups, such as persons with disabilities or LGBTQI+, are potentially marginalized within nomadic communities, although one stakeholder noted the use of slaves by the Fulani and Tuareg for maintaining the camps and leading the migrating herds of animals.

Speaking about slavery and caste systems is taboo, even though these harmful practices continue covertly, particularly in isolated rural regions. There is very limited information about the individuals living within these systems, and most existing programming does not reach them. Forms of slavery persist in Niger across all ethnic groups and in all regions—primarily in rural areas—despite its prohibition in the 1999 Constitution and penalization through updates to the Penal Code in 2003.²⁰⁹ Niger did not prosecute any slavery cases until 2014.²¹⁰

Estimates of the number of persons in slavery in Niger vary widely, as there have been few quantitative studies; data is politically sensitive and challenging to collect, especially in conflict areas. In 2004, Anti-Slavery International (ASI) and Timidria estimated there were 840,000 slaves in Niger, based on qualitative data collected throughout the country. ²¹¹ However, a number of GoN representatives denounced this number as an overestimation. In 2018, the Global Slavery Index (GSI) derived a vastly lower estimate of I33,000, using Walk Free's methodology developed with the International Labour Organization (ILO) and the International Organization for Migration (IOM). ²¹²

This section presents three types of slavery that continue to exist in Niger, as categorized by Timidra, a well-established local anti-slavery CSO dedicated to providing legal, economic, and advocacy support to current and former slaves. Due to the topic's sensitivities, as well as conflict that prevents access to

many rural areas where slavery persists, there is limited data on the details of these slavery forms. The general forms of slavery, however, are confirmed by Anti-Slavery International and by a report from the U.N Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of slavery, based on a country visit to Niger in 2014.²¹³

Active Slavery. Referred to as 'pur et dur' (pure and hard) or active, this form of slavery is the most concealed as well as the most controlling and violent. People live with their "masters," are forced to work against their will, and are subjected to violence, including GBV.²¹⁴ This form of slavery psychologically enslaves persons from birth by inculcating the belief that it is their duty to serve their "masters" (both in the household and in the fields), that religious texts support the claim of ownership, and that physical punishment is a form of religious sanction and atonement. This type of slavery is primarily practiced, historically, by Fulani, Tuareg, Arab, and Toubou groups.²¹⁵ Stakeholders stressed that more information is needed to understand whether the 2003 law has curbed the practice.

Passive Slavery. Passive slavery is also referred to as descent-based slavery, as the victims are born into slavery. They do not live with the "master," but they farm the land of the "master's" family. Although these slaves are typically not subjected to violence, they, too, undergo psychological indoctrination, being taught from birth that they are subordinate to and must serve the "masters." They must give a portion of what they grow to the "master," and the land will never belong to them. They may also pay a yearly tax to the "master" on top of their other yearly taxes and may also give gifts or other forms of tribute. In return, the "master" is responsible for providing for certain needs of the slaves; traditionally, this includes protection, but it is unclear if this is still the case. Passive slavery also exists within nomadic populations, where slaves and their descendants are in charge of caring for livestock and maintaining the camps. Tahoua and Tillaberi reportedly have the largest slave populations, mainly in passive slavery.

Advocacy led by Timidria has produced important progress over the past two decades, resulting in approximately 6,000 people leaving their "masters" and relocating to form their own villages of "descendants" (former slaves). ²¹⁹ ASI cited that former "masters" have sought legal action to force the return of some of these descendants, but after 17 years the formal courts finally ruled in the favor of the former slaves. ²²⁰

Wahaya. The third type of slavery is called wahaya: a man purchases a girl or woman under the guise of a fifth wife,²²¹ who is obliged to bear his children and carry out household responsibilities. Timidria noted that wahaya is particularly serious in an area of Tahoua where three districts meet, known as the "triangle of shame," where young women continue to be bought and sold as concubines.²²² Tahoua government representatives claim that the practice ended once slavery became illegal; however, some stakeholders say that the practice continues, especially in this area.²²³ Wahaya is a particularly sensitive issue as, reportedly, well-connected men engage in the practice—while the police and judicial system turn a blind eye.²²⁴

ASI noted that poverty may be an additional driver of the persistence of wahaya, with fathers offering to sell their daughters in exchange for money or debt relief. Wahaya also has cross-border implications: an unknown number of Nigerien AGYW are trafficked into northern Nigeria, 225 where wahaya also exists.

In general, slaves often live in isolated rural areas where they are not able to access services or inherit assets, and they typically hold no or few rights within the community. Slaves from all three groups often lack birth certificates and are not able to access health and education services. In areas where water is limited, communities limit when they can collect water and how much.²²⁶ Slaves are rarely identified to participate in development

Text Box 3. Advocacy Against Wahaya

One former wahaya bride, Hadizatou Mani, with the assistance of Timidria, fought for and secured her freedom after being sold at the age of 12. She became an anti-slavery advocate, launching a high-profile lawsuit in 2008 and eventually earning the U.S. State Department's International Women of Courage Award.

In a recent case, Dame Fodi was given to her master's sister as a wedding present at the age of eight, trafficked out of Niger to Burkina Faso, and forced to marry a male slave in order to reproduce. Timidria took Dame Fodi's case before a Nigerien formal court. Due to the court's inaction, Timidria was able to elevate the case to the West African Court of Justice in 2021, which ruled against Niger for its negligence in handling the case.

The results of both of these cases are not widely known. Stakeholders noted that if successful cases were better publicized, more slaves might seek freedom, and courts might feel compelled to hear their cases.

projects; however, certain IPs and local CSOs try to work with these groups through advocacy and social services interventions, such as the USAID-funded Access to Justice and Human Rights "Adalci" Program, as well as ASI and Timidria's program. (See Text Box 3: Advocacy Against Wahaya.²²⁷)

Slavery is an extremely sensitive topic due to its ties to traditional chiefdom structures. As traditional leaders have such strong ties to the government, government representatives—even if they disagree with the practice—are unwilling to speak out or take action and face backlash if they do.²²⁸ However, advocacy efforts have resulted in a few successful cases and has led the GoN to implement certain antislavery initiatives, such as declaring a National Day Against Slavery in 2019.

Finally, in addition to the three types of slavery, there is also a caste system in Niger, though there is limited information on its extent within specific ethnic groups. Multiple stakeholders listed butchers, blacksmiths, and griots (oral storytellers) as three distinct lower castes of people in Niger. These groups are typically prevented from marrying outside of their caste or taking employment outside their family's traditional practice. Multiple stakeholders shared anecdotes of families blocking marriages after discovering the fiance's ancestry as either a descendent of a slave or someone of lower caste, including a female butcher who described facing this discrimination herself. These marriage limitations do not seem to apply as strictly to traditional leaders, as they can marry lower caste women through wahaya, and there were well-known accounts of high-level traditional leaders marrying women from lower castes,

whose children would later hold positions of authority in the traditional leadership structure. It is not clear whether people from lower castes have the same access to social services and resources, nor whether they are represented in government—although stakeholders noted that the last time a "descendant" or a lower-caste person was represented at a high level of government was prior to Niger's Independence from France. However, some believe that times are changing. One male butcher in Zinder explained, "There are more and more young people and women who embrace this profession [of butcher] even though they have not inherited it. Women have been able to ensure their financial autonomy thanks to this profession."²²⁹

Issues related to SOGI are widely considered to be a "western" construct and reflect a personal choice. Sexual minorities are among the most socially, politically, and economically marginalized in Niger. LGBTQI+ persons are one of the most marginalized and vulnerable groups in Niger, and gay men and trans people are at particularly high risk of harassment and violence, including from security forces such as the police. According to the U.S. State Department Country Report from 2020, there were no documented cases of discrimination against LGBTQI+ persons in employment, occupation, housing, statelessness, or access to education or health care. The report indicates that this is most likely because of the danger and stigma associated with filing such discrimination complaints.²³⁰

A challenge for support programs is finding ways to serve LGBTQI+ persons without exposing their identities and thus creating additional risk. A few small programs offer health and legal services to LGBTQI+ persons, but legal services in particular are reportedly inadequate. These programs may also offer a way for participants to connect with one another, to provide solidarity and psychosocial support. More support is needed for local LGBTQI+-led organizations, such as through grants, emergency assistance, and capacity-building.

3.2 CROSS-CUTTING RECOMMENDATIONS

3.2.1 GENDER INTEGRATION WITHIN USAID/NIGER AND IPS

- For USAID: Hire a full-time gender advisor with authority and resources to support integration of gender within all Mission programming. Strengthen a gender community of practice among IPs to exchange locally relevant strategies and lessons learned for addressing resistance and building support for gender equality. In keeping with the USAID Administrator's recent commitment to double the level of gender-based programming globally,²³¹ as well as requirements under the 2018 Women's Economic Empowerment (WEE) Act and ADS 205, ensure that all IPs receive guidance on gender integration requirements. Ensure that these commitments are highlighted in annual performance statements and embedded in key steps of the project cycle, such as solicitations and performance monitoring processes. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID IPs: Develop and model organizational policies, processes, and capacity-building for gender equality and inclusion, including embedding gender-equitable roles and responsibilities across job descriptions and performance evaluations for all staff. Develop gender action plans that inform work planning as well as monitoring, evaluation, and learning. For new projects, include a gender-specific programming budget and a gender advisor with adequate authority and expertise to address key gender barriers through GTAs, as programs with dedicated gender staff and budgets have better gender equity and inclusion outcomes. (PRIORITY)

3.2.1 GENDER-TRANSFORMATIVE APPROACHES

- For all Stakeholders: Systematically partner with community influencers and gatekeepers, including men, traditional and religious leaders, and mothers-in-law, to collaboratively design approaches that shift social norms and empower women. Intentionally engaging family and community support is critical for doing no harm when seeking gender-transformative change. (PRIORITY)
- For All Stakeholders: Design and implement GTAs, including those that specifically target younger men and women (segmented by life cycle), that focus on dismantling harmful norms of femininity and masculinity. For example, given the popularity of the Husband Schools, stakeholders could pilot, adapt, and scale similar GTAs working with men and boys for the specific objectives of reducing the acceptance of GBV (prevention) and supporting women's economic empowerment. Sample approaches include Equimundo's (previously Promundo) Journeys of Transformation and Program H, The Living Peace Group, Sonke Gender Justice One Man Can approach, and Engender Health's Men As Partners. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID: Fund evaluations to assess whether gender-transformative objectives are being achieved in current IP programming that utilizes the Husband School approach. This approach is being applied in health, economic development, and GBV programming, but has only been evaluated for SRH objectives. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID: Integrate women-focused functional literacy programs within all sectoral programming and within other "women-focused" approaches (i.e., care groups or SLGs). If literacy is not a specific program component (for example, within humanitarian response programs), ensure referrals for participants to available literacy programs. Ensure that IPs integrate rigorous M&E mechanisms to monitor the quality and effectiveness of functional literacy approaches.²³²

3.2.2 GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

- For All Stakeholders: Implement approaches to change attitudes and expectations around marriage age
 and fertility in order to reduce CEFMU. Include a specific focus on reducing CEFMU through social
 and behavior change (SBC) seeking to promote girls' education. SBC efforts should highlight the
 positive aspects of continuing girls' education and delaying girls' marriage, instead of taking a negative
 and shame-inducing approach. (PRIORITY)
- For All Stakeholders: Provide education alternatives to out-of-school youth, especially girls aged 10–15 who are not yet married, given their risk of CEFMU.
- For USAID: Work with traditional and religious leaders to speak out against CEFMU in context-appropriate ways. Identify and provide support to CSOs and other organizations to advocate to the GoN to apply a minimum marriage age, first to respect the 15-year-old threshold for girls and then to work towards the international human rights standard threshold of 18 years old.
- For USAID: Support a standalone GBV program and incorporate GBV requirements into more solicitations and proposal evaluation criteria. Improve GBV integration in sectoral programming by requiring all programs to identify and mitigate GBV risks. Provide resources, expertise, and support for IP staff to identify and address GBV in their work, including specialized training for any staff in a position to provide referrals or entry points to GBV response services. See The Foundational Elements for Gender-Based Violence Programming in Development for more specific guidance on how USAID development programs can prevent, mitigate, and respond to GBV, as well as sector-specific guidance for addressing GBV in 12 sectors. (PRIORITY)

- For USAID: Analyze the major drivers of IPV, including cultural and religious justifications. Work with traditional and religious leaders to identify culturally appropriate behavior-change approaches that include both men and women. (PRIORITY)
- For all stakeholders: Promote the exchange of experiences and lessons learned in GBV prevention and response programming with the aim of identifying and replicating best practices. In close collaboration with the GoN, and potentially facilitated by the existing national GBV Sub-Cluster, create a collaborative framework for GBV prevention and response programming to harmonize resource mobilization efforts for a holistic response.

3.2.3 INCLUSIVE TARGETING FOR PROGRAMMING

- For All Stakeholders: Dedicate culturally sensitive programming across sectors that focuses specifically
 on the rights and needs of AGYW, including migrants, out-of-school AGYW, and newly married but
 childless women—populations who are often left out of current programs. Capacity building
 programs for AGYW should include out-of-school learning opportunities, including financial literacy
 and microenterprise skills. Life skills development and SRH knowledge should also be emphasized
 across all age groups.
- For USAID and IPs: Carry out locally-based vulnerability assessments in potential project areas with the goal of informing targeting strategies. IPs should be explicit when describing their targeting approach to include the most vulnerable, and USAID should require that all relevant indicators are disaggregated by type of marginalized group, not just by gender, age, and disability.
- For USAID and IPs: Analyze successful programs, both within Niger and the region, that work with polygamous households. Ensure that program data collection tools are adapted to better understand and work with intra-household power dynamics. During program design, collect data that will allow for a flexible do-no-harm approach that can reach the most vulnerable members of a household.
- For Donors: Prioritize the inclusion of nomadic groups within service-delivery projects with GoN. Identify and analyze global best practices for working with nomadic populations, including with marginalized groups within these populations (women, youth, persons with disabilities, LGBTQI+, etc.) (PRIORITY)
- For USAID IPs: Carry out participatory consultations with nomadic groups to better understand their desires and needs relative to accessing and participating in programming, and implement strategies to facilitate their inclusion. Ensure that women are provided opportunities through the consultative process to share their priorities openly.

3.2.4 SLAVERY AND CASTE SYSTEMS

- For Donors: While working diplomatically with the GoN, support in-depth analysis of slavery and the caste system and assist with the dissemination of findings. Support GoN to strengthen enforcement of the 2003 anti-slavery law.
- For Donors: Support human rights-focused programs that provide resources and support to local
 activists and CSOs working with individuals in slavery and caste systems. Possible areas of
 intervention include: economic and social reintegration for former slaves; legal support for slaves
 seeking freedom or family reunification; legal support for lower caste people and slave descendants
 who are facing discrimination; provision of social services, especially health and education; and
 protection for advocates who speak out about slavery.

4. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE I: COMMUNITIES STRENGTHENED, EMPOWERED, AND MORE RESILIENT

4.1 ABOUT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 1

Development Objective (DO) I seeks to empower the people of Niger, including women, youth, and those from marginalized groups such as nomadic populations, to act as grassroots-level agents of change to unlock local solutions. Lines of inquiry for primary data collection focused on civil society collective action and advocacy as well as the quality of participation in community decision-making structures. Analysis under this DO focuses on gaps and opportunities for engaging women, youth, and marginalized groups to participate within community structures, including subnational (decentralized) government, water-user associations, Citizen Watch Committees/Committee de Veille Citoyenne (CVC), Community Development Committees/Committees de Developpement Communautaire (CDC), land commissions/commissions foncieres, and various forms of civil society. This section also examines aspects of inclusion within civil society, in terms of who is represented, the missions of organizations, and organizations' engagement with women, youth, and marginalized groups.

4.2 DO I GENDER ANALYSIS FINDINGS

Although the quota system is an excellent step in institutionalizing women's participation and leadership in government, the law is not always applied, especially at decentralized levels.²³³ This is due to a dearth of qualified female candidates, officials lacking the authority to enforce the quota, and ministries' lack of commitment.²³⁴ The current GoN gender quota requires that 30 percent of appointed positions and 25 percent of elected positions be held by women.²³⁵ In part due to this quota, women's representation in the (unicameral) parliament increased from 14.6 percent in 2014 to 25.9 percent in 2020; currently, out of 166 of current members, 43 are women.²³⁶ There are eight parliamentary seats reserved for ethnic minority groups and no electoral quota for youth in parliament.²³⁷ Only seven out of 42 government ministers are female, which is lower than the 25-percent quota for high level government appointments.²³⁸

At the decentralized level, there are currently only two female prefects out of 63; six female mayors out of 266; and no female regional governors.²³⁹ Women's low levels of representation at this level of governance is due in part to a low bar set in the quota law, requiring only that 15 percent of electoral lists, elected positions, and nominated positions be female.²⁴⁰ Enforcement of the quota also is weaker at the decentralized levels, because of less awareness and buy-in for the quota and smaller pools of female candidates.

One of the main reasons the quota is not respected is the absence of accountability mechanisms that could penalize institutions who fail to adhere to the law. As noted above (Section 2.2 Laws, Policies, Regulations, and Institutional Practices), the GoN established the ONPG to monitor implementation of the quota law.²⁴¹ The ONPG produces regular reports on the adherence to the quota law across all ministries and presents these findings to the cabinet of ministers.²⁴² However, the ONPG does not have power or authority to impose penalties on institutions not adhering to the law.²⁴³ Stakeholders also noted that various ministerial representatives view quota reporting as a nuisance, rarely taking it seriously.²⁴⁴ A number of GoN officials, especially at the decentralized levels, echoed this sentiment, indicating that adherence to the law is low and considered of little importance.²⁴⁵

The incomplete application of the quota law contributes to an ongoing cycle: women and young people lack the skills they need to increase their political representation and participation, and the political and social environment tends to exclude them from opportunities to gain relevant skills, experiences, and networks.²⁴⁶ One USAID IP study found that women in Niger severely lack the communication, advocacy, and negotiation skills needed to effectively participate in local decision-making.²⁴⁷ They also lack access to relevant information, such as eligibility criteria for candidacy, election campaign management, and fundraising to stand as a candidate in an election.²⁴⁸ In general, politics is viewed as the realm of men in Niger. As was seen in their opposition of enforcement of the quota in the 2020 elections, traditional and religious leaders promote the idea that politics is inappropriate for women, based on patriarchal traditions or misogynistic interpretations of religious precepts.²⁴⁹

Promoting equitable participation and leadership of women and girls in project activities is a challenge because of low levels of literacy, restricted mobility, the need for spousal approval for activities outside of the home, and socio-cultural norms that discourage women and girls from engaging in leadership roles in certain sectors and community decision-making structures. A number of IPs and local CSOs, however, have developed best practices for overcoming these barriers to participation. As noted above, women are more likely to be illiterate²⁵⁰ and economically dependent on others, limiting their opportunities for participation in decision-making and leadership at all levels.²⁵¹ Moreover, women's participation in community structures is limited due to the requirement that women must seek their husband's (or father's) approval to participate in activities outside of the home, to occupy a leadership position, or, in some instances, to speak in public.²⁵² Other common barriers include mobility constraints for women and girls (depending on the location of an event or meeting) as well as women's workload.²⁵³ Lastly, young women in Niger have limited women models in leadership compared to young men, as most leadership positions in community development structures and associations are held by men, especially in rural areas.²⁵⁴ Where young women recognize role models, these role models are likely to be leaders within women-only settings (such as trainers or leaders in women's groups) or women working in rural communities who come from urban areas.²⁵⁵

Women's participation in groups deemed "appropriate" for women increases their quality of participation, including taking on leadership roles, but this does not necessarily translate into increased participation in other community structures. One study found that women feel they can express their needs and interests better in community structures dealing with health and water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) and in their SLGs, but less well in governance structures of other types, including farmers' groups. In mixed-gender structures, men typically occupy senior-level positions (president and vice president) while women usually occupy stereotypically female and more junior positions (secretaries or treasurers). Lastly, women's responsibilities in mixed groups at the community level are typically limited to mobilizing other women for activities deemed gender-appropriate (such as sweeping community water points).

The majority of USAID IPs recognize that one key to engaging women and girls in their project activities is to engage men (i.e., husbands or fathers) to ensure that women and girls are allowed to participate. For example, SFCG has been able to achieve parity in targeting youth by engaging specifically with fathers to obtain their support for their daughters' and wives' project participation. Catholic Relief Services (CRS) engages men through couple-strengthening approaches (*La famille hamonieuse* – Harmonious Families) which emphasizes couple (or polygamous household) decision-making for more equitable practices at the household level. Only one USAID IP mentioned that they strive for *quality*

versus *quantity* of women's participation.²⁶⁰ Quality, in this instance, means that women are able to engage in group governance (leadership) structures, to voice opinions openly, and to have a voice in key group decisions.

IPs have also recognized the importance of wider gatekeeper and community-level approaches. Counterpart International (CI) engages men at the community level through a "community champions" network that promotes gender-equitable participation. Community champions are influential community members trained on the benefits of including more women in various activities and structures. These champions act to promote this idea to other community members. CI also works with traditional leaders and members of decision-making structures (i.e., Committee de Veille Citoyenne and Committees de Development Communautaire) to set quotas, which has resulted in major increases to women's participation within these committees. These quotas also stipulate requirements for gender equity in leadership positions (e.g., if the president is male, the vice-president should be female, and vice-versa). CRS also works with older women (mothers-in-law and grandmothers), recognizing their power and influence in households especially regarding issues of marriage, child health and nutrition, education, and FP. 262

USAID IPs acknowledge that the low literacy rate for women is a key barrier to their participation in community structures, and some programs have integrated functional literacy components or education-focused activities. For example, large, multi-sectoral food security programs (funded by FFP) include literacy centers. More information is needed to learn whether integrating functional literacy in multi-sectoral programs contributes not only to positive sectoral impacts, but also to increased women's participation and leadership.

Some USAID IPs use a guide (developed by the MPFPE with UNFPA, in collaboration with important Islamic religious networks) called the *Islamic Argument for Gender Equity*. The guide provides Quranic quotes that support more equitable roles for women and girls, thus challenging interpretations of Islamic texts that justify women and girl's marginalization, including exclusion from decision-making and leadership roles.²⁶⁴ Though the document was developed in 2008, it is reportedly regularly updated.²⁶⁵

Lastly, some USAID IPs work through existing networks of women leaders. For example, SFCG has worked with Women Lawyers of Niger/Femmes Juristes du Niger (FJN) to encourage continued professional growth and to hopefully develop a new generation of female magistrates in Niger; currently, only 0.9 percent of magistrates in Niger are women. However, the program has struggled to find interested participants—possibly due to entrenched norms of women's inferiority. ²⁶⁶ To engage with existing women SLG leaders, CARE International leverages the Mata Masu Dubara (MMD) network, consisting of roughly 26,445 SLGs with over 600,000 female members. ²⁶⁷ In fact, CARE found that these MMD groups have formed associations or agricultural cooperatives and have evolved their activities to engage in advocacy for a broader women's rights agenda, serving as a platform to facilitate women's collective action and leadership. ²⁶⁸

GoN officials recognize that women, even when present, rarely participate in community meetings or decision-making, citing women's low self-confidence as the main barrier. Due to various socio-cultural barriers (discussed above), adult women and young women and men are underrepresented in decision-making committees at the community level. GoN officials recognize this as a barrier to inclusive development, but they tend to view it as an issue out of their control. For example, stakeholders expressed a sentiment that either it is impossible to find "qualified" women to participate

in community structures or leadership positions, or state that women do not seek out these opportunities because they lack self-confidence. Indeed, some respondents said it is women's fault that they are not better represented.²⁶⁹ This type of thinking allows officials and decision-makers to ignore the root causes and structural inequities that underlie women's fear of stepping forward.

USAID IPs report that existing projects tend to engage with the same set of female community members for leadership positions. These women are reportedly older, of higher socioeconomic status, and/or have connections to traditional leaders. Many community leadership positions (for example, within community development or natural resource management (NRM) committees, or as community health focal points) require participants to have a certain level of basic literacy in order to carry out their duties. Because of these requirements, a number of USAID IP's reported difficulties in engaging a diverse and inclusive set of female leaders. Other difficulties relate to identifying women who have their husband's permission, acceptable social standing, and enough time to actively participate in community groups or positions of responsibility, especially in traditionally male-dominated groups. USAID IPs working on literacy (whether implementing community-based literacy programs or collaborating with existing literacy opportunities) noted that once a woman in a rural community becomes functionally literate, she is in high demand by development and humanitarian partners and is likely to become engaged in multiple project structures.²⁷⁰

Social status and wealth also play a role in a community's acceptance of female representatives. The women who are able to access more senior-level positions of leadership and decision-making frequently have higher social status, education, and wealth.²⁷¹ In addition to being wealthier, women represented in development partner "women's groups" are frequently connected or related in some way to the village chief, the *marabout* (Muslim Cleric), or other decision-makers.²⁷² Similarly, for youth, family ties to and support from the village chief are necessary to obtain a leadership position in the community. In fact, it is rare to see a committee without a relative of the village chief (often a child or a wife) in a leadership position.²⁷³

Age affects women's ability to participate in community decision-making structures. Not only are older women participating at higher rates than younger women across all community groups, but they are also more likely to express themselves publicly on certain topics. USAID IPs report that older women are more readily able to participate actively, not only because of the respect afforded to them due to age, but also because they are usually free from childcare burdens. They also have more mobility, in large part because they are no longer seen as a threat for attracting the sexual attention of men. Conversely, communities view young women who participate in community meetings as "disrespectful," particularly if they are unmarried—which is also reflected in women's participation in the private sector (as discussed below in DO 2). Though there is greater acceptance of young men's participation than young women's participation, young men also report being frequently ignored in community meetings.

Women, Peace, and Security (WPS) is well recognized by international organizations and the GoN as a resolution that promotes women's participation in conflict prevention, conflict management, and sustainable peace efforts. There is less awareness of the GoN's own National Action Plan (NAP) for WPS, and little evidence of investments in or implementation of the NAP. More specifically, the GoN's WPS NAP is lacking an operational coordination mechanism, dedicated resources, and institutional ownership across relevant GoN institutions.

The GoN has made policy commitments to enhance women's political participation by prioritizing their role in the overall strategy for security and development, both in the country and regionally. Accordingly, Niger adopted its second NAP implementing UN Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 1325 on WPS for the period 2020–2024.²⁷⁷ Stakeholders mentioned WPS multiple times, but gave few details on progress on the NAP's implementation. There is extremely limited ownership of the NAP beyond the MPFPE, despite its relevance to the multiple GoN institutions named in the NAP document.²⁷⁸

Despite these challenges, Niger's first NAP report indicates that the GoN supported the establishment of the G5 Sahel Women's Platform, which helps elevate the voices of women in peacebuilding.²⁷⁹ USAID IPs confirmed that this platform is operational; in certain cases, IPs are working with it to showcase successful women's leadership models.²⁸⁰ The NAP has very little focus on GBV prevention or response, despite data showing that the regional conflict has exacerbated pre-existing risks of multiple forms of GBV—including IPV, sexual exploitation, and CEFMU.

Despite the recent emphasis on WPS, women continue to have a limited role in peacebuilding and conflict resolution, especially at the community level. Conflicts related to assets and natural resources are managed exclusively by men; female justice representatives are called upon solely to address "women's conflicts." Typically, even though women and youth are most affected by conflict, their role in conflict mediation and peacebuilding occurs not in the public sphere but instead behind closed doors. Displaced women, in particular, do not participate in decision-making or processes related to conflict resolution and peacebuilding conflict mitigation.

VEO-driven conflict is exacerbated by chronic tension around access to natural resources in Niger, particularly land and water, which is also the cause of most intra-community and farmer-herder conflicts in rural areas.²⁸³ Farmer-herder conflict typically involves sedentary populations in competition with nomadic (and ethnic minority) groups.²⁸⁴ However, while Nigerien women are often responsible for collecting water for households and cultivating arable land, they are typically not viewed as primary managers, decision-makers, or owners of these resources. Women's low access to and control over resources and assets is then used to justify their exclusion from conflict mediation processes. For example, when asked how a woman would resolve a conflict with a herder encroaching on her agricultural field, one stakeholder noted that the field probably would not belong to the woman anyway, so the men would settle the conflict.²⁸⁵

When women are participating in peacebuilding and mediation efforts, they are limited to issues involving their households (e.g., older women mediating an issue between younger women in their own family), their female networks, or other "women to women" conflicts (e.g., issues between co-wives). 286 Some informants acknowledge that women may influence conflict resolution via their husbands. As one stakeholder puts it, "although women do not have decision-making power in our traditional society, they participate in the mediation of conflicts by giving advice to their husbands." However, even when a conflict directly impacts a woman, she is usually represented in customary justice processes by male family members. This includes conflicts related to GBV. Conflicts over inheritance are usually solved within families, though stakeholders noted that unresolved cases are typically elevated to traditional leaders. 289

Certain IPs and international organizations are working to engage women in community conflict-resolution and peacebuilding processes. In Dosso and Maradi, UN Women partnered with a local CSO, Reseau des Femmes pour la Paix (REFEPA)/Network of Women for Peace, for a project focusing on women mediators (Femmes Mediatrices).²⁹⁰ Women were first trained in conflict prevention and management of rural land conflicts, and were then linked with relevant administrative and customary authorities to support mediation specifically around conflicts between farmers and herders.²⁹¹ Although the program trained women specifically in land-related conflicts, the vast majority of conflicts the women went on to mediate related to social conflicts or conflicts within and between families.²⁹² These included mediations between co-wives, between husbands and wives, and between youth.

The Femmes Mediatrices project saw several major successes. First, traditional chiefs provided personal testimonies to the positive role women played in preventing conflicts from requiring traditional leader involvement. Traditional leaders also reported that women showed more confidence to speak in public in their role as a mediator. Importantly, groups of women mediators also nominated women to become representatives in formal structures for the prevention and management of national resources: the Basic Land Commissions (Commission Foncière de Base – COFOB); Communal Land Commissions (Commission Foncière Communale – COFOCOM); and Regional Land Commissions. At the end of the project in 2020, 278 women were represented in 60 commissions.²⁹³

Factors influencing access to formal and customary justice for women and young girls are complex. Stakeholders indicated women have more access to and in fact prefer customary forms of justice, despite outcomes that frequently do not respect women's human rights. It is unclear how much the barriers to accessing justice may influence women's choice of customary or religious justice systems over formal systems. Formal justice systems are typically situated in urban or semi-urban areas, requiring additional resources, time, and mobility to access. ²⁹⁴ Customary justice, in contrast, takes place within communities led by traditional leaders who have a long history with the community. ²⁹⁵ Traditional leaders, even if they support remedies that do not uphold women's rights, are familiar and thus more trusted than formal justice actors. Furthermore, customary justice may be a more socially acceptable form of conflict resolution, depending on particular regional and ethnic norms. Rural women from sedentary populations may face pressure to utilize trusted customary systems, while formal justice is more acceptable in urban areas and is also often preferred by the nomadic Fulani. ²⁹⁶

Local CSOs may adapt their mandates specifically to attract available funding related to gender equality, leading traditional leaders to feel that CSOs do not adequately represent the marginalized groups they claim to represent.²⁹⁷ Local CSOs in Niger, like NGOs the world over, can only function with funding. With a large number of local CSOs competing for resources, coupled with donors' and IPs' belief that many CSOs lack transparency and competency, there is a perception that CSO leadership is focused primarily on winning funding—including for activities beyond their mandate or competence.²⁹⁸ In fact, many CSOs do not have a clear and fixed mandate or a clear area of expertise, and few have the capacity to engage in gender equality or social inclusion-focused programming. Because donors and IPs provide little funding for gender-specific programming (including GBV prevention), there are very few local CSOs with gender equality mandates, especially in rural areas.²⁹⁹ Moreover, community leaders tend to perceive local CSO leadership (i.e., president and treasurer) as pursuing their personal interests through their CSO activities instead of the interests of those they claim to serve. However, as community leaders themselves engage in nepotistic practices when assisting projects with participant selection and stakeholder mapping, this perception may be a manifestation of competition between different community power structures.

When women hold decision-making roles in CSOs, it is almost exclusively within local organizations that have a gender-related mission (e.g., GBV, WEE) and that are concentrated in urban areas. In general, women's representation in local CSOs is very low, from community-based organizations to local NGOs. When women are represented, they are usually active in organizations that focus on "women's issues" such as GBV or women's participation in politics. 300 Stakeholders noted that this also holds true for CSOs representing persons with disabilities: while they may have female members, women do not hold positions of authority, other than possibly as secretary or treasurer. Additionally, the majority of women-led CSOs are concentrated in urban areas and are not viewed as inclusive of rural or poor women. However, certain women-led CSOs (for example, Berandi) have established regional offices outside of Niamey and seek to hire women from the region in these field offices. 301 These CSOs recognize the cultural, time, and literacy constraints for these women, and are thus including activities to work through gatekeepers, as well as providing capacity-building support. However, women in the most remote rural areas are unable to participate or to have their needs well represented.

Youth-serving associations in Niger tend to be led by men (not always young) and they focus mainly on serving the needs of young men. The needs of young women are not well-defined or prioritized within these associations. The GoN applies the definition of youth developed by the African Union and the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), limited to people aged 15–35.³⁰² However, stakeholders observed that some leaders of youth-serving organizations are older than 35.³⁰³ Moreover, high-profile and GoN-affiliated youth associations, such as the National Youth Council of Niger/ Conseil National de la Jeunesse du Niger (CNJN)³⁰⁴ are viewed as political (i.e., responding to the priorities of politicians, especially in regard to vote mobilization) and as not inclusive, especially of rural and younger youth.³⁰⁵ Youth associations in Niger, interviewed as part of USAID's youth analysis for the Sahel, expressed frustration that the Council is not functional or effective.³⁰⁶ Young women, in particular, are largely underrepresented or absent altogether from youth-serving organizations.³⁰⁷ Unfortunately, Nigerien youth-serving organizations rarely include gender equity-related objectives, programs, or advocacy.³⁰⁸

Networks or federations of CSOs working on gender are few, but those in urban centers are viewed as powerful and well-connected. However, these networks and federations are not inclusive of particularly marginalized women, including conflict-affected women, nomadic women, rural women, and women IDPs.³⁰⁹ These CSO networks are long-standing and well-established, and are often called upon by the GoN to represent a wide variety of women's views across Niger. Indeed, the women-led CSOs who participate in these networks were largely responsible for the adoption of the first law on gender quotas. Some GoN stakeholders and other CSOs view these networks as benefiting from a preferential relationship with the GoN—which may have been earned over many years of advocacy and working together to improve policies. In some instances, however, they are viewed as political and not representative of the marginalized groups of women they claim to represent, including specifically rural women.³¹⁰

There are also gender-related advocacy platforms (i.e., voluntary association of individuals or CSOs that act as a unified voice for active promotion of gender equality), created specifically around the fight against CEFMU and GBV as well as for program coordination more broadly. For example, UNICEF and UNFPA, in collaboration with the MPFPE, established the Platform to End Child Marriage and the National Framework for Concerted Action Against GBV/Cadre de Concertation des Intervenants en Matière de Lutte contre les VBG. However, the functioning of these platforms is dependent on donor funding, and

they are managed by international organizations and not by the GoN. Stakeholders also note that these platforms' online presence is still very basic and will require technical upgrades and training, as well as ownership from the GoN, to ensure long-term sustainability.³¹¹

4.3 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE I RECOMMENDATIONS

- For USAID and IPs: Support watchdogs analyzing the application of the quota law (such as the ONPG)
 to widely disseminate their findings for diverse audiences and to improve advocacy for increased
 adherence to quotas.
- For USAID IPs: Work with decentralized GoN officials and local leaders to emphasize the importance of hearing diverse and representational views. Train these groups on inclusive facilitation techniques to be used during community meetings.
- For USAID IPs: Explore participatory decision-making models that solicit input from women-only and youth-led stakeholder groups, as an intermediary step before community-wide consultations.
- For USAID IPs: Seek deliberate measures to reach women for leadership positions who have not yet had the opportunity, including working with husbands to demonstrate the benefit of their wife's participation. Identify women in targeted communities who are keen to learn and participate but who may not have adequate resources or skill sets. Solicit the support of the existing cadre of women leaders to identify, engage, and provide mentorship to potential women leaders.
- For USAID and IPs: Commission a study to understand women's preferences regarding avenues for justice around key areas of conflict (e.g., land tenure and divorce), while also examining barriers to accessing justice and evaluating how well actual outcomes uphold women's rights. IPs who work with customary, religious, and formal justice systems should continue training justice actors (religious and customary actors in particular) on women's human rights and the importance of neutrality and confidentiality when responding to issues of GBV.
- For USAID: In line with core pillars of WPS, fund a standalone GBV prevention program in conflict-affected regions that aligns with national efforts to implement WPS action plans.
- For USAID: Sponsor forums for organizations using gender-specific approaches that increase women's
 role (and visibility) in conflict mediation (such as the <u>Women Mediator</u> programs) to share best
 practice and lessons learned.
- For USAID IPs: Address key barriers to women's effective participation in decision-making positions
 in local CSOs and agricultural cooperatives, through functional literacy and GTAs that seek to
 identify and address harmful gender power dynamics within groups. For example, Oxfam's Gender
 Action Learning Systems (GALS) approach seeks to transform unequal power relations in
 community-based groups.
- For USAID: As young women are often underrepresented in youth-serving organizations, ensure that youth-focused programs and approaches are not gender-blind and thus, inadvertently, designed to meet only the needs of young men.
- For USAID IPs: Identify, incentivize, and support CSOs that demonstrate sustainable inclusive behavior that results in high-quality female participation and representation in positions of authority. Make diversity of CSO leadership and membership an evaluation consideration for awarding small grants.

• For USAID and IPs: First, USAID and IPs should model principles of equity and inclusion by staffing all project teams with women in leadership positions across sectors (including potentially applying project team gender quotas). Then, deliver capacity-building support for CSOs to become more equitable and inclusive through their missions, governance structure, HR systems, strategic planning, and outreach, using approaches such as the Toolbox for Gender Mainstreaming in Member-based Organizations. Provide training on gender integration in programs, including how to design, plan and budget for, and implement GTAs. (PRIORITY)

5. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2: INCLUSIVE ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES IMPROVED

5.1 ABOUT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2

DO 2 seeks to strengthen the foundations for a more healthy, productive, and qualified workforce with sustainable economic opportunities by applying an integrated focus on nutrition, agriculture, climate adaptation, education, health, resilience, and economic growth. Lines of inquiry for data collection included agricultural market systems and private sector engagement. Analysis under this DO focuses on gaps and opportunities for engaging women, youth, and marginalized groups to participate in agriculture and employment opportunities. Underlying barriers related to education and health are integrated throughout the analysis but were not a focus of primary data collection, due to the depth of existing literature on these topics in Niger.

5.2 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2 GENDER ANALYSIS FINDINGS

Women are heavily concentrated in agricultural "transformation," that is, post-harvest processing. This includes (among other activities) producing edible oils and condiments, nutritionally enriched flours, and animal fodder. Women and men in Niger have distinct roles in agricultural production, harvest, processing, and commercialization. Multiple stakeholders noted that women in agriculture are most active in the post-harvest processing (transformation, in French) of a variety of crops, including peanuts and sesame (edible oils, meal, paste, or cakes), horticultural crops (dried or for condiments), certain staple grains (nutritionally enriched or regular flours, couscous, biscuits, and local delicacies), cowpeas (dried or cooked), rice (parboiled and sold to merchants), and nutgrass (grass for animal fodder). Pastoralist women, especially among Fulani, are charged with collecting, processing, and selling milk and butter from their cattle, often selling the raw milk to local dairy processing facilities and selling other animal products at market. One stakeholder noted that, "While some people might frown on women selling their products in the market, no one can say anything about women in 'transformation' (of agricultural products). This is the woman's role and they are gradually improving their knowledge and techniques."

Artisanal production of peanut oil is reportedly particularly lucrative, although profits vary according to the fluctuating cost of peanuts. When considering the gender roles related to peanut oil transformation, several female respondents noted that men are never involved—this is the domain of women. This was echoed by a male stakeholder in Zinder who noted that, while he believes women's role in agricultural production to be "negligible" in general, there is a long history of women participating in production of peanut oil.³¹⁴ Nevertheless, it is more socially acceptable for women to conduct their processing activities away from public view. One female leader of a peanut oil production cooperative in Dosso noted that, because they only have an outdoor work location, "When some people see us outside doing this work, they think it's because our husbands have lost control over us. Apparently, we're the kind of women that a husband can't control."³¹⁵ The strict gender roles around agricultural processing activities may not extend to young, unmarried sons, at least in southwestern Niger, who may assist their mothers with tasks related to peanut oil processing, for example.

Certain types of agricultural processing, especially the production of oils and flours, requires equipment or machines which can present a financial barrier to women seeking to enter into processing.³¹⁶ Stakeholders report that programs like the GoN's 3N (Nigeriens Nourish Nigeriens) successfully

distributed post-harvest processing equipment to women across Niger.³¹⁷ However, it can be difficult to maintain this machinery, and women reported lacking the right parts to fix broken machines. Moreover, women who did not receive these machines may have to rent them from male owners. In many cases, women do not have any access to labor-saving machinery and continue to use traditional manual processing methods that require significant time and labor.³¹⁸

Finally, stakeholders reported that women sell their agricultural products in local marketplaces, whether fresh market garden vegetables or processed food. However, they also noted that married women must first obtain their husband's approval to participate in marketplaces, while unmarried women must obtain their parents' permission. It is generally not viewed as socially acceptable for women to sell their products in marketplaces outside of their own villages. Women may also send their out-of-school daughters to sell in the local market on their behalf. Women without out-of-school adolescent children, and who cannot obtain their husband's permission, often sell their products directly from their household. Overall, female interviewees remarked favorably on how women have increased their participation in markets, noting that they are able to use the money they make to send their children to school and to pay for healthcare. However, though women have expressed significant interest in increasing their agro-industrial income-generating activities, they note that they have limited financial resources to do so, particularly to purchase labor-saving technologies and high-quality inputs.

Despite some studies pointing to a defeminization of agriculture in Niger, qualitative data indicates that women are not becoming less involved in agriculture. Several secondary sources noted that a "defeminization" of agriculture has gradually taken place, due to reduced access to arable land.³¹⁹ There is no consensus on the exact percentages, but literature indicates a decrease in women working in agriculture, from 40 percent of women in 2006 to just 24 percent³²⁰—or even 11 percent³²¹—in recent years. As these figures may overlook women participating in agricultural processing, more studies are required to determine how men's and women's participation in agriculture is changing.

When women do participate in agriculture, their level of involvement depends on a variety of factors, including age and marriage status. Young girls may work in family plots and sell agricultural products in marketplaces. Older women and widows are most active in agricultural VCs, including in both all-women and mixed agricultural cooperatives. 322 Young, recently-married women are the least likely to have the freedom to participate in agricultural VCs. Women still must obtain permission from the male head of household to participate in any type of agricultural activity outside the home. 323 One male stakeholder in Zinder explained, "A woman is under the responsibility of her husband. Some husbands do not give their wives permission to do an agricultural activity or give her the time to do it." 324 Text Box 4 describes one atypical practice that allows women to work alongside men in agriculture.

Women are concentrated within specific VCs that are considered culturally-appropriate "women's crops," including vegetables, peanut, sesame, nutgrass, and cowpea. Some stakeholders noted there are growth opportunities in these VCs, especially peanut and sesame, because current production does not meet domestic demand.325 While men may cultivate some of these crops, women are more active in these VCs. Some women, usually of educated, urban, well-connected backgrounds, lead formal agro-enterprises within these VCs, such as Niger-Lait (Niger Milk)—

Text Box 4. The Practice of Barema in Maradi

One village in Maradi has a common practice called *Barema*, which roughly translates to "agricultural labor." In this village, many people do not have land of their own, but both men and women approach large landowners as day laborers to assist in clearing, planting, weeding, watering, and harvesting crops. In a stark contrast to Zinder, where it is less culturally appropriate for women to be involved in agricultural production, women in this Maradi village work alongside men in the fields.

When asked what kind of work women do in the fields, a female stakeholder replied, "The same work as the men. The women do everything." As in other parts of Niger, she noted that women are primarily active in agricultural transformation in this village. One male interviewee in Maradi reported that men do not necessarily view women's participation in *Barema* as something positive, but instead as something women need to do out of economic necessity.

the largest dairy supplier in the country—and the third biggest seed-producing cooperative, which primarily produces sesame and peanut seed.³²⁶

Today, likely thanks to many years of food security-focused programming by INGOs and the GoN, many women cultivate "market gardens," small plots typically near the household that they use to feed their family or generate household income. One stakeholder noted that this is a significant change: in the past, there were few women cultivating market gardens as they were either an unknown concept or less culturally acceptable, especially in northern Niger. Now, women may even be perceived as better at growing vegetables because of the time and care required.³²⁷ Tomatoes, onions, potatoes, corn, peas, green beans, peppers, cabbage, parsley, celery, lettuce, okra, and moringa are commonly grown by women, although men also grow moringa, cowpea, onions and potatoes, especially in larger-scale production areas such as Birni-N'Konni.

Compared to seasonally-grown crops, livestock products offer a steadier stream of income throughout the year and thus improved food security. Women and men are both involved in livestock production, with 37 percent of female heads of households and 51 percent of male heads of household reporting raising some livestock. Generally, men are involved in raising large livestock (cows, camels, horses, and donkeys), while women raise poultry and small ruminants (sheep and goats). One stakeholder in Zinder noted that "It's rare to find a woman who doesn't raise small ruminants"; he claimed that women are better suited for this activity than growing crops because less physical labor is required. However, especially in minority Fulani communities, women also manage cattle, including fattening activities and processing milk and butter, and on average these women tend more cattle than men: 51.2 versus 32.31 Men, both young and old, are responsible for taking livestock to pasture. While women might raise small ruminants and manage cattle, they are not the primary decision-makers around the purchase or sale of these animals. Gender-specific roles are also found within the (inherited and typically disparaged) butcher caste, who work in livestock processing.

As conflict and migration adjust the traditional social patterns, more women are engaging in agricultural practices that are traditionally the domain of men, and specifically in the cultivation of staple crops. When male economic migrants are not able to send back enough money

to support their families, women may be forced to step in and cultivate land that would have traditionally been cultivated by men, and to grow crops that are typically not acceptable for women to grow (millet and sorghum, in particular).³³⁴ This is becoming increasingly common in regions such as Dosso, where stakeholders note that when one travels to the fields, there are few men present. However, these shifting gender roles in agriculture do not necessarily indicate a positive impact on women's rights, decision-making power, or control over assets.³³⁵ One stakeholder noted, "The man migrates and the woman has to take care of the whole family. I find it very unjust that the women do all of this work and yet the woman has no rights in the village. Women have an invisible community – they build up their assets, and yet the man has the right to manage it."³³⁶

Other stakeholders noted that conflict has also changed women's role in agriculture, especially in Diffa, where they have been forced to become more autonomous, given conflict-related market failures and men's participation in the conflict. More research is required to accurately assess the impact of conflict on women's role in staple crop production in both Diffa and Tillabéri.

Finally, widowed women are also active in the production of staple crops. One stakeholder in Tillabéri noted that in the past, women never would have participated in rice production. However, a government irrigation project targeting heads of household includes some women, though very few (100 out of 1200). These women are almost always older, as "society would look down on a young woman working in a rice field." This stakeholder noted that these female heads of household face significant barriers in agricultural production, as compared to men: their domestic responsibilities do not allow enough time to dedicate to their fields; certain cultivation tasks are very labor intensive (noting that men also need to occasionally hire outside labor); and women do not have access to animal traction or transportation for their harvest. This is confirmed by a World Bank study, which notes that there are four main drivers of women's lower levels of productivity in Niger: lower levels of fertilizer use, lack of access to and ability to manage farm labor, lack of land ownership, and childcare responsibilities. Therefore, despite women's increasing participation in staple crop cultivation under certain conditions, their productivity suffers, and they often must spend additional money to obtain the help they need.

Key USAID partners, as well as select GoN officials working in agriculture, recognize the limitations of a male-dominated agricultural extension service. Although some projects are working with women extension agents, some interviewees believed that women are less suited to be extension agents because the work often requires riding motorcycles—and, in any case, agriculture is regarded as a "man's domain."³⁴⁰ A 2012 analysis of the Ministries of Agriculture and Livestock extension personnel in the eight regions of Niger showed a workforce of 622 people, including 78 women (12.5 percent).³⁴¹ Extension work involves functions that are not considered appropriate for women: traveling to distant villages, working out of doors, engaging with strangers and male colleagues, and typically using a motorbike to reach different farmers.³⁴² These job requirements may limit the number of women who seek out and are "allowed" by their husbands to do this work.³⁴³ No information could be collected on the demographics of existing female extension agents, but this would be helpful to understand profiles of women who may be more likely to engage in the role.

The Ministries of Agriculture and Livestock are training more women to be agricultural assistants or auxiliaries—key resource personnel within remote villages who can provide support to the community on topics such as animal health, especially when formal extension agents are unable to regularly access these villages.³⁴⁴ Female auxiliaries are important for being able to reach female farmers who may be less comfortable or not "allowed" to receive training from men.³⁴⁵ A GoN Ministry of Livestock

representative explained, "We have a large number of female auxiliaries, especially for poultry, because women have more opportunities than men to enter households. Men might deny a male auxiliary's access to his home [because he does not want a strange man to be in contact with his wife and daughters]. But a woman, she has the possibility of going into a house to see women and advise them. When we don't hire women auxiliaries and only have men, we are limited."³⁴⁶

Women in agriculture face significant barriers affecting productivity, post-harvest processing, and commercialization. Multiple people cited a lack of access to finance, inputs, and machinery (including replacement parts) as the most significant barriers along agricultural VCs that affect both men and women.³⁴⁷ Women's output is limited by lack of access to labor-saving technologies, such as machines to extract oil, as well as lack of a covered and well-ventilated place to process products. Women also noted that certain primary agricultural products are prone to price fluctuation, making it difficult to stabilize incomes and processing activities.³⁴⁸ One driver of price fluctuation is a lack of adequate post-harvest storage. Women also lack access to information and formal training, with many noting that they learned their skills from older family members, not from agriculture extension workers or project staff.³⁴⁹ A lack of transportation options and markets is also a constraint. Finally, female farmers are also predominantly affected by the increasing population and climate-change pressure on natural resources, including water and arable land.³⁵⁰

This review found differing accounts of the role of youth in agriculture and the barriers they face. Most stakeholders agreed that young men are frustrated that they have to wait for their parents or grandparents to stop working the land, or pass away, before they can take over an activity—and that there is not enough land, given the prevalence of polygamy and high number of children per woman. However, another stakeholder said, "Young people do not yet have this love of the land like we did when we were children," and accordingly, village leaders and agricultural cooperatives are trying to encourage youth (young men) to learn farming and form farming groups.

Although women are reportedly inheriting land more often, they are pressured to cede the land to their family. Stakeholders from Maradi, Zinder, Dosso, and Tahoua noted that women are increasingly able to inherit land, due to communities more frequently and systematically applying Islamic law. Although the national Rural Code also allows women to inherit land, stakeholders only mentioned the application of Islamic law (where a woman receives half as much land as her brothers) and customary law (where a woman typically receives nothing). Despite women's formal or Islamic legal inheritance rights, it is common for a woman's brothers to take her land inheritance for themselves in order to keep the land within the family.³⁵² Land is an important ancestral legacy, and if it is inherited by a woman, it leaves the family when the woman marries and joins a new family, especially as customary law may deem the woman's land the property of her husband. A female stakeholder in Maradi noted that the only way a woman can fight the seizure of inherited land by male family members is to present her case to the traditional chief.³⁵³ However, women inheriting and keeping their land is not unheard of: one female member of an agricultural cooperative in Maradi said that she was able to inherit a piece of land when her father died, and again when her husband died.³⁵⁴

Although most women do not own land, they have the responsibility of using and managing their husband's land if he migrates for work.³⁵⁵ Because the woman's name is not on the land title, she is not allowed to sell this land or use it as collateral for a loan. Another challenge is that some maternal grandchildren of landholding patriarchs protest that they do not inherit ancestral land because their mother is excluded from inheritance.³⁵⁶ Multiple stakeholders noted the underlying challenge posed by

the high population growth rate: both women and men are inheriting less land, because there are so many children among whom land must be divided.

Thus, access to land is one of the highest barriers to agricultural production for Nigerien women. Because women rarely own land, those wishing to engage in cultivation must "borrow" or rent some. 357 Formally renting land requires multiple administrative steps, including approval from the traditional village leader, the community land management committee, and the commissary—and there is not always land available near the woman's household. Informally borrowing land seems to be a common practice, usually in an informal rental agreement that would not hold up in a court of law, possibly granted by an "owner" who has no official land title—and it is also widely used by landless men. 358 One stakeholder noted that women borrow land less often than men: they fear that the landowner will change his mind, reseizing the land from the woman once she has cleared and prepared it for planting; and they know that male landowners might look down on or gossip about her. 359 This land "borrowing" often creates problems for producers when the landowner dies and the landowner's heirs come to claim their inheritance. There is also a risk that rented land does not qualify for official transhumance (livestock movement) restrictions, creating the possibility for conflict between farmers and herders.

While women are quite active in culturally acceptable SLGs, which are based on the traditional West African tontine and frequently used in USAID IP activities, fewer women participate in agricultural cooperatives. SLGs have been used by NGOs in Niger as a popular and effective method to increase women's financial inclusion, many with USAID support. They also serve (as explained under DO I) as an opportunity for collective action and women's leadership. SLGs often have the best result when combined with technical training, such as training on agricultural production or post-harvest processing. When women participate in an SLG that promotes the application of loans to agricultural activities, coupled with training in agricultural productivity methods, they are more likely to invest their small loans in IGAs. ³⁶⁰

However, while women are active in SLGs, fewer participate in agricultural cooperatives, groups, unions, or federations. Studies from other countries show that women's empowerment is improved by both men and women joining a farmers' group, although the effect is larger if the woman joins. A study in Kenya found that women experience greater impacts from joining a "bargaining" group (to collectively market their products) than a processing group; the degree of empowerment depends on the groups' functional characteristics.³⁶¹

Despite the potential for these benefits, few Nigerien women participate in farmers' groups—and those who do are typically older or widowed. For example, in Zinder, CRS reported that only 4.6 percent of female respondents were a part of a farmers' group, and generally not in leadership positions. Women are more likely to join all-women cooperatives, while men usually form the majority, and the leadership, in mixed-gender cooperatives. One male stakeholder in Tillabéri shared that, after women expressed frustration at their lack of representation in a mixed-gender rice cooperative, the cooperative created a women-only group in rice processing and gave them a mill as well as a rotating fund to purchase rice.

Some women-led cooperatives have established a positive reputation, even if they are not always as professionalized as men-led cooperatives. One female leader of a large seed cooperative prefers to source her seed from women's cooperatives because, although women's cooperatives may have less literacy skills, business training, and financing, they are more likely to follow agreement terms and

provide timely reimbursement of inputs that were loaned to them. Multiple stakeholders, across sectors, noted that Nigerien women "ne trichent pas," which is translated to "do not cheat"; women are known for their honesty, attention to detail, and work ethic.

Women's limited basic business skills, illiteracy, unpaid work burden, and lack of mobility and self-confidence in the public domain are major factors that negatively impact women's employability and ability to formalize a business. More recent reliable employment data is lacking, but in 2012, 57.3 percent of the working-age population in Niger was employed (80.1 percent of men, 36 percent of women). There are significant regional differences, with 55.2 percent of women employed in Maradi, 47.9 percent in Dosso and 39.6 percent in Diffa. Tahoua, Tillabéri, Zinder and Niamey have the lowest female employment rates, at 23.9 percent, 29.6 percent, 33.2 percent, and 22 percent, respectively.³⁶⁴ However, other GoN sources estimate high levels of women's participation in informal enterprises in urban areas, so women's employment rate in Niamey is likely higher than 22 percent. For example, the Ministry of Finance (MoF) estimates that 49 percent of women in urban areas work in commercial enterprises compared to 45 percent of men, but this rate is high compared to other data and should be verified.³⁶⁵

When women are employed, it is typically informally and within micro, small, and medium enterprises (MSMEs), often within the agriculture sector. Women in MSMEs primarily sell agricultural products, small livestock, animal products such as milk or eggs (especially in Fulani communities), non-food items that they buy and resell, and artisanal handicrafts. Ninety-seven percent of employed women participate in the informal economy, 2.2 percent are employed in the public sector, and a slim 0.8 percent work in the private sector (i.e., for a registered business with a tax number). Overall, stakeholders confirmed that women are under-represented within formal private sector businesses, including within large enterprises. One labor inspector noted, "Women's representation at the company level is not quite what we want, that is to say, not quite the level that international organizations want."

Barriers to women's employment that were cited by multiple stakeholders include: lower levels of education and literacy than men; heavy domestic responsibilities, amounting to 14-18 hours each day in rural areas; cultural expectations that limit their mobility and ability to work (especially if a woman is married and her husband has not migrated); and discrimination from family, financial institutions, or public institutions when seeking to launch a business.

Finally, as women and girls are cloistered from an early age and systematically taught that they are inferior to men, they may lack the self-confidence to launch an IGA. These limitations vary—by age (older and widowed women typically have more freedoms), by ethnic group (Fulani and Tuareg women are freer to engage in activities outside the home and speak out), and by region (urban women are more likely to participate in the labor market than rural women).³⁶⁸

For communities that practice wife seclusion, employment outside the home is shunned; however, mothers may utilize other family members to buy and sell goods. Widowed and divorced women have less access to productive resources (land, credit, etc.) and thus face particular constraints when seeking to expand their IGAs in the private sector, despite having greater responsibility to provide for themselves and their families.³⁶⁹

Some women start an IGA out of the need to support their family, especially if they are divorced, widowed, or deserted (when their husband migrated). Once a woman launches such an activity, especially if it requires leaving the house unaccompanied, she may experience discrimination from her

neighbors. For example, one illiterate female SME owner who aggregates and sells moringa in Niamey set up a network of rural moringa suppliers and urban market buyers, defying the obstacles. This stakeholder noted that she had to find an IGA once her husband died, and she has now become successful enough to support a "vingtaine" (about 20) children.³⁷⁰ Nevertheless, this woman desires to find an IGA that would allow her to work from home, because her female and male neighbors gossip that she must be a former prostitute—a stereotype often applied to single women active in the market.

This example demonstrates the importance of developing GTAs that target not just women directly, but their household and community as well. One review of rigorous evaluations of interventions that seek to empower women economically included data from Niger. It found that family and social pressures—such as how socially acceptable it is for a woman to earn and control her own money—affect the success of interventions aimed at boosting women's productivity and earnings.³⁷¹ One study within this review found that the negative impacts of social constraints can be countered by providing capital transfers through secure mobile phone programs,³⁷² or by providing secure savings accounts that give women more privacy and discretion in using the funds.³⁷³ However, as noted above, it is crucial to work directly with husbands of married women engaged in IGAs, to ensure that the wives will be allowed to keep these assets and that the intervention does not increase the risk of IPV.

Finally, regarding women's ability to formalize a business, stakeholders noted that despite the GoN's successful efforts to reduce the time and steps required, women-led MSMEs typically remain informal.³⁷⁴ This is due to several factors. First, a lack of literacy and training means that women struggle to fill out the paperwork necessary to formalize. Second, many women face limited mobility, and in many villages there is no government office to register a business. Finally, there is a widespread perception, among both men and women, that remaining an informal business is more advantageous than formalization to avoid the taxes applied to formal businesses. However, informal MSMEs cannot formally access credit or benefit from certain development programs, and they may lack credibility as they grow.

There is a gender gap in earnings between men and women, but when women participate in traditionally male-dominated sectors, this earnings gap decreases. Gender inequalities also cause women to produce less (and therefore earn less) than men, and there are significant gender gaps in monthly profits across the private sector. Even accounting for regional differences, owner characteristics, and enterprise inputs, monthly profits of female-owned enterprises are still 55 percent lower than male-owned enterprises in Niger.³⁷⁵ Key drivers of these profit gender gaps come from the informal nature of their businesses, as men are 10 times more likely to have a formal business.³⁷⁶ Women also have lower returns on electricity than men: when a woman has access to electricity, it does not cause as significant of an increase in her profits. Finally, the larger the woman's household, the lower her profits—likely because her work time must be dedicated to childcare.³⁷⁷

Gender gaps in earnings are smaller for women who participate in traditionally male-dominated sectors such as crop and animal production, hunting (and related service activities), wholesale and retail trade, motor vehicle and motorcycle repair, and transportation and storage.³⁷⁸ One stakeholder noted that urban women are becoming more involved in male-dominated sectors, and she encouraged more women in rural areas to build skills in areas that are not considered women's work for which there are not enough skilled technicians, such as auto mechanics, electricians, cell phone repair, and solar panel repair.³⁷⁹

Despite legal provisions against gender discrimination and sexual harassment in the workforce, private sector companies and CSOs of all sizes rarely have human resource policies in place to support non-discrimination and employee protections. Stakeholders reported discriminatory hiring and firing practices, lack of transparency, underreporting of sexual harassment and sexual exploitation and abuse (SEA), and underrepresentation of marginalized groups within employment.³⁸⁰ Gender discrimination in employment is prohibited under the Labor Code; nevertheless, there are discriminatory prohibitions in the Code against women taking on work that "exceeds their strength or damages their moral character"—although these criteria are not clearly defined.³⁸¹ Additionally, Niger's Civil Code provides that married women cannot pursue employment without their husbands' permission.³⁸² Regional labor inspectors noted that, for the most part, employers and employees are not familiar with the Labor Code, and employees usually work without formal contracts.

Interviewees from both the public and private sectors noted that nepotistic and discriminatory hiring processes are common. Both formal and informal businesses are less likely to hire women, as women are perceived to ask for more time off and special exceptions. A labor inspector shared that some companies discriminate against hiring women because of a concern that they will become pregnant.³⁸³ Female employees are entitled to 14 weeks of paid maternity leave (of which six are compulsory), paid equally by the employer and social security; male employees are entitled to only one day of paternity leave.³⁸⁴ Hiring women is seen as potentially disruptive to work as well as costly, if maternity leave is required, although it is unclear to what extent businesses respect these requirements—and unlikely, if they are not formal and in urban areas.³⁸⁵ Furthermore, there is an understanding that a woman's husband might not allow her to work and that she might quit after becoming married.³⁸⁶

Protections against sexual harassment are included in Niger's Penal Code and Labor Code, but these are not applied in most businesses, whether formal or informal, large or small. Under the Penal Code, sexual harassment is punishable by imprisonment of 3–6 months and a fine of CFA 10,000–100,000 (approximately 17–170 USD), or, if the violator is in a position of authority, imprisonment of three months to one year and a fine of CFA 20,000–200,000 (approximately 34–340 USD). ³⁸⁷ The Labor Code also includes a definition of sexual harassment that covers sexual harassment in the workplace. ³⁸⁸ Stakeholders described that internal policies against sexual harassment, although promoted by donors as an important step to professionalize a business, are not a priority of either owners or staff because of the normalization of sexual harassment. ³⁸⁹ Sexual harassment, although reportedly widespread, is rarely documented or reported and often not prosecuted. ³⁹⁰ SOS Femmes et Enfants Victimes de Violences Familiales, a local NGO, estimates that eight of 10 young female workers in small shops face sexual harassment, but only two in 10 report it. ³⁹¹ Women in poverty are especially vulnerable to harassment in the workplace because they cannot afford to lose their job as a result of reporting. ³⁹²

Systems for reporting and responding to cases are similarly lacking for other forms of GBV in the workplace. It was not clear to stakeholders what types of GBV cases are under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Labor and what types must be handled by the police, and what are the employer's responsibilities.³⁹³ Employers lacked knowledge of strategies to prevent and respond to GBV; several mentioned their prevention strategy is to keep men and women workers separate from one another.³⁹⁴

Some places of work lack any infrastructure to support an inclusive workforce. For example, some workplaces do not have separate toilets for men and women, and wheelchair accessibility is rare.³⁹⁵ A

few stakeholders noted that they have heard of businesses offering daycare and lactation rooms, suggesting that some businesses are trying to provide accommodations to support working mothers.³⁹⁶

Labor inspectors noted that employees are generally unaware of their rights or that they can lodge a formal complaint with labor inspectors.³⁹⁷ Many businesses have no formal complaint mechanisms in place; employers interviewed recounted receiving informal complaints in a haphazard way, mostly related to annual leave or personal conflicts within the workplace. If a formal complaint is documented and filed with the Ministry of Labor, however, it may be elevated to a formal tribunal.³⁹⁸

Business owners' responses showed that adding gender and social inclusion-sensitive policies, practices, and infrastructure was perceived as uninteresting ("We didn't create a business to achieve gender equality"), or out of reach ("We are not yet at this stage"), or too costly ("Most businesses don't want to pay to improve their employees' working conditions"). 399 Certain owners and labor inspectors emphasized that this is clearly a priority for international organizations and INGOs, and that perhaps in the future Nigerien businesses could seek to intentionally hire more women. Others believe that they already have completely equitable human resource practices.

5.3 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2 RECOMMENDATIONS

- For USAID: Commission context-specific, gender-responsive VC analyses to better understand women's and men's roles across agricultural VCs. Identify key barriers to women's participation in specific VCs (such as time constraints, challenges in commanding on-farm labor, lack of finance, and limited access to inputs and transportation), as well as opportunities to increase women's visibility and economic gains. These analyses should:
 - Identify women's unique constraints in production, processing, and commercialization in VCs with high levels of female participation.
 - Identify specific strategies to address key barriers to women's engagement in traditionally male-dominated VCs (such as staple crops), and promote women's visibility and participation in these VCs in a context-appropriate manner. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID and IPs: Programs working with women in agricultural processing activities should obtain buy-in of their husbands and of community influencers, in order to avoid creating household conflict. Possible approaches at the community level include Community Conversations or Dimitra Clubs, which promote reflection and participatory action addressing harmful power dynamics that hinder women's access to and control over critical resources for nutrition and food security. Household-focused approaches, such as Farming as a Family Business or Individual Household Mentoring, promote collaborative management of household income and harvest. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID and IPs: Pilot context-appropriate approaches to recruit and train more female extension
 agents. Improve access to knowledge for rural men and women by piloting or up-scaling approaches
 such as lead farming couples (husband and wife), who are trained by agricultural extension agents to
 provide technical support to their community. Seek to better understand the agricultural
 information needs and constraints among nomadic groups and develop a program to provide
 tailored extension services.
- For USAID: Work with the Ministries of Agriculture and Livestock to develop a long-term recruitment strategy to hire more female agriculture extension agents, including by removing

- unnecessarily prohibitive criteria (e.g., ability to ride a motorcycle) that can be addressed through on-the-job training.
- For USAID: Identify and pilot best practices for increasing women's land tenure, such as: providing incentives for joint land titling, which creates a stepping stone to female ownership of household assets; community land demarcation, with collective titling for women's agricultural cooperatives; and creating gender quotas for women's participation in land management committees. To develop a context-appropriate approach, conduct in-depth consultations with women (including CSOs, cooperatives, and networks) and seek support from traditional leaders as well as the formal justice sector. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID IPs: Build the capacity of rural women's associations, cooperatives, and producer
 organizations. Facilitate networks and mentorship relationships among women's cooperatives with
 varying levels of capacity, connecting smaller groups to larger groups to improve market linkages.
 Consider providing small grants and functional literacy and business training to individuals and
 groups to upscale their businesses.
- For USAID IPs: SLGs can also provide an excellent platform through which IPs and CSOs may provide training on other relevant topics, such as agricultural techniques, literacy, or basic business skills. These groups may also serve as an opportunity to address issues such as gender barriers to agricultural productivity, women's control over income, and preventing GBV. Studies have shown that integrating additional technical training in SLGs can result in a variety of positive impacts. For example, CRS' Saving and Internal Lending Communities (SILC) disseminate the SILC+GTA curricula (created in partnership with Promundo and WorldFish) to address harmful gender norms through the SLG.
- For USAID, IPs, and CSOs: Advocate to amend the Labor Code to require the human resource policies of all formalized businesses to include specific provisions such as minimum requirements for paid parental leave, clear salary scales, affirmative action plans, and sexual harassment policies.
- For USAID and IPs: Provide technical support to GoN entities working with and regulating the private sector (such as the Ministry of Employment, Labor, and Social Security) relating to strategies to inspect and promote non-discrimination in the workplace and to effectively apply Labor Code rights. Work with these entities to increase the knowledge and understanding of staff at both central and decentralized levels on the relevance and benefits of labor policies to support non-discrimination and gender equality. (PRIORITY)
- For USAID IPs: Projects that engage directly with the private sector should consider promoting private sector company adherence to the Women's Empowerment Principles (WEPs), a set of UNdeveloped principles offering guidance to businesses on how to promote gender equality and women's empowerment in the workplace, marketplace, and community.
- For USAID and IPs: Prioritize engagement with women-led and person-with-disability-led businesses. Through this engagement, identify barriers to growth for these businesses, develop context-appropriate approaches to overcome these barriers (such as providing improved access to information and functional literacy, numeracy, and business skills training), facilitate business formalization, and support recruitment strategies targeting other members of marginalized groups.
- For USAID IPs: Consider supporting a network of women-owned MSMEs, by sector, to share progress towards formalization and other lessons learned in regard to navigating GoN systems.

6. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3: PERFORMANCE AND RESPONSIVENESS OF GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS IMPROVED

6.1 ABOUT DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3

DO 3 seeks to bolster government systems to deliver key services while advancing improved oversight and anti-corruption measures. As the objective aims to improve the delivery of services such as education, health, and justice, analysis under this DO focuses on cross-cutting methods for improving the GoN's ability to develop and implement targeted strategies to meet the needs of women, young men and women, and marginalized groups. Lines of inquiry for primary data collection focused on the responsiveness of government institutions to the needs of marginalized groups. This section focuses on Niger's national gender machinery (NGM), advocacy platforms for CSO engagement, the role of women in politics, and services for preventing and responding to GBV.

6.2 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3 GENDER ANALYSIS FINDINGS

The GoN national gender machinery (NGM) comprises some of the most underfunded governmental institutions—in particular, the MPFPE and ONPG—and these institutions are rarely engaged with development partners in other sectors, especially sectors related to economic development. Three public entities have a mandate to promote and coordinate gender equality and inclusion within the GoN: the MPFPE, the ONPG, and the National Human Rights Commission (CNDH). (See Text Box 5 for a summary of each institution.) There is also the Niger Parliamentarians' Network on Gender Issues/Le Réseau des Parliamentarism Nigériens sur les Questions du Genre (RPNQG), which supports advocacy for an enabling environment for gender promotion; however, this network is not institutionalized, nor does it function as a Parliamentary committee. The analysis below focuses on MPFPE and ONPG, as there is limited information available on CNDH.

Text Box 5. National Gender Machinery Institutions in Niger

Ministry for the Promotion of Women and Child Protection (MPFPE): Established in 1998, it is charged with addressing gender equality, developing the National Gender Policy, and overseeing its implementation.

National Observatory for the Promotion of Gender (ONPG): Established in 2015 and organized under the Prime Minister's Office in 2017, it is charged with monitoring gender equity. To ensure the accountability of state institutions vis-a-vis gender equality commitments, it monitors and evaluates the implementation of public policies and encourages institutions to report on gender statistics and to make decisions based on the data.

National Human Rights Commission (CNDH): Established in 2008 as an independent administrative authority designed to ensure the effectiveness and promotion of fundamental rights and freedoms, it has staff (or focal points) working in each region.

For more than two decades, the MPFPE has served as the body responsible for coordinating activities on gender equality and social protection in Niger, especially in relation to child protection. The MPFPE is specifically charged with supporting the implementation of the PNG and offers decentralized services to coordinate, monitor, and evaluate activities at the regional and commune levels. ⁴⁰¹ However, the general capacity of MPFPE officials varies significantly across decentralized levels and regions, with differing levels of expertise regarding gender equity and inclusion. ⁴⁰² Another major problem is the inadequate financing of MPFPE activities nationwide, and the ministry's low capacity for resource mobilization. ⁴⁰³ The MPFPE

receives financial support primarily from European donors and the UN system, with limited budget allocations from the central government.⁴⁰⁴ This underscores the finding that gender equity is more an international priority than an issue championed by the GoN.

The majority of USAID IPs do not have a formal partnership with the MPFPE at the national level, and only a few are working with the regional directorates of the MPFPE.⁴⁰⁵ This may in part reflect the fact that USAID programs frequently prioritize working through sectoral ministries, including for questions on gender and inclusion. However, as discussed below, sectoral ministries are not adequately integrating gender into their programs, policies, or budgets, nor are they actively soliciting support for gender integration from the MPFPE.

A significant shortcoming of the institutional framework for gender equality and social inclusion in Niger lies in the vague definitions of the MPFPE's responsibilities and power vis-à-vis other institutions. This contributes to the piecemeal promotion of gender in sectoral policies, programming, and budgeting. The PNG first defined the framework for gender equality interventions in 2008 and was later revised in 2017; its national ratification was an essential step in making gender equality initiatives a permanent fixture within the GoN.⁴⁰⁶ A number of CSO members and GoN officials reported that the PNG is currently being "updated," but there is little additional information available on this.407 A lack of political will across GoN institutions has been a barrier to effective implementation of the PNG since its inception.⁴⁰⁸ In fact, a majority of sectoral ministries cannot articulate the priorities of their sectoral work vis-à-vis gender equality, with some noted exceptions in the health and education sectors. Instead, when asked specific gender-related questions, GoN representatives frequently recommend talking to the MPFPE, rather than taking ownership for addressing gender-barriers relevant to their sector. 409 To address this lack of integration across sectors, the MPFPE has spearheaded efforts to nominate Gender Focal Points (GFP) within each GoN sectoral ministry. The GFPs are supposed to manage genre cellule/gender units within each ministry. 410 However, the PNG does not adequately describe the mandate of gender units or their interface with the MPFPE, nor does it specify the requirements for these structures at the decentralized level—which have mostly not been operational, as discussed below.

The MPFPE also has no real authority over the gender mainstreaming efforts of the sectoral ministries and their GFPs or gender units, and there is no mechanism to systematically hold sectoral ministries accountable for their commitments to gender equity.⁴¹¹ The ministry's work is also frequently viewed as irrelevant to certain sectors. For example, one sectoral GoN official said, "We do not collaborate with the MPFPE. They are a separate service, and we are a separate service, too."⁴¹² There is currently no broad consultative framework with technical and financial partners and CSOs that would promote such coordination and provide support for MPFPE capacity building and staffing.⁴¹³

Another weakness is the MPFPE's lack of a specific mandate to address issues of social inclusion. Though there is supposedly a committee on social protection under the MPFPE, 414 the actual responsibilities related to social inclusion have very recently shifted to the Ministry of Public Health, Population, and Social Affairs/Ministre de la Santé Publique, de la Population, et des Affaires Sociales (MSPPAS). 415 This change seems to have created some tension between the two ministries, which impedes effective ministerial collaboration on issues related to inclusion. 416 Furthermore, social inclusion issues have not yet been integrated within any other sectoral ministries. One Ministry of Agriculture representative noted that social inclusion is a new topic that they do not know how to address. Similar attitudes are found within

local government structures: someone working in a mayor's office responded, "What can we do for [persons with disabilities]? It is the responsibility of NGOs to work with them."⁴¹⁷

Though GFPs and cellules genre/gender units exist in certain ministries, GFPs do not fully understand their responsibilities, nor do they have adequate training, resources, or support to create and manage gender units. The MPFPE views the creation and support of gender units as a key priority. Reportedly established by Ministerial Order, the MPFPE has GFPs who are supposed to create gender units within sectoral ministries, under the MPFPE's supervisory authority. GFPs are responsible for providing technical advice on gender mainstreaming in sectoral development policies and programs. In addition to the sectoral ministries, there should be GFPs across a number of key institutions, including the Office of the Presidency, the Prime Minister's Office, and the ombudsperson. In practice, however, GFPs are not functional in a majority of key GoN institutions. As one sectoral GoN stakeholder reported, Have heard that there is supposedly a GFP for the Ministry of Gender, but there is none here. This indicates a level of confusion existing among GoN officials regarding the existence and role of GFPs. Representatives of other Ministries, however, indicated a high-functioning GFP system. One stakeholder working with the Ministry of Livestock said, "Our Ministry itself has given us a lot of training on gender issues. Personally, I attended at least three to four trainings that were conducted on this. We even have pilot gender units who have been trained in gender issues."

Additionally, where GFPs do exist, they are too junior to have influence over decision-making in the highly hierarchical ministries. A24 Relatedly, women officials working in sectoral ministries are typically named as the "de-facto" GFP only because of their gender. A25 One GoN stakeholder stated, "No man is implicated when we talk about gender. It is the woman who is supposed to be the representative. That is why all ministries send women to be focal points." As women often hold junior positions in GoN institutions, this perpetuates the low respect afforded to GFPs. Additionally, GFP job descriptions are not formalized; in other words, GFPs are primarily responsible for fulfilling their regular job description, and any GFP duties are additional, secondary work.

As noted, GFPs are supposed to create and manage *cellules genres*/gender units in each ministry (although it is unclear if this is only at national level or also applies at the decentralized level); these units are responsible for monitoring systematic gender mainstreaming in development policies, programs, and projects. ⁴²⁶ In most sectoral ministries, the gender units are either not operational or lack sustainable institutional anchoring, since they are not included in ministries' organizational or management charts. ⁴²⁷ The gender units also do lack financial resources as well as qualified human resources with technical expertise on gender equality, despite receiving training from the MPFPE; details on the type, length, and frequency of these trainings is not available. ⁴²⁸ Frequent turnover of trained staff contributes to the lack of qualified human resources. ⁴²⁹ Some GoN officials believe that this turnover is because trained GFPs are able to attract better paying jobs, in part due to the gender-related competencies they acquired. ⁴³⁰

Despite capacity-building efforts by a number of international and national NGOs, gender-responsive budgeting (GRB) is not institutionalized across GoN sectoral ministries, which perpetuates low levels of gender integration in sectoral programs. The MoF (national level) and the Ministry of Planning (MoP) (decentralized level) are responsible for ensuring that planning, programming, management, financing, and monitoring-evaluation mechanisms are gender-responsive.⁴³¹ However the MoF and MoP are not fulfilling this aspect of their mandates, despite numerous capacity-building efforts by multiple international organizations.⁴³² General low capacity for gender mainstreaming, as well as perceptions of gender as unimportant (or irrelevant in certain sectors), are

barriers to GRB in Niger. 433 Allocating a budget for programming that would integrate GBV prevention, for example, is viewed as uniquely the responsibility of the MPFPE, instead of something that would improve outcomes across all sectors. 434

There are very few permanent advocacy platforms for CSOs to engage with the GoN to ensure gender mainstreaming into policy, program, or budget decisions. Those that exist and are functional are frequently led (and financed) by international organizations. Though certain ministries report regularly coordinating and collaborating with local CSOs, this is not an institutionalized process, with the exception of parliamentary committees. Interviewees indicated that the GoN engages frequently with well-established women-led CSOs/networks, and only to a lesser extent with CSOs working specifically with socially marginalized groups, including nomadic groups.⁴³⁵

The ONPG's mandate is critical to hold sectoral ministries accountable in respecting quotas and integrating gender across their policies and programs; however, there is extremely low awareness of the ONPG across sectoral ministries at all levels. The ONPG is not yet a permanent institution but rather an initiative tied to the Prime Minister's office that has not been officially established under law by the National Assembly. The ONPG is charged with monitoring and evaluating gender-equality commitments across GoN institutions. With the support of UN Women, they also reportedly create tools to mainstream gender into sectoral policies and programs. The ONPG creates frequent reports that indicate which GoN institutions are complying with the quota law (see DO I). The ONPG also trains enumerators to collect the high-quality, unbiased data needed to create gender-related knowledge products. For example, the ONPG partnered with the MPFPE and UN Women (with EU funding) for the 2021 GBV study in Zinder, Maradi, Tillabéri, and Tahoua. 436

The ONPG has also had recent notable successes in ensuring minimum standards of gender integration in other institutions—for example, leading the National Independent Electoral Commission/Commission Électorale Nationale Indépendante (CENI) to develop newly sex-disaggregated reports showing women's participation in elections, both as candidates and as voters. ⁴³⁷ The ONPG also ensured greater attention to gender inequalities in the new national Economic Development Plan (Plan de Développement Économique et Social 2022–2026, PDES), an important and well-known document within the GoN. For example, during the PDES process the ONPG successfully lobbied for indicators to measure gender-related progress. ⁴³⁸ Although ONPG is committed to ensuring the integration of gender-specific indicators throughout sectoral ministry programs and policies, it does not currently have the authority, resources, or power to influence this level of change. The ONPG is also lobbying to integrate three national women's empowerment indicators into the national data collected by the National Institute of Statistics (Institut National de la Statistique, INS). The ONPG reports that they need more gender experts and lawyers on their team, but they cannot find qualified people because they do not have adequate financial resources to offer attractive salaries. ⁴³⁹ Instead, they rely heavily on interns and volunteers. ⁴⁴⁰

The availability and quality of data related to gender equality is generally poor in Niger, due to weak institutions, people's reticence to openly discuss issues related to gender, and the government's tendency to question any unfavorable data. Even where data are being disaggregated by sex, in-depth analysis of that data is not always undertaken. When data and its gender analyses are available, they are not systematically shared. A number of institutions are in charge of data collection and analysis in Niger. The National Institute of Statistics (INS) is the central body for the collection, processing, and dissemination of statistics at the national

level, including the production of gender-disaggregated statistical data and study reports. However, GoN stakeholders indicate that the INS does not regularly disaggregate its reports by sex, unless an international organization has sponsored the report and provided technical support in its finalization.⁴⁴¹ Disaggregation of GoN data by other social factors, including age and ethnicity, is very rare. The last published DHS survey is from 2012, as the survey administrator deemed the 2017 DHS unusable due to data quality issues.⁴⁴² Though other sectors have published reports on key sex-disaggregated indicators related to education and health, a number of crucial gaps in the data remain, particularly around IPV and domestic violence.

Another key barrier to collecting quality data is the general reticence to speak openly about issues related to GBV, CEFMU, and other harmful practices such as slavery, especially in remote parts of the country and among certain ethnicities. As one GoN stakeholder explained, "Niger is so big, it's very difficult to send people out to collect data. Certain [gender-related] questions can be shocking, so we have to be very sensitive. ... I don't want to create cultural shocks. People want to change, but it's about finding the right approach." GoN officials and USAID IPs confirm that reliable data on these sensitive subjects is difficult to obtain.

When data is available, it is unclear to what extent the GoN analyzes and systematically shares them to inform its own policy and public program design, or how it is shared with donors or IPs. 445 In fact, there is likely confusion over whose role it is to promote the use of appropriately disaggregated data for policy and programming. For example, although the ONPG produces reports on gender gaps in certain sectors, it might expect the MPFPE to promote those reports with relevant line ministries, or it might be the responsibility of sectoral ministries to promote their own gender-related research. Regardless, this type of institutional confusion frequently results in siloed approaches, with the sectoral ministries expecting the MPFPE to produce and promote gender-related reports across all sectors.

Although health centers and humanitarian partners attempt to collect GBV data, it is difficult to measure given the cultural context. Instances of GBV are dramatically underreported due to the social stigma attached to survivors of GBV, as well as high levels of societal tolerance for GBV in all its forms (as discussed above in cross-cutting findings). 446 Additionally, the available GBV data is typically bundled, without distinguishing among the many forms of GBV. More specific data is needed to understand the issues of IPV and domestic violence, which are hidden phenomena and likely severely underreported.

According to stakeholders, the GBV Sub-Cluster has established a GBV incidence data collection system (GBVIMS), but this is only functioning in two regions (Tillabéri and Diffa) where there are regional GBV working groups who collect and report this data.⁴⁴⁷ Stakeholders reported that these working groups are in fact more functional and active than the national Sub-Cluster. Aside from the GBVIMS, there is no national centralized system in place to gather and analyze data on incidents of GBV, and no harmonized case management system for GBV survivors.⁴⁴⁸ Lastly (as discussed in cross-cutting findings), survivors of GBV face tremendous barriers to reporting GBV and accessing GBV response services, hindering the ability of service providers to collect accurate data.

GBV response services vary widely among regions, with better services available in regions where more humanitarian response programs operate (such as Tillabéri and Diffa) including international organizations with strong GBV response expertise. Even those regions, however, lack holistic GBV services with cross-sectoral coordination, supportive

service providers respectful of confidentiality, and adequate psychosocial care. Data on the clinical management of GBV services is limited or missing altogether. There is little information regarding the availability of health center commodities, equipment, and supplies to respond effectively to GBV, and very little analysis of the availability and use of management tools such as registers, referral forms, and medico-legal forms. Numerous stakeholders indicated that conflict-affected regions, who have had more humanitarian assistance, have better GBV response services in place.⁴⁴⁹

Nationwide, only four centers for survivors of GBV reportedly provide the standard package of holistic and survivor-centered services. These centers are run by CSOs or international organizations (supported by the Spotlight Initiative) and are typically dependent on outside financial assistance to function. More information is needed on the standard of care of these centers and the level of GoN investment into the model. However, as a way of addressing the major financial barriers for individuals to receive adequate and holistic care, this model should be explored for potential scaling—with all essential services provided by trained professionals, in a "one-stop-shop" center. Other government-provided "free" survivor services are reportedly not actually free and are typically not found in rural areas. One stakeholder noted the high cost of transportation to areas with centers, as well as cases of victims being presented with expensive medical bills.⁴⁵⁰

Public providers, including those working in justice and health, are not adequately trained to keep information confidential or to remain neutral when encountering a case of GBV. As the 2021 Spotlight Initiative GBV report indicates, "several respondents have raised the issue of confidentiality, even in cases where the violence suffered is serious or [if shared, could] lead to stigmatization within the community." The lack of female care providers across GBV service sectors is another key issue, as women in this context are not comfortable discussing such personal issues with men. 452

Though it appears that some humanitarian actors have tried to establish regional GBV Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) and referral pathways, it is unclear to what extent these are institutionalized and applied systematically across regions.⁴⁵³

Women face numerous barriers as political candidates, including a lack of decisional power regarding electoral candidate lists (which are monopolized by the male-dominated political elite) and a lack of necessary campaign financing. Some elected women have even been removed from office by the nominating political party to be replaced by a man. Within Nigerien politics at all levels, the predominantly male and older elites have maintained their monopoly on power; the token inclusion of women, as opposed to their meaningful representation, is common. Older men usually control political parties and are responsible for controlling electoral lists, perpetuating the underrepresentation of women and youth.⁴⁵⁴ If women manage to be named on electoral lists, they are frequently viewed with suspicion and assumed to be puppets "dancing to the tunes of male leaders."455 In some cases, parties presented women on candidates' lists in positions where they were unlikely to be elected, demonstrating that they do not take the quota seriously.⁴⁵⁶ There are also instances of corruption, where women are required to pay to be listed as candidates—in contrast to their male counterparts, who instead receive campaign funds from political parties.⁴⁵⁷ Multiple informants related stories of women being elected and then rapidly replaced by men, or political parties refusing to include women on their list of candidates even when women were available and willing.⁴⁵⁸ Well established politicians often argue that young political leaders lack experience, contributing to their political marginalization. On the ground, however, youth (especially young men) frequently help with voter mobilization and the day-to-day running of political parties. 459

Some USAID-funded programs have successfully trained and supported female candidates to develop leadership skills that helped them be nominated and elected. However, once female candidates are nominated, they often face pushback from male colleagues, as well as sexist behavior and sexual harassment. More programs are needed to support women after they are elected. Female elected officials face discrimination across all levels of government. For example, one USAID IP noted that when a community elected a female mayor, she struggled to collaborate with the male-dominated city council, who did not demonstrate a level of respect commensurate with her position in government. This IP noted, "Women members of government don't face issues with the community, they face them with other elected officials." This can create issues for female elected officials, as bodies such as the city council can remove them through a vote of noconfidence. This stakeholder also cited instances of municipal-level female candidates being elected and then removed by their political party and replaced by a man. Houston and support the support of the support of

Women also face sexist behavior and sexual harassment at higher levels of government. A 2021 survey on sexism, harassment, and violence against women in parliaments in Africa (conducted by the Inter-Parliamentary Union (IPU) and African Parliamentary Union) found rampant abuse of women parliamentarians in Africa, including in Niger. Forty-five percent of the female parliamentary staff interviewed across Africa reported experiencing sexual harassment at work. The perpetrators were identified as male parliamentarians (53 percent of cases) and male colleagues or parliamentary staff (48 percent of cases). High Eighteen percent had received requests for sexual favors in exchange for a benefit, either from parliamentary colleagues (56 percent of cases) or from parliamentarians (44 percent of cases). Fifty-six percent were the target of sexist remarks made by male colleagues working in parliament.

The African survey found that incidents of harassment and violence are more prevalent among women parliamentarians living with disabilities, young women under 40 years of age, unmarried women, and women from minority groups. Women parliamentarians from the political opposition are even more vulnerable to all forms of violence, as ruling-party male parliamentarians are the primary perpetrators of all forms of violence affecting women parliamentarians, including sexual, physical, and economic violence.

Distilling data specific to Niger would be valuable for highlighting the salience of these findings and identifying context-specific recommendations. These efforts should be handled sensitively. Most often, women parliamentarians and parliamentary staff who have experienced violence do not talk about or report abuse for several key reasons: I) the institutional environment tolerates this type of behavior or deems it unimportant; 2) there are no parliamentary mechanisms for reporting harassment or abuse; 3) women are fearful of reprisals, including not being believed or being blamed for the harassment.⁴⁶⁵

6.3 DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3 RECOMMENDATIONS

For USAID: As the various institutions comprising the National Gender Machinery (NGM) in Niger
are frequently and inadvertently excluded from international donor programming, elevate their work
by establishing formal technical partnerships. In this way, USAID can use its influence and
recognition to help elevate the importance of gender mainstreaming across sectoral ministries.
USAID can also help the NGM advocate for the recognition of the ONPG by the National Assembly
to become a permanent institutional authority. (PRIORITY)

- For USAID: Work with international organizations to ensure that, during the development and validation of GoN sectoral policies, programs, and budgets, a minimum percentage of budgeted funding is allocated to addressing gender-specific barriers in that sector.
- For USAID and IPs: There is significant potential to support the integration of gender into
 decentralized development plans (plans de développement communal ou régional) and their budgets.
 The GoN is usually more available and willing to focus on cross-sectoral coordination at
 decentralized levels, offering unique opportunities for successful gender mainstreaming.
 (PRIORITY)
- For USAID: Partner with the NGM to support the MoF to develop budgeting directives to respond to government priorities regarding gender equality and women's needs. While adequate funding for public services remains a challenge in Niger, gender-responsive budgeting is a vehicle for ensuring that gender-oriented goals receive adequate consideration in competing for scarce funds and motivating better program design. In this process, the ONPG can support monitoring for adherence to directives.
- For USAID IPs: Support and scale up capacity-building for CSOs to conduct advocacy for GRB. CSOs
 will need training in GRB and how to effectively advocate for it across sectors. Consider supporting
 CSO-exchange platforms, where CSOs from other African countries with better institutionalized
 GRB practices can share best practices and lessons learned in relation to government advocacy.
- For All Stakeholders: Support the MPFPE to establish a standard job description and selection process for GFPs, including minimum qualifications, a minimum seniority level, and encouragement to consider qualified male candidates. Provide support to establish an in-depth permanent training program for GFPs across sectoral ministries, including monitoring and evaluating the program's effectiveness in improving GFP performance.
- For All Stakeholders: International organizations should integrate training for the GoN on inclusive management, maintenance, and reporting related to data and advocacy platforms (such as the Platform to End Child Marriage) to ensure ownership and long-term sustainability. This training might also include IT support and management.
- For USAID: Work with UN Women to revitalize a gender donor working group that can establish funding mechanisms that are accessible to a wide range of CSOs—not only the strongest or the largest. UN Women in Niger has a long-standing relationship with women-led CSOs and can serve as a priority technical partner for engaging with these groups.
- For USAID and IPs: Consider support for learning platforms and exchanges to allow CSO networks to engage groups representing marginalized women outside of Niamey or other urban areas, including nomadic and rural women, IDP women, and women with disabilities. These learning visits and exchanges can help strengthen CSO networks while highlighting key representational gaps.
- For USAID and GoN: As the results of the 2017 DHS were disputed due to poor data quality, prioritize funding for a new DHS, to include the <u>standard modules</u> on women's status, domestic violence, and female genital mutilation or cutting (FGM/C)—and provide for adequate training and preparation to ensure acceptable implementation. (PRIORITY)
- For All stakeholders: Support the MPFPE's and ONPG's advocacy efforts to integrate three national women's empowerment indicators into the national data collected by the National Institute of Statistics (INS).

- For USAID: Work with relevant GoN Institutions including the ONPG and with other international
 organizations to create research dissemination plans. USAID could provide technical support to the
 GoN to create a "gender data portal" to serve, at a minimum, as a repository for gender-specific
 data documents and analyses. For example, the Government of Rwanda has established a gender
 monitoring office which maintains online data portals for gender and which could be considered as a
 model to replicate.
- For USAID: Actively participate in and support the national Sub-Cluster on GBV to understand and advocate for initiatives to improve nationwide GBV data.
- For USAID: Design and fund a specific GBV-focused program that aligns with GoN strategies (including the National Action Plan to End Child Marriage and the National Strategy to Reduce GBV), focusing specifically on creating GBV "one-stop-shop" centers. (PRIORITY)
- For all Stakeholders: Support GBV-focused CSOs to establish a permanent and comprehensive
 "formal justice" legal aid program for GBV survivors, including three required elements: training for
 justice actors, including police, on neutrality and confidentiality; a permanent fund to cover women's
 associated fees (legal, transportation, lodging, health, etc.); and a widespread dissemination campaign
 including information on types of GBV as well as on how to confidentially seek formal justice,
 including for those who are illiterate.
- For USAID and USAID IPs: Work with all relevant GoN institutions (MPFPE, Ministry of Public Health and Social Affairs, Ministry of Justice, Ministry of Defense [National Gendarmerie], and Ministry of the Interior [National Police]) and with GBV-focused CSOs to define minimum standards of GBV response and to develop and apply harmonized SOPs (such as those developed by UN Women). Coordinate with organizations engaged in GBV programming, and specifically the Spotlight Initiative program, to avoid duplication and promote adherence to global best practices.
- For USAID IPs: Work directly with political parties to discuss the importance of including and supporting female candidates. Incorporate incentives to include women, and offer culturally appropriate explanations to demonstrate how female candidates can bolster a party's political power.
- For USAID and IPs: Support capacity-building interventions for women political leaders within established women's parliamentary caucuses; provide women leaders with skills and knowledge to be effective and successful. Seeing substantive representation by women leaders reinforces role-modeling and also meets voters' demands for performance accountability, which can increase public support for women's political leadership.
- For USAID IPs: Work with the Women's Parliamentary Network to propose an amendment to existing laws on GBV to criminalize violence against women in politics, or, alternatively, pass new standalone laws to prohibit and criminalize such acts. These provisions are needed to address the specificity of violence against women in politics—by providing adequate protection and support to them, creating the conditions for reporting such violence, and establishing a framework for holding perpetrators accountable.

ANNEX A: ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS

Tables AI-A3 present U.S. Government <u>standard foreign assistance (F) indicators</u> that USAID/Niger may consider for use in monitoring, evaluation, and learning, organized by Development Objective.

TABLE A1. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 1: KEY ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS BY KEY ISSUE

	~	ıccı	
K ⊨	т .	1//1	

ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS

Civil Society Strengthening

GNDR-4 Percentage of participants reporting increased agreement with the concept that males and females should have equal access to social, economic, and political resources and opportunities.

DR.4-1 Number of USG-supported activities designed to promote or strengthen the civic participation of women.

DR.4.2-2 Number of civil society organizations (CSOs) receiving USG assistance engaged in advocacy interventions, disaggregated by groups working on LGBQTI+ issues, women's rights, indigenous people's rights, disability rights, and religious freedom.

DR.6.1-1 Number of USG supported national human rights commissions and other independent state institutions charged by law with protecting and promoting human rights that actively pursued allegations of human rights abuses during the year.

DR.6.1-2 Number of human rights defenders trained and supported, disaggregated by sex, participants self-identifying as a member of the LGBTQI+ community, youth, persons with disabilities, ethnic minority, and religious minority.

DR.3.1-2 Number of groups trained in conflict mediation/resolution skills or consensus-building techniques with USG assistance, disaggregated by women's groups, groups working with LGBTQI+ issues, and indigenous groups.

Women, Peace, and Security

GNDR-9 Number of training and capacity-building activities conducted with USG assistance that are designed to promote the participation of women or the integration of gender perspectives in security sector institutions or activities.

GNDR-10 Number of local women participating in a substantive role or position in a peacebuilding process supported with USG assistance.

Natural Resource Management

EG.10.2-3 Number of people with improved economic benefits derived from sustainable natural resource management or biodiversity conservation as a result of USG assistance, disaggregated by sex and ethno-linguistic group.

EG.11-6 Number of people using climate information or implementing risk-reducing actions to improve resilience to climate change as supported by USG assistance, disaggregated by sex.

Custom Percentage of respondents who agree that women and men should have equal decision-making power related to management of water resources.

Custom Number of women representatives in citizen watch committees, water-user associations, community development committees, and land commissions.

TABLE A2. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 2: KEY ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS BY KEY ISSUE

KEY ISSUE	ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS
Agriculture	EG.3.2-2 Number of individuals in the agri-food system who have applied improvement management practices or technologies with USG assistance (disaggregated by sex, age, disability status, and ethnolinguistic group).
	EG.3.2-27 Value of annual sales of producers and firms receiving USG assistance [IM-level], disaggregated by sex of producers and firms.
	EG.3.2-27 Value of agriculture-related financing accessed as a result of USG assistance [IM-level], disaggregated by sex of persons accessing financing.
Employment and Self-	GNDR-2 Percentage of female participants in USG-assisted programs designed to increase access to productive economic resources (assets, credit, income, or employment).
Employment	YOUTH-3 Percentage of participants who are youth (15–29) participating in USG-assisted programs designed to increase access to productive economic resources [IM-level].
	EG.6-12 Percent of individuals with new employment following participation in USG-assisted workforce development programs, (disaggregated by sex, age, disability status, and ethno-linguistic group).
	EG.6-15 Percent of individuals with better employment following participation in USG-assisted workforce development programs, (disaggregated by sex, age, disability status, and ethno-linguistic group).
Small and Medium	EG.5-12 Number of small, and medium-sized enterprises supported by USG assistance, disaggregated by sex of enterprise owner.
Enterprise Support	EG.5-3 Number of microenterprises supported by USG assistance, disaggregated by sex of enterprise owner.
Access and	EG.4.2-7 Number of individuals participating in USG-assisted group-based savings, micro-finance, or lending programs [IM-level], disaggregated by sex.
Control over Assets	EG.10.4-7 Number of adults provided with legally recognized and documented tenure rights to land or marine areas, as a result of USG assistance, disaggregated by sex.
Education	ES.1-51 Number of learning environments supported by USG assistance that have improved safety, according to locally defined criteria.
	Custom Number of learning environments supported by USG assistance that have improved use of accommodations for students with learning differences, according to locally defined criteria, disaggregated by locale (urban/rural, and upland/lowland).

TABLE A3. DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVE 3: KEY ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS BY KEY ISSUE

KEY ISSUE	ILLUSTRATIVE INDICATORS
Gender- Mainstreaming in the Public Sector	GNDR-8 Number of persons trained with USG assistance to advance outcomes consistent with gender equality or female empowerment through their roles in public or private sector institutions or organizations.
the Public Sector	GNDR-4 , Custom Disaggregation . Percentage of government officials reporting increased agreement with the concept that males and females should have equal access to social, economic, and political resources and opportunities.
	Custom Number of gender focal points appointed with official job descriptions.
Political Processes	DR.3.3-2 Number of USG-assisted political parties implementing initiatives to increase the number of candidates and/or members who are women, youth and from marginalized groups
Trocesses	DR.3.1-3 Number of consensus building forums (multi-party, civil/security sector, and/or civil/political) held with USG Assistance.
	YOUTH-2 Number of laws, policies or procedures adopted and implemented with USG assistance designed to promote and improve youth participation at the regional, national or local level.
Legal Aid	DR.6.3-1 Number of individuals from low-income or marginalized communities who received legal aid or victim's assistance with USG support.
GBV	GNDR-6 Number of people reached by a USG-funded intervention providing GBV services (e.g., health, legal, psycho-social counseling, shelters, hotlines), disaggregated by sex.

ANNEX B: USAID/NIGER GENDER ANALYSIS SCOPE OF WORK

I. PURPOSE

The USAID 2021 Automated Directives System (ADS) 205.3.3 requires a gender analysis as part of the design of country strategies. The gender analysis must be completed prior to completing a revised CDCS so that its findings will appropriately inform strategic decisions about each DO and intermediate result. The analysis must provide country and sector-level quantitative and qualitative information on the key gender gaps in each of the domains described in section 205.3.2 at the country level and in specific sectors where Mission resources are likely to be concentrated. The mission in Niger has recently conducted a number of activity- and sector-specific gender assessments focused on providing additional context and moving into the CDCS process the mission is eager to further advance a social inclusion lens across the USAID portfolio.

Banyan Global will carry out an analysis under the Gender Integration Technical Assistance (GITA) II Task Order to analyze and identify opportunities around gender equality, youth and women's empowerment and social inclusion across the mission's proposed technical focal areas to inform its July 2022–July 2027 CDCS.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 GENDER EQUALITY/WOMEN'S EMPOWERMENT

President Bazoum of Niger recently opened the African Union Commission Special Summit on African Girls by emphasizing how important it was for Niger to host the event as Niger is one of the countries in the world where practices opposing the rights of girls are most prevalent. Women in Niger face many deeply ingrained gender norms and socio-cultural factors that make it difficult to adequately participate in the social and economic development of the country. According to a gender analysis conducted under the Resilience in the Sahel Enhanced (RISE I)I Activity, women in Niger are disproportionately affected by poverty and grossly excluded from opportunities to assume decision-making roles in society or participate in income-generating activities. Three out of four people in poverty in Niger are women. Women demonstrate higher rates of illiteracy and lower rates of education, comprising only I percent of students in higher education. While the laws and regulations in Niger recognize equal rights of access to services and resources, women and girls face complicated social, religious, customary, and institutional practices that compound barriers. Although national quotas are in place, women's political participation in Niger is limited. Women face barriers to participation due to gender stereotypes, misconceptions about their leadership skills and the lack of awareness among women about their right to participate. Child, early, and forced marriage (CEFM) and high levels of normalized GBV continue to be persistent issues for women, as further described below.

2.2 GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

GBV is normalized throughout many communities in Niger and takes on many forms, including physical, sexual, emotional, psychological, and economic abuse. In addition, GBV and sexual assault are documented tools of violent extremist (VE) groups. Forms of GBV prevalent in Niger include female genital mutilation/cutting, domestic violence, imposed polygamy, child, early and forced (CEFM)marriage, non- or unschooling of girls, etc. It is widely believed that men have the right to have sex with their spouse whenever they desire and that a man retains the right to beat his wife.

Women and girls in the Central Sahel face one of the highest rates of GBV in the world with women and girls largely survivors of such violence often accepting it as a normal way of life. Niger has outdated

statistics on GBV prevalence. Its most recent 2012 Demographic and Health Survey indicates that roughly 36 percent of women (and 25 percent of men) experienced some form of GBV in the last 12 months. The regions with the highest levels of GBV include Niger (45 percent), Maradi (36 percent). Tahoua (22 percent), and Tillabéri (28 percent). 466 Tillabéri also has the highest level of FGM/C at 13 percent (compared to a 2 percent national average). 467

In Niger, CEFM is widespread. The 2012 DHS indicates that 76 percent of girls are married before 18 and nearly one-quarter (24 percent are married before their 15th birthday). In Maradi, Zinder, Tahoua and Tillabéri- the rates of CEFM are, respectively: 89, 87, 76, and 75 percent. He prevalence of CEFM varies from rural and urban communities. In rural areas, 64 percent of girls are married before 15 compared to 14 percent in urban areas. As a result, Niger has the highest adolescent fertility rate globally. Negative outcomes associated with early (and inadequately spaced) childbearing including maternal, infant, and under 5 mortality, often related to low birth weight. Obstetric fistula is also another common consequence of CEFM. Adolescent girls aged 15–19 make up 34 percent of maternal deaths in Niger. CEFM is also associated with poor educational outcomes. Though the statistics presented above are outdated, there is little indication that rates of CEFM have reduced significantly in the last ten years, and, in fact, times of crises linked to the humanitarian crisis in Niger as well as the COVID-19 pandemic have likely worsened the situation.

There are no national statistics available on rates of intimate partner violence (IPV) in Niger, however, norms around the acceptability of GBV suggest that the rates are high. Data from the 2012 DHS shows staggeringly high levels of GBV acceptance across the country and for both men and women. Specifically, nearly 60 percent of women in Niger agree that a husband is justified in hitting or beating his wife for at least one reason (and 26 percent of men). The range varies widely by region. In Tillabéri this rate is 84 percent for women (and 46 percent for men), 55 percent (36 percent for men) in Niamey, and 22 percent (9 percent for men) in Agadez.⁴⁷⁰ More recent (2019) ethnographic research from Maradi found similar levels of acceptance among married adolescent girls and their husbands: 54 percent of adolescent wives and 57 percent of husbands felt that people in their village think there are times when a woman deserves to be beaten.⁴⁷¹ Over three-quarters of the same respondents in Maradi agreed that if a woman refuses to have sex with her husband, he has the right to get angry and reprimand her.⁴⁷² Forty-six percent of adolescent wives agreed that in this same scenario, the husband has the right to use force and have sex with her compared to 30 percent of husbands.⁴⁷³ Over half of adolescent wives also justified the use of physical violence if she used a method of contraception without her husband's permission compared to 30 percent of husbands.⁴⁷⁴

In the same study in Maradi, there were similarly low levels of reported IPV: only 12 percent of married adolescent girls self-reporting experiences of IPV. At the same time, a high percentage of husbands reported having witnessed or heard of male friends engaging in spousal physical violence (72 percent). Moreover, in the same study, men mentioned sexual satisfaction and coercion in the qualitative study as both a "marital expectation and an obligation."

Lack of criminalization of GBV and ineffective implementation of laws and strategic frameworks create an enabling environment for GBV in Niger. There is not a comprehensive legal framework on protection from GBV in Niger. According to the Penal Code, perpetrators of domestic violence are punishable by three months to 30 years in prison and a fine of franc CFA 10,000. Women often do not report GBV because they are unaware of their rights, fear retribution and stigmatization, and lack legal redress in customary courts. And Similarly, the coexistence of modern, customary, and Muslim law; the latter two, patriarchal and unequal, take precedence in matters of family and personal status of which GBV is classified.

To date, there is no law prohibiting CEFM in Niger. Under the Civil Code 1993, the minimum legal age of marriage is 15 years for girls and 18 years for boys.⁴⁷⁷ However, minors can be married before those ages with parental consent, and the President may grant age exemptions for serious reasons.⁴⁷⁸ The GoN has signed on to international commitments in favor of reducing the extremely high levels of CEFM and in 2018, developed the First National Action Plan to End Child Marriage.⁴⁷⁹ However, as of early 2022, there is limited information on the implementation of the National Action Plan.

Niger developed the 2017-2021 Strategy to Reduce GBV, which includes a goal to reduce the prevalence of violence from 28.4 to 15.4 percent by 2021.⁴⁸⁰ Though, due to a lack of national-level prevalence data, tracking progress is difficult. There is no available literature on the progress of the strategy and/or plans for renewal.

GBV themes will be integrated throughout the report.

2.3 HUMANITARIAN CRISIS

Niger is facing a combination of quick onset and protracted humanitarian crises. Increasing insecurity is leading to population displacements, in a country highly vulnerable to climate-related disasters, ⁴⁸¹ affected by multiple epidemic outbreaks ⁴⁸² and by nutritional crisis. ⁴⁸³ The ongoing situation has created a protection crisis for women and girls. Escalating violence and displacement have heightened the risk of GBV and harmful practices and disrupted access to basic services, including SRH care. In Niger, where climate-related hazards pose an additional concern, millions of people have been affected. Violence related to the activities of armed actors in the country and surrounding areas in Mali, Burkina Faso and Nigeria has led to aggravated chronic food insecurity and malnutrition. This is caused by the effects of climate change as well as limited access to essential social services in a context of high-level poverty in certain areas.

The number of people in need of humanitarian assistance has increased from 2.3 million in 2019 to 3.8 million (including 2.1 million children) in 2022. The United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA) estimates that there is more than 264,000 IDPs in Diffa, Maradi, Tahoua, and Tillabéri regions with estimates that women and children make up the vast majority of IDPs (in certain places, over 80 percent).⁴⁸⁴ Niger is host to roughly 260,000 refugees from Mali, Nigeria, and Burkina Faso.

Like other countries in the Sahel, Niger's multiple security crises exacerbate gender inequalities, particularly along the border regions. Research shows that VE and human rights abuses committed under the guise of counterterrorism measures are an obstacle to the promotion of women's and girls' rights and women's participation in public decision-making processes. As Common human rights violations include issues of GBV (discussed more under DO I), forced displacement, abductions, and the destruction of infrastructures (such as schools and healthy centers). Additionally, crises are affecting the economic activities in the informal sector where women constitute the majority of actors, especially in activities related to the fish trade, agriculture, and small businesses.

For more on the humanitarian crises and response, please see DO I.

CHILD MARRIAGE

According to UNICEF, despite a presidential decree making 18 the legal age of marriage, Niger has the highest prevalence of child marriage in the world with 76 percent of girls married before the age of 18. Certain regions demonstrate even higher trends than the average cited above. For example, the rate of child marriage in the Zinder region is among the highest in the country, at 87 percent. Girls' socio-

culturally defined roles and domestic responsibilities mean that they face skill gaps, time poverty and low access to training, information, financial capital, FP services, and even nutrient-rich foods.

CHILD LABOR

Niger is among the youngest countries in the world, 49.8 percent of the population is less than 15 years old. Within that demographic there are large groups of children excluded from access to primary school or unable to graduate. One key barrier to increasing educational attainment and resilience is forced child labor, which may demonstrate linkages to forced early child marriage and educational attainment. Although increases in youth employment have shown no negative impact on educational attainment, the question of forced child labor is not equally clear. The reality of communities in Niger is that many children participate in work activities; child labor is a forced assumption of responsibility upon a child in a way that endangers the child or prevents that child from attending school. Child labor is persistent problem. The GoN has ratified all related key international conventions, but enforcement remains a major issue. Child labor can take many different forms and may affect population groups differently, particularly rural versus urban groups. Child labor can take place under conditions of hereditary slavery, because of early marriage and assumption of household labor, and as a result of human trafficking or exploitation. Across Niger, children contribute to a number of economic sectors including agriculture, cattle herding, and even mining. Forced labor in urban settings, often forced begging, is another common occurrence.

CONFLICT

The security context in Niger is evolving rapidly. Violent extremist organizations are gaining ground and influence in rural communities, while banditry and trafficking are increasing along border zones. Niger is the only country in the world with ISIS on multiple borders. Attacks by these groups have led to population movements in the regions of Tillabéry and North Tahoua with a significant number of internally displaced peoples seeking shelter in urban centers. In response to these attacks, the Nigerien government declared a state of emergency in these areas and increased the resources allocated to the defense and security forces. As a result of these displacements, subsistence agricultural production has been affected and emergency humanitarian assistance is on-going. Although recent research suggests little evidence of women taking up arms, women and girls are deeply affected and implicated in the evolving conflicts in ways that resonate across the context of this proposed analysis.

3. OBJECTIVES AND TIMELINE OF THE GENDER ANALYSIS

3.1 OBJECTIVE

To conduct a holistic USAID/Niger mission-level Gender Analysis that considers opportunities for gender equality and women's empowerment in Niger to inform the mission's CDCS and provide insights across the following anticipated Development Objectives (DOs):

- Strengthen and Empower Communities: Enable men, women, and youth to gain control over the factors and decisions shaping their communities and to gain access and voice in order to advance social and political change.
- **Inclusive Economic Growth**: Connect community-based livelihood efforts to market-driven economic systems to promote sustainable economic well-being.
- Social Service Delivery and System Strengthening: Improve institutional ability to deliver a range of public and non-public services to meet the needs of all Nigerians, including the most vulnerable.

TABLE BI. KEY ELEMENTS OF THE GENDER ANALYSIS					
MISSION DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES	USAID ADS 205 GENDER ANALYSIS DOMAINS	CROSS CUTTING THEMES	intersectional variables		
 Strengthen and empower communities Inclusive economic growth Social service delivery and system strengthening 	 Laws, policies, regulations, and institutional practices Cultural norms and beliefs Gender roles, responsibilities, and time use Access to and control over assets and resources Patterns of power and decision-making 	 Gender-based violence (GBV) prevention and response, including CEFM Educational attainment Women's Economic Empowerment (WEE) 	 Youth and children Rural/urban/n omadic Ethnic minorities 		

The gender analysis will build off previous analyses of gender equality and women's empowerment advances and gaps in Niger across USAID technical sectors to identify key gender advances, inequalities, and constraints across the mission's portfolio. The following cross-cutting themes and key populations will guide the gender analysis within each draft DO in order to develop an inception report.

- GBV prevention and response will be a key cross-cutting focus area addressed under all DOs, including child, early and forced marriage.
- Youth and children will be key population priorities across each DO and the analysis will examine
 the intersection between gender and youth. The analysis will also present findings around the
 condition of boys and girls as related to child marriage and child labor, including the relationship to
 educational attainment, early marriage, and resilience at the community and family level.
- The analysis will also examine differences between persons living in urban and rural environments and those living nomadically.
- Opportunities and recommendations (programmatic and partnerships) will be presented for
 integrating gender and women's empowerment in USAID/Niger's CDCS, including opportunities
 related to the analysis's cross-cutting themes. Furthermore, recommendations will include lines of
 inquiry to be addressed by future programming and analyses.

Informed by gaps within existing research and alignment with draft DOs, Banyan Global will coordinate with USAID/Niger to determine up to three cross-cutting themes to prioritize within primary data collection and confirm geographic priorities. Anticipated geographic priorities are Maradi, Zinder, Tahoua, Dosso, and Tillaberi.

The gender analysis will comply with ADS Chapter 205 requirements for gender analysis, which includes gathering and providing data on the following gender analysis domains:

- Laws, Policies, Regulations, and Institutional Practices
- Cultural Norms and Beliefs
- Gender Roles, Responsibilities, and Time Use
- Access to and Control over Assets and Resources
- Patterns of Power and Decision-making

Recommendations will also propose USAID Standard Foreign Assistance (F) and custom indicators in the Gender Analysis Report. The key stakeholders, or the primary audience for the analysis results, will be USAID/Niger and USAID/Washington. At the same time, the analysis (or public version of it) will be accessible to all interested parties in the development community and beyond.

4. METHODOLOGY

The gender analysis will comprise a combination of primary and secondary data collection structured around six key deliverables:

- Inception Report (including a comprehensive literature review of secondary data sources, proposed methodology, work plan/schedule, a list of key stakeholders to interview, and research questions guides)
- In-briefing with USAID/Niger Mission Staff
- Primary Data Collection (in-person)
- USAID/Niger Mission-level Gender Analysis Presentation of Preliminary Findings and Recommendations
- Draft mission-level Gender Analysis Report
- Final Mission-level Gender Analysis Report (incorporating written feedback from USAID/Niger)

The section below speaks primarily to the methodology for the inception report, in-country primary data collection, and presentation of preliminary findings and recommendations, and deliverables.

1. **Inception report**: The inception report will include the methodology, work plan, a preliminary list of key stakeholders to interview, and research questions guides. It will also include a comprehensive desk review of secondary data and literature, by DO, including of national and regional statistical databases. Banyan Global will create a secured Google Drive Folder for the mission to share any pertinent reports or documentation that are not available publicly online (i.e., USAID/Niger ICS. RISE II PAD, BRIDGE PAD and activity-level gender analyses, as well as any other relevant reports and information). Documents may include the following:

USAID/Washington documents including, but not limited to:

- The Automated Directives System (ADS) 201 and 205
- USAID's 2020 Gender Equality and Female Empowerment Policy
- U.S. Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Gender-based Violence Globally (2016)
- USAID Vision for Ending Child Marriage and Meeting the Needs of Married Children (2012)
- U.S. National Action Plan on Women, Peace and Security;
- USAID Vision for Ending Child Marriage and Meeting the Needs of Married Children;
- USG 2018 Act on Women's Entrepreneurship and Economic Empowerment Act
- U.S. Strategy to Empower Adolescent Girls (March 2016)
- Counter-Trafficking in Persons Policy (2012)
- USAID's Youth in Development Policy (2012)
- USAID Disability Policy Paper (1997)
- Advancing Disability-Inclusive Development
- USAID Policy on Non-Discrimination (2011)
- 2021 Executive Order on Preventing and Combating Discrimination on the Basis of Gender Identity or Sexual Orientation

USAID/Niger mission documents, such as, but not limited to:

- The 2020 West Africa Gender Analysis
- The RISE II PAD and the BRIDGE PAD
- Activity-level Gender Analyses/Assessments (available here) and others including:
 - The 2018 RISE Gender Analysis
 - The 2021 Gender Analysis for the Resilient Governance in Niger Activity

- Save the Children Niger WADATA Program: Gender and Youth Analysis
- The 2020 USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis
- The draft 2021 Gender Differentiated Drivers of Violent Extremism in the Central Sahel Report
- The Niger Mission's Integrated Country Strategy
- Studies, analyses, and assessments concerning gender equality conducted by donors, UN
 agencies, NGOs, national governments, regional organizations, and the academic community;
 CRS and others:
- Appropriate data and statistics as available (the National statistics on women from the Demographic and Health Survey may be outdated as last completed in 2012), the UNDP Human Development Index Reports, and the World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Index.
- 2. **In-Country Primary Data Collection:** The research team will carry out in-country primary data collection to inform the in-country presentation of preliminary findings and recommendations, and the draft and final gender analysis reports. The primary data collection will include a survey, semi-structured interviews and focus groups with USAID staff, implementing partners, government counterparts, United Nations (UN) agencies, national NGOs, program ben2. In-Country Primary Data Collection: The research team will carry out in-country primary data collection to inform the in-country presentation of preliminary findings and recommendations, and the draft and final gender analysis reports. The primary data collection will include a survey, semi-structured interviews and focus groups with USAID staff, implementing partners, government counterparts, United Nations agencies, national NGOs, program beneficiaries, and key civil society stakeholders. The research team will consider the following:
 - Key stakeholder interviews and focus groups with USAID/Niger and gender points of contact with implementing partners' staff involved in developing the Mission program. These will include where possible:
 - o Interviews with the Gender Point of Contact, the Program Office, the Front Office.
 - Interviews with mission office teams and implementing partners on specific sectors and areas of interest to identify possible entry points for the incorporation of gender equality and women's empowerment into ongoing and future activities, taking into consideration the current context of Niger.
 - Interviews with selected key expert stakeholders, beneficiaries and other community members
 involved in current and proposed programs; site visits to selected program activities as time
 permits to identify gender equality and women's empowerment priorities and potentialities for
 improving attention to gender in USAID activities. Locations for site visits will be selected in
 coordination with USAID in part based upon discussions following the initial literature review.

Primary data collection locations will be chosen in consultation between the contractor and USAID based on the outcomes of the literature review.

3. **Presentation of Preliminary Finding and Recommendations:** The research team will present an in-country presentation of preliminary findings and recommendations to USAID/Niger staff. The presentation will also include a question and answer/discussion to validate key findings and recommendations to inform the gender analysis report.

For all deliverables, Banyan Global's home-office technical staff will provide consistent and regular technical guidance to the research team to ensure that the methodology and deliverables meet USAID and internal Banyan Global quality standards.

5. DELIVERABLES AND GUIDELINES

5.1 KEY DELIVERABLES

The associated work will include the following deliverables:

	DELIVERABLE/TASK	CONTENT
-	Inception Report	Inception report, including methodology, workplan, interview question guides and literature review of secondary data
2	USAID/Niger shares list of key stakeholders	USAID will share names, organizational affiliation, and contact information for individuals who it is recommended that the research team meet with. This list will be incorporated into the Stakeholder List the Inception Report Annex.
3	In-country briefing with USAID/Niger Mission Staff	Presentation to mission on the purpose of the Gender Analysis; proposed research questions; methodology; suggested time frames for field work; proposed key respondents
4	USAID provides feedback on inception report	Feedback on inception report, any recommended changes to the interview guides or data collection plan
5	Primary Data Collection	Collection of primary data in target regions in Niger
6	Debriefing with mission staff - Presentation of Preliminary Findings and Recommendations	Presentation of preliminary findings and recommendations to USAID/Niger
7	Draft Gender Analysis Report	
8	Mission review of draft report	
9	Final Gender Analysis Report (incorporating USAID/Niger feedback)	Final report taking into account USAID/Niger's feedback on the Draft Gender Analysis Report

5.2 REPORTING GUIDELINES

The Gender Analysis report (36 pages excluding Executive Summary, Table of Contents, Acronyms and Annexes) should follow the format below and be submitted electronically in Microsoft word and PDF versions:

- I. Executive Summary (4 pp.)
- 2. Table of Contents (1 pp.)
- 3. Acronyms (1 pp.)
- 4. Introduction (1 pp.)
- 5. Background (2-3 pp.)
- 6. Methodology (2 pp.)
- 7. Country Context: Findings, by USAID ADS205 gender analysis domain (5 pp)
- 8. Findings and Recommendations, by DO, (including the proposal of 2 gender equality and women's empowerment intermediate results (IRs) and indicators per ICS Mission Goal and Objective) This section will be organized by DO and incorporate analysis for the cross-cutting themes and key populations within each DO. Recommendations should include lines of inquiry and knowledge gaps for future activities and analyses to address. (35 pp)
- 9. Annexes
 - Mission-Level Gender Analysis SOW
 - List of Key Documents
 - List of key stakeholders and organizations consulted

Note: The recommendation in #8 above will point to linkages with the Journey to Self-Reliance subdimensions and women's economic empowerment (using a tagging system).

6. TEAM COMPOSITION

A four-person team is planned, with three consultants to lead primary data collection in-country. If COVID-19, travel, and/or security conditions change, the team structure may be adjusted in order to conduct in-country data collection to the fullest extent possible.

Team Leader (International) (Task Order Labor Category: Senior Consultant (expat)) with the following qualifications:

This position seeks an international consultant with core experience working with and knowledge of USAID programs and must be an experienced social scientist with expert level knowledge in conducting gender analyses in Sub-Saharan Africa (required), preference given for relevant Niger or Sahel experience. Other qualifications include:

- Minimum of 10 years 'experience in research, policy formulation and program design in gender and/or social inclusion.
- At least 6 years of experience in gender analysis—including a focus on GBV prevention and response.
- Familiarity with USAID strategic planning and program management is strongly desired.
- Excellent speaking and writing English language skills are required.
- Exceptional interpersonal and intercultural skills.
- Excellent leadership skills.
- Expertise in one of the priority DOs/sectors.
- Formal studies in gender and/or social inclusion and a minimum of a master's degree in sociology, anthropology, economics, or relevant social science field.
- Experience with other donors is highly desirable.
- Fluency in English and French.
- U.S. nationality.

Senior Gender Expert (International) (Task Order Labor Category: Senior Consultant (expat) with the following qualifications:

- Minimum of 10 years 'experience in research, policy formulation and program design in gender and/or social inclusion.
- A minimum of 5 years of experience in gender analysis–including a focus on GBV prevention and response.
- Expertise in one of the priority DOs/sectors.
- Experience in the drafting and implementation of qualitative research instruments.
- Familiarity with USAID strategic planning and program management is strongly desired.
- Excellent speaking and writing English language skills are required.
- Formal studies in gender and/or social inclusion and a minimum of a master's degree in sociology, anthropology, economics, or relevant social science field.
- Fluency in English and French.
- Experience working in Sub-Saharan Africa, experience in the Sahel preferred.
- U.S. nationality.

National Gender Expert (2) (Task Order Labor Category: Senior Consultants (local) with the following qualifications:

The team includes two Gender Experts who exhibit complementary skills to the Team Lead and Senior Gender Expert and core experience conducting thorough evidence-based research on gender issues in Niger. Qualifications include:

- Minimum of 10 years' experience in conducting evidence-based research and expert knowledge on gender and women's economic empowerment issues in Niger.
- Expertise in one of the priority development objectives/sectors.
- Excellent speaking and writing French is required.
- Knowledge of a mix of local languages including Hausa, Djerma and others is required. Strong English language skills are preferred.
- Must be conversant with socio-cultural beliefs and practices in Niger.
- Exceptional interpersonal and intercultural skills.

Examples of past analysis reports produced under the direction of the proposed team leader and National Gender Expert may be requested as well as character and professional references. Other team members can be considered if the need presents itself.

7. ANALYSIS MANAGEMENT

7.1 LOGISTICS

A USAID focal point will be assigned to assist the team to gather relevant contact information from those groups, organizations and individuals identified for interviews.

7.2 SCHEDULING

The expected period of performance for the analysis will be roughly 120 days per the deliverables schedule above (extended timeframe due to end of year holidays).

The team will have 3.5 weeks (25) working days after completing the fieldwork to submit a preliminary draft to USAID/Niger.

Due to office space constraints the team will need to identify an ideal workspace and will have to occasionally schedule meetings with USAID/Niger staff for interviews and to discuss issues.

Note that this work order includes a six-day work week; therefore, LOE and salaries are calculated on that basis.

7.3 INTERVIEW NOTES AND RESOURCE DOCUMENTS

The Contractor must provide summaries of all key meetings, workshops, discussions, and any data collection exercises conducted during the course of the analysis. These summaries must be submitted to USAID/Niger Activity Manager, along with copies of any background documents and reports gathered in the course of the assessment. All information must be provided in an electronic format, organized, and fully documented for use.

7.4 DATASETS

Should the Contractor use quantitative data, all datasets generated during the performance of the assessment must be submitted in a machine-readable, non-proprietary format and excluding any personally identifiable information, with supporting documentation describing the dataset, such as code books, data dictionaries, data gathering tools, notes on data quality, and explanations of redactions. All datasets created during the performance of the task order must be submitted to the Development Data Library per open data requirements found in ADS 579, USAID Development Data, and per the instructions outlined in ADS 302mas (302.3.5.22). The Contractor must submit the Dataset and

supporting documentation within thirty (30) calendar days after the Dataset is first used to produce an Intellectual Work or is of sufficient quality to produce an Intellectual Work.

8. SUBMISSION TO THE DEVELOPMENT EXPERIENCE CLEARINGHOUSE (DEC)

The final approved report must be a public document, unless otherwise specified to be submitted to the Development Experience Clearinghouse (www.dec.org) (DEC) following the required Office of GenDev format. The contractor must make the final gender analysis report publicly available through the Development Experience Clearinghouse within 30 calendar days of final approval of the formatted report.

9. TASK ORDER PACKAGING, BRANDING, AND MARKING

Task Order packaging and marking shall be performed in accordance with Section D of Advancing the Gender Integration Technical Assistance II Task Order: 47QRAA18D00CM.

The Contractor shall comply with the requirements of the policy directives and required Marking shall comply with the USAID "Graphic Standards Manual" available at www.usaid.gov/branding or any successor branding policy.

ANNEX C: LIST OF SOURCES CONSULTED

- 2SCALE. 2022. "One product, two women, a common destiny." (Link)
- Abatan, Jeannine Ella. 2021. What Makes Women Resist Violent Extremism in Mali and Niger? Institute for Security Studies. (Link)
- Abatan, Jeannine Ella and Boubacar Sangaré. 2021. *Katiba Macina and Boko Haram: Including Women to What End?* Institute for Security Studies. (Link)
- Abatan, Jeannine Ella and Remadji Hoinathy. 2021. Getting Goudoumaria Right: Are Boko Haram Defectors Reintegrating Safely? Institute for Security Studies. (Link)
- Abdelkader, Galy Kadir. 2004. L'Esclavage au Niger. Anti-Slavery International and Association Timidria. Niamey: Niger.
- Abondo, Olivier, Fiong à Bitegni, Jean Bosco, Mohamed Gaoh, and Honoré Mimche. 2017. *Profil Genre du Niger*. Ministère de la Promotion de la Femme et de la Protection de l'Enfant, ONU Femmes, IFORD.
- Aboubacar, Zakari. 2017. "Women and Civil Society in Niger." International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development 4:4.
- Access to Seeds Index. 2019. Niger Country Profile. (Link)
- Acosta, Alejandro, Francesco Nicolli, and Panagiotis Karfakis. 2021. "Coping with climate shocks: The complex role of livestock portfolios." World Development Vol. 146.
- African Development Bank. 2015. African Gender Equality Index. (Link)
- African Development Bank. 2020. Republic of Niger: Gender Profile: Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- African Development Bank Group. 2019. Niger National Climate Change Profile. (Link)
- Afrobaromètre. 2016. Bons voisins? Les Africains démontrent un sens élevé de la tolérance envers beaucoup, mais pas tous. (Link)
- Agence Nigeriènne de Presse. 2019. Le Niger Veut Réduire Le Taux de Prévalence Basée Sur Le Genre de 28,4 Percent à 15,4 pourcent d'Ici 202. June 26, 2019. (Link)
- Agenda Niamey. 2021. "L'Ambassade Des USA Fait un Post Pro-LGBT et Crée la Polémique a Niamey." (Link)
- Aker, Jenny C, Christopher Ksoll, and Travis, J. Lybbert. 2012. "ABC, 123: Can Mobile Phones Improve Learning? Evidence from a Field Experiment in Niger." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4:4.
- Aker, Jenny C, Melita Sawyer, Markus Goldstein, Michael O'Sullivan, and Margaret McConnell. 2019. "Just a bit of cushion: The role of a simple savings device in meeting planned and unplanned expenses in rural Niger." World Development Vol. 128 (2020) 104772.
- Aker, Jenny, Rachid Boumnijel, Amanda McClelland, and Niall Tierney. 2011. Zap It to Me: The Short-Term Impacts of a Mobile Cash Transfer Program. CGD Working Paper 268. Center for Global Development. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- Ameyaw, Edward Kwabena and Kwamena Seyki Dickson. 2020. "Skilled Birth Attendance in Sierra Leone, Niger, and Mali: Analysis of Demographic and Health Surveys." *BMC Public Health* 20:164. (Link)

- Anderson, Kristine. 2019. Tearing Down the Walls: Confronting the Barriers to Internally Displaced Women and Girls' Participation in Humanitarian Settings. Report for UNHCR. (Link)
- Andriamasinoro, Lalaina Fatratra. 2021. "COVID-19: A threat to progress against child marriage in Niger." UNICEF. (Link)
- Association Timidria. 2021. "Reponses de Timidria Dans Le Cadre De L'Appel a Contributions Sur le Role des Groupes Criminels Organises en ce qui Concerne les Formes Contemporaines D'Esclavage." April 15, 2021. (Link)
- Aube, Judil. 2012. "The Role and Influence of Grandmothers on Child Nutrition: Culturally Designated Advisors And Caregivers." Maternal and Child Nutrition 8:1. (Link)
- Ayantunde, A, S. Fernandez-Rivera, and A. Dan-Gomma. 2008. "Sheep Fattening with Groundnut Haulms and Millet Bran in the West African Sahel." Revue Élev. Méd. vét. Pays trop 61:3-4. (Link)
- Bagby, Emilie, Anca Dumitrescu, Cara Orfield, and Matt Sloan. 2016. Niger IMAGINE Long-Term Evaluation. Final Report for Millennium Challenge Corporation. Mathematica.
- Barroy, Helen, Rafael Cortez, Nora Le Jean, and Hui Wang. 2016. "Addressing Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health in Niger. Health, Nutrition and Population (HNP) Discussion Paper." World Bank. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- Bearak, Max. 2018. "Boko Haram Brought Terror to Niger. Can a Defectors Program Bring Peace?" The Washington Post. (Link)
- Boender, Carol, Sagri Singh, and Helen Belachew. 2019. Technical Note on Life Skills Programmes for Empowering Adolescent Girls: Notes for Practitioners on What Works. UNFPA-UNICEF Global Programme to End Child Marriage. (Link)
- Bossuroy, Thomas, Markus Goldstein, Dean Karlan, Harounan Kazianga, William Parienté, Patrick Premand, Catherine Thomas, Christopher Udry, Julia Vaillant, and Kelsey Wright. 2021. Pathways out of Extreme Poverty: Tackling Psychosocial and Capital Constraints with a Multi-faceted Social Protection Program in Niger. World Bank: Social Protection and Jobs Global Practice, Development Impact Evaluation Group, & Africa Gender Innovation Lab. Policy Research Working Paper 9562. (Link)
- Brooks, Mohamad I., et al. 2019. "Can community health workers increase modern contraceptive use among young married women? A cross-sectional study in rural Niger." Reproductive health 16(1):38. (Link)
- Bertelsmann Stiftung. 2022. Bertelsmann Transformation Index (BTI) Niger Country Report. (Link)
- Buvinic, Mayra and Rebecca, Furst-Nichols. 2016. "Promoting Women's Economic Empowerment What Works?" World Bank Group. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- Cabinet of the Prime Minister. 2011. Strategy for Development and Security in Sahel-Saharan Areas of Niger. Government of Niger. 53.
- Calimoutou, Emelyne. 2022. "Comment les nouvelles lois protègent les femmes et les filles, et font évoluer les mentalités au Niger." Banque Mondiale Blogs. January 26, 2022. (Link)
- Camber Collective. 2015. Increasing Contraceptive Use in Niger: Final Report. (Link)
- Campos, Francisco, Michael Frese, Markus Goldstein, Leonardo Iacovone, Hillary C. Johnson, David McKenzie, and Mona Mensmann. 2017. "Teaching Personal Initiative Beats Traditional Training in Boosting Small Business in West Africa." *Science* 357 (6357): 1287–90. (Link)
- Canada: Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada. 2017. Niger: The situation of sexual minorities, including legislation; treatment of sexual minorities by society and the authorities; protection provided to sexual

- minorities who are victims of violence (2015 September 2017), September 17, 2017, NER105974.FE. (Link)
- CARE International. 2017. Political Consciousness, Leadership, and Collective Action in the Mata Masau Dubaara Structures in Niger. (Link)
- CARE International. 2015. The Resilience Champions: When Women Contribute to The Resilience of Communities in the Sahel through Savings and Community-based Adaptation. (Link)
- CARE International. 2019. Climate Change Vulnerability and Adaptive Capacity in Dakoro Department, Niger. Adaptation Learning Program (ALP) for Africa. (Link)
- CARE International. 2020. Where are the Women? The Conspicuous Absence of Women in COVID-19 Response Teams and Plans, and Why We Need Them. (Link)
- Challa, Sneha, Holly Shakya, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Mohammad Brooks, Sani Aliou, Jay Silverman. 2020. "Associations of Spousal Communication with Contraceptive Method Use among Adolescent Wives and their Husbands in Niger." PLoS ONE 15(8). (Link)
- Chekaraou, Ibro and Nana Aicha Goza. 2019. "Girls' Transition from Primary to Secondary Schools in Two Urban and Semi-Urban School Districts in Niger." University of Abdou Moumouni. Niamey. (Link)
- Chemonics. 2017. Staple Food and Livestock Market Fundamentals. Niger: Famine Early Warning Systems Network (FEWS NET) for USAID. (Link)
- Christopherson, Katharine, Audrey Yiadom, Juliet Johnson, Francisca Fernando, Hanan Yazid, and Claire Thiemann. 2022. *Tackling Legal Impediments to Women's Economic Empowerment*. Working Paper for the International Monetary Fund. 17. (Link)
- Chumley, Jason. 1998. Work, agriculture, and the rise of female house seclusion in post-colonial Hausaland. University of Tennessee Honors Thesis Project, p. 30. (Link)
- Cités Unies France. 2018. Eau, Hygiène et Assainissement au Niger. Table Ronde. October 15, 2018. (Link)
- Coggio, Tessa. 2021. "Europe's Tackling of 'Root Causes' of African Migration Has a Mixed Record." Feature for Migration Policy Institute. (Link)
- Connected Women Global Development Alliance. 2015. Combler le Fossé entre Hommes et Femmes : L'accès au Téléphone Mobile et son Utilisation Dans les Pays à Revenus Faibles et Intermédiaires. (Link)
- Coulibaly, Dramane et al. 2021. Resilience and Economic Growth in the Sahel Enhanced Resilience (REGIS-ER). Final Performance Evaluation Report for USAID. (Link)
- Counterpart International. 2019. Resilience Activity in Niger. (Link)
- Counterpart International. 2021. Gender Analysis: Niger's Tillabery, Maradi, And Zinder Regions. Resilient Governance in Niger Activity.
- Cummings, Clare, and Tahirou, Ali Bako M. 2016. "Collective action and the deployment of teachers in Niger." Policy Briefing for ODI. January 2016. (Link)
- Dabo, Bacary. 2019. "Africa: Sahel Women's Project Shows Encouraging Results in West, Central Regions." All Africa News. (Link)
- da Corta Lucia, Diarra Aïssa, Diwakar Vidya et al. 2021. L'inclusion de la jeunesse dans les marchés du travail au Niger: moyens de subsistance et dynamiques de genre. Agence Française de Développement, pp. 1–127 (Link)

- DAI Digital Frontiers. 2019. Digital Tools for Food Security and Resilience: Findings and Recommendations for Niger. USAID: Feed the Future. (Link)
- DeLong, Stephanie, Mohamad Brooks, Sani Aliou, Rebecka Lundgreen, Caitlin Corneliess, Nichole E. Johns, Sneha Challa, Nicole Carter, Giovanna Lauro, Jay Silverman. 2020. "Married very young adolescent girls in Niger at greatest risk of lifetime male partner reproductive coercion and sexual violence." PLoS ONE 15:4. (Link)
- Deubel, Tara and Micah Boyer. 2017. Gender, Markets and Women's Empowerment in the Sahel Region: A Comparative Analysis of Mali, Niger, and Chad. VAM Gender and Markets Study #4. World Food Programme and USAID. (Link)
- Diallo, Souleymane. 2022. "Exile, masculine honor, and gender relations among the Tuareg from Mali in Niamey, Niger." Canadian Journal of African Studies. (Link)
- Djontu, Herrick Mouafo and Karine Gatelier. 2017. Nord-Tillabéri: Analyse du Conflit Lié aux Ressources Naturelles. Gouvernement du Niger: Haute Autorité à la Consolidation de la Paix. France. (Link)
- Doka, Marthe and Marie Monimart. 2004. Pression Foncière et Nouvelle Normes d'Accès à la Terre: Vers une Déféminisation de l'Agriculture au Niger? Communication présentée au Colloque du CILSS "Praia+9." (Link)
- Ekhator-Mobayode, Uche Eseosa Hanmer, Lucia C, Rubiano Matulevich, Eliana Carolina, Arango and Diana Jimena. 2020. Effect of Armed Conflict on Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from the Boko Haram Insurgency in Nigeria. Policy Research Working Paper No. 9168. Washington, DC: World Bank. (Link)
- Ekhator-Mobayode, Uche Eseosa Hanmer, Lucia C, Rubiano Matulevich, Eliana Carolina, Arango and Diana Jimena. 2020. Plan international. 2020. Central Sahel facing a protection crisis as gender-based violence against girls continues to rise. (Link)
- Engility Corporation, ICF International, WeatherPredict Consulting, Inc. 2012. Climate Vulnerabilities and Development in Burkina Faso and Niger Evidence of Impact. USAID. (Link)
- Equipop and UNFPA. 2014. Santé et droits sexuels et de la procréation des adolescentes au Niger: Analyse des politiques et des programmes: opportunités et défis pour l'UNFPA. (Link)
- Erman, Alvina, Sophie Anne De Vries Robbé, Stephan Fabian Thies, Kayenat Kabir, and Mirai Marou. 2021. Gender Dimensions of Disaster Risk and Resilience: Existing Evidence. Washington, DC: World Bank. (Link)
- Family Planning 2020. Niger Commitment Maker since 2012. FP2020, 2019. Accessed Jan. 5, 2021. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- Feed the Future. 2015. Giving Seeds an Added Boost to Survive Harsh Sahelian Climates. (Link)
- Feed The Future. 2018. Global Food Security Strategy (GFSS) Niger Country Plan. (Link)
- Feed The Future, n.d. Drivers of Malnutrition in Niger: Analysis of Secondary Data Sources. (Link)
- Feed the Future. n.d. Niger. (Link)
- FHI-360. 2021. Mixed Method Study: Gender Differentiated Drivers of Violent Extremism in Central Sahel. Draft report to USAID. (Link)
- FinTrac. 2015. Niger AgCLIR Phase 2: Four Deep-Dive Analyses. Report for MCA-Niger. (Link)
- Fofana, Ismaël, Sunday P Odjo, and Fousseini Traore. 2019. "Gender and trade in Africa: Case study of Niger." In 2019 Annual trends and outlook report: Gender equality in rural Africa: From commitments to outcomes. (Link)

- Fol, Natalie, and David McKenzie. 2006. "Kilima's burden: Access to Water a Daily Struggle for Women in Niger." UNICEF. (Link)
- Food and Agriculture Organization. 2016. FAO-Dimitra Clubs in Niger: Access to Water and Land. (Link)
- Food and Agriculture Organization. 2018. *Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural: Niger.* Série des Evaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (Link)
- Food and Agriculture Organization. 2021. Burkina Faso, Mali et Niger Analyse des Conflits Liés aux Ressources Naturelles dans les Trois Pays du Liptako Gourma: Note de Synthèse. (Link)
- Food for Peace. 2017. "Country Specific Information: Niger Multi-Year Development Food and Nutrition Security Activity, Fiscal Years 2018-2023." USAID. (Link)
- Freedom House. 2021. Freedom in the World 2021: Niger. (Link)
- Fuller, Rob. 2014. Resilience in Niger: Evaluation of Improving livelihoods through Integrated Water Resource Management, Effectiveness Review Series 2013/14. Oxfam GB. (Link)
- GAN Integrity Inc. 2020. Niger Corruption Report. (Link)
- Gender Center for Security Sector Governance (DCAF). 2018. Note d'information de l'ISSAT sur La Réforme du Secteur de la Sécurité au Niger. Accessed March 27, 2022. (Link)
- Gender Innovation Lab. 2019. *Economic Impacts of Gender Inequality in Niger*. Washington, DC: The World Bank Group, pp. 30-32. (Link)
- Gettliffe, E. and S. Khan. 2020. Scaling Economic Opportunities for Refugee Women: Understanding and Overcoming Obstacles to Women's Economic Empowerment in Niger. International Rescue Committee. (Link)
- Giacobino, Hélène, Elise Huillery, and Bastien Michel. 2018. Leveraging Youth Clubs for Women's Empowerment in Niger. Impact evaluation for J-PAL. (Link)
- Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (Link)
- Glinski, Allison M., Magnolia Sexton, and Lis Meyers. 2015. The Child, Early, and Forced Marriage Resource Guide Banyan Global. (Link)
- Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack. 2020. "Supporting Safe Education in the Central Sahel." Briefing paper for GCPEA. (Link)
- Globalization Partners. n.d. Niger. (Link)
- Global Protection Cluster. 2018. Cluster System in Niger. (Link)
- Global Slavery Index. 2018. Africa Regional Analysis. (Link)
- Global Slavery Index. 2018. Niger Country Data. (Link)
- Golding, Lenette. 2019. Wadata Social and Behavior Change: Formative Research Report 2019. Save the Children USA. (Link)
- Goulden, Marisa and Roger Few. 2011. Climate Change, Water and Conflict in the Niger River Basin. International Alert and University of East Angola. (Link)
- Grace, K. T., and Anderson, J. C. 2018. Reproductive coercion: a systematic review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse 19*(4), 371-390. (Link)
- Greany, Kate. 2008. "Rhetoric versus Reality: Exploring the rights-based approach to girls' education in rural Niger." Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education 38:5.

- GSMA. 2015. Bridging the Gender Gap: Mobile Access and Usage in Low and Middle-income Countries. Connected Women. Report for USAID.
- Guédé, Boubacar. 2015. Qui est Mme Aïchatou Kané Boulama, le Nouveau Ministre des Affaires Étrangères, de la Coopération, de l'Intégration Africaine et des Nigériens à l'Extérieur? *Niger Diaspora*. Accessed 29 March 2022. (Link)
- Hame Abdou Kadi Kadi, Kadri Aboubacar, Zakari Moussa Ousmane, Moussa Bondaba Abdou. 2013. "Connaissances Paysannes Sur la Conservation du Sorgho et du Mil Dans le Département d'Aguié au Niger." Journal des Sciences de l'Environnement 2:1.
- Hannatou O. Moussa, Charles I. Nwankwo, Ali M. Aminou, David A. Stern, Bettina I. G. Haussmann, Ludger Herrmann. 2021. "Sanitized uman urine (Oga) as a fertilizer auto-innovation from women farmers in Niger." Agronomy for Sustainable Development 41:56. (Link)
- Harter, Fred. 2022. 'He bought me like a chicken': the struggle to end slavery in Niger. *The Guardian*. (Link)
- Heywood, Emma. 2020. "Radio Journalism and Women's Empowerment in Niger." *Journalism Studies* 21:10. (Link)
- Hill, Polly. 1972. Rural Hausa: A Village and a Setting. Cambridge University Press. London.
- Humanity and Inclusion. n.d. Sahel: Working toward inclusive education for girls with disabilities. (Link)
- Human Rights Watch. 2021. Submission to the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women: Review of Niger. 81st pre-session of CEDAW. (Link)
- Hurst, Peter, Paola Termine, and Marilee Karl. 2007. "Agricultural Workers and Their Contribution to Sustainable Agriculture and Rural Development." International Labour Organization, Food and Agriculture Organization, International Union of Food, Agricultural, Hotel, Restaurant, Catering, Tobacco and Allied Workers' Associations. (Link)
- Ibro, Germaine, Marie Claire Sorgho, Amina Aminu Idris, Bokar Moussa, Dieudonne Baributsa, and J. Lowenberg-DeBoer. 2014. "Adoption of cowpea hermetic storage by women in Nigeria, Niger and Burkina Faso." *Journal of Stored Products Research*. (Link)
- Idrissa, Abdourahmane. 2015. Political Economy of Fertility in Rural Niger: A Report. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)
- Iffat, Idris. 2020. Justice systems in the Sahel. (Link).
- Imam, Ayesha. 1993. "If You Won't Do These Things for Me, I Won't Do Seclusion for You': Local and Regional Constructions of Seclusion Ideologies and Practices in Kano, Northern Nigeria." Ph.D. Thesis
- INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique & ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- INS-Niger. 2016. Etude Nationale d'Evaluation d'Indicateur Socio-Économiques et Démographique (ENISED). Niamey.
- INS-Niger. 2018. Enquête Nationale Sur L'Acces et L'Utilisation Des Tic Au Niger. (Link)
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). 2022. Niger. (Link)
- Institute for Reproductive Health. 2019. Study of the effects of Husbands' School intervention on gender dynamics to improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health in Niger. (Link).
- Inter-Agency Standing Committee. 2020. GBV in the Central Sahel GBV AoR West and Central Africa. (Link)

- Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre. 2020. Niger Internally Displaced Persons IDPs. Dataset for UNOCHA. (Link)
- Inter-Parliamentary Union (IPU). 2022. African Parliaments Talk openly about Sexism. (Link)
- Inter-Parliamentary Union (IPU) and African Parliamentary Union. 2021. Sexism, Harassment and Violence against Women in Parliaments in Africa. (Link)
- International Telecommunication Union. 2021. Interactive Voice Response: Delivering life-saving information amid COVID-19 in Niger. January 19, 2021. (Link)
- International Federation for Human Rights. 2006. Observatory for the Protection of Human Rights Defenders Annual Report 2005 Niger. Accessed 28 March 2022. (Link)
- International Fund for Agricultural Development. 2004. *Livestock services and the poor*. Rome: IFAD with DANIDA, World Bank, DAAS, University of Reading and national institutions in Bangladesh, Bolivia, Denmark, India and Kenya. (<u>Link</u>)
- IPU Pariline. 2021. Niger country Profile. (Link)
- Iris Group. 2020. Analyse d'Économie Politique des Mariages d'Enfants, Précoces et Forcés au Niger. Chapel Hill, USA.
- Iris Group. 2020. Mariage d'enfants, précoce et forcé : Une analyse d'économie politique du Niger. (Link)
- Jarial, Sapna and Epiphane Mamane Lamine. 2016. Gender roles and constraints in cowpea and groundnut cropping: a case from Niger. African Grain Legumes and World Cowpea Conference, February 27 March 4, 2016. Livingstone, Zambia. (Link)
- Johnson, Abigail, Maria Veronica Gottret, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and Their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods. Catholic Relief Services GIRMA Project Report for USAID.
- Justice and Dignity for the Women of Sahel. 2020. "Sahel: outbreak of GBV cases under Covid-19." (Link)
- Kang, Alice J. 2015. "The Puzzle of Non-Adoption: Why Niger Has No Family Code." Bargaining for Women's Rights: Activism in an Aspiring Democracy, Chapter 2. University of Minnesota Press.
- Katz, Gabriel. 2020. Mixed Method Study: Gender Differentiated Drivers of Violent Extremism in Central Sahel. FHI 360.
- Keita, Diene. 2021. Women and Conflict in West Africa and Beyond. OECD Development Matters. (Link)
- Keith, Nancy and Mariatou. Kone. 2007. "Etude sur les Connaissances, Attitudes, Comportements et Pratiques des Communautés/ Populations vis-à-vis de la Nutrition, des Soins Primaires de Santé Pout la Femme Enceinte et le Nourrisson, l'Accès à l'Eau Potable, l'Hygiène et l'Assainissement, l'Accès aux Soins de Santé Pour le Jeune Enfant dans la Région de Maradi au Niger." New York: UNICEF. (Link)
- Keough, Sara Beth and Scott M. Youngstedt. 2019. Water, Life, and Profit: Fluid Economies and Cultures of Niamey, Niger. New York: Berghahn Books.
- Koffi, Alain K, Abdou Maina, Asma Gali, Oumarou Yaroh, Habi Bensaïd, and Henry D. Kalter. 2016. "Social Determinants of Child Mortality in Niger: Results from the 2012 National Verbal and Social Autopsy Study." *Journal of Global Health*. (Link)
- La Coopération Belge au Développement. 2018. Appel à projets Genre et éducation 2018. (Link)
- Laouan, Fatouma Zara. 2020. Rapid Gender Analysis COVID-19. CARE International. (Link)

- Le coq chante. 2022. "L'artisanat au Niger: une affaire de femmes." Radio France Internationale (RFI). (Link)
- Leeds, Rachel, Sidi Coulibaly, Gisele Dunia, and Cheryl Combest. n.d. Engaging Adolescent Girls to Shift Social Norms in Maradi, Niger. University Research Co for USAID. (Link)
- Lee, Jieun. 2018. "Girls Thrive with Women Teachers: A Study in Francophone Africa." *The Conversation*. (Link)
- Lepillez, Karine. 2019. Save the Children Niger Wadata Program: Gender and Youth Analysis. Save the Children.
- Macrotrends. 2022. Niger Maternal Mortality Rate 2000-2022. (Link)
- Mamadou, Alima and Aichatou Salaou. 2013. "Women's Land Rights in a Changing Climate: A case study from Maradi, Niger." A New Dialogue: Putting People in the Heart of Development (April 15-15, 2013). (Link)
- Masquelier, Adeline. 2013. "Teatime: Boredom and the Temporalities of Young Men In Niger, Africa." *Journal of the International African Institute* 83:3. (Link)
- MCA-Niger. 2018. Plan d'Intégration Genre et Inclusion Sociale (PIGIS). Plan for Millennium Challenge Corporation-funded Niger Compact. (Link)
- McKie, Anna. 2018. "Teaching Resumes in Niger Universities after Month-Long Strike." *Times Higher Education*. October 10, 2018. (Link)
- Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF). 2021. "Responding to Neglected Crises in the Sahel: Acute Humanitarian Emergencies Worsened by Armed Conflict and Displacement." News & Stories for MSF.
- Mercy Corps. 2014. Analyse Genre en régions de Maradi et de Zinder: Rapport Provisoire du Processus de Mise en Exécution de l'Étude genre du Contexte des DFAP.
- Mercy Corps. 2021. *Understanding The Links Between Social Cohesion and Violence*. Brief for USAID-funded PEACE Program in Niger. (Link)
- Mindzie, Mireille Affa'a. 2015. Building Peace and Development in the Sahel: Enhancing the Political Participation of Women and Youth. International Peace Institute. New York. (Link)
- Moretti, Sebastien. 2020. "Transit Migration in Niger." Migration and Society 3:1, 80-88. (Link)
- Munk Ravnbor, Helle and Rachel Spichiger. 2014. *Pursuing Gender Equality in Land Administration*. Policy Brief for DIIS. (Link)
- Mwambi, Mercy, Jos Bijman, and Alessandra Galie. 2021. "The Effect of Membership in Producer Organizations on Women's Empowerment: Evidence from Kenya." Women's Studies International Forum (87). (Link)
- Nawey.net. 2011. Historique du féminisme au Niger. Travail réalisé dans le cadre du Master en Autonomisation et Leadership dans les Projets de Développement. (Link)
- Ndiaye, Ndèye Amy. 2020. Gender-Based Violence in West Africa: The Cases of Senegal, Mali, Burkina Faso and Niger. Dakar-Fann, Senegal: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung Peace and Security. (Link)
- NEPAD Planning and Coordinating Agency. 2012. "African Gender, Climate Change and Agriculture Support Program, Niger Consultation Report." (Link)

- Njoku, Emeka Thaddues, Joshua Akintayo, and Idris Mohammed. 2022. "Sex Trafficking and Sex-for-food/Money: Terrorism and Conflict-related Sexual Violence against Men in the Lake Chad region." Conflict, Security & Development 22:1. 79-9. (Link)
- Notre Dame-GAIN. 2017. Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative Index. (Link)
- Observatoire National pour la Promotion du Genre. 2021. Rapport d'Analyse du Niveau d'Application de la Loi sur le Quota au Niger lors des Dernières Élections Générales de 2020-2021.
- OCHA Financial Tracking Service. 2022. Niger 2020. (Link)
- OECD. 2014. Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. Social Institutions & Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- Office National d'Edition et de Presse. 2021 "Formulation du Plan de Développement Économique et S ocial (PDES) 2022-2026. Le Ministre du Plan Informe les Partenaires au Développement de l'État d'Avancement du Processus." Le Sahel, December 24, 2021. (Link)
- Office National d'Edition et de Presse. 2021. "Journée Nationale De La Femme Nigérienne: Consolider et Renforcer Les Avancées en Matière de La Promotion du Leadership de La Femme et de Sa Participation Politique." Le Sahel, March 13, 2021. (<u>Link</u>)
- Office National d'Edition et de Presse. 2021. "Journée Parlementaire: En Conclave, Les Députés Se Penchent Sur La Nécessité De La Planification Et La Budgétisation Sensibles Au Genre." Le Sahel, March 31, 2021. (Link)
- ONG Berandi. 2022. Rapport Analyse Genre, Commune de Say et de Kollo. (Unpublished.)
- Orkin, Kate, Robert Garlick, Mahreen Mahmud, Richard Sedlmayr, Johannes Haushofer, and Stefan Dercon. 2020. Aspirations, Assets, and Anti-Poverty Policies. Mimeo.
- Otoo, Miriam, Joan Fulton, Germaine Ibro, and James Lowenberg-Deboer. 2011. "Women Entrepreneurship in West Africa: The Cowpea Street Food Sector in Niger and Ghana." *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship* 16:1, 37-63.
- Oxfam. 2018. Supporting Livelihoods in The Lake Chad Basin: Ways Forward for Conflict-affected Communities in Nigeria, Niger, and Chad. (Link)
- Oxfam. 2020. Regreening the Sahel: A Quiet Agroecological Evolution. (Link)
- Pearson, Elizabeth. 2018. "Wilayat Shahidat: Boko Haram, the Islamic State, and the Question of the Female Suicide Bomber." Boko Haram Beyond the Headlines: Analyses of Africa's Enduring Insurgency, pp. 33-52. Combating Terrorism Center at West Point (CTC).
- Pearson, Elizabeth, and Jacob Zenn. 2021. Boko Haram, the Islamic State, and the Surge in Female Abductions in Southeastern Niger. The Hague: Research Paper for the International Centre of Counter-Terrorism.
- Pelckmans, Lotte. 2021. "Récits Cinétiques: Le Déplacement Récit de Contestation des wahayu, concubines de statut servile dans les régions frontalières du Niger et du Nigeria, Esclavages & Post Esclavages." Esclavages & Post-slaveries. (Link)
- Perlman, Daniel. 2015. Niger Girls' Vulnerability Assessment: Sahel Women's Empowerment and Demographic Dividend Project (SWEDD). University of California. (Link)
- Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)

- Perlman, Daniel, Fatima Adamu, and Quentin Wodon, editors. 2015 *Vulnerability of Adolescent Girls in Niger.* Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Perlman, Daniel, Fatima Adamu, and Quentin Wodon. 2017. *Understanding and Ending Child Marriage: Insights from Hausa Communities in Niger*. Children's Investment Fund Foundation, Global Partnership for Education. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Perlman, Daniel, Fatima Adamu, and Quentin Wodon. 2018. "Why do Adolescent Girls Drop Out of School in Niger? A Combined Quantitative and Qualitative Analysis." *Marché et Organisations* 32:2, 179-194.
- Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. Washington, DC: The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. (Link)
- Plan International. 2018. Adolescent Girls in Crisis: Voices from the Lake Chad Basin. (Link)
- Plan International. 2019. Niger Education and Community Strengthening. Final Report for USAID. (Link)
- Plan International, Mercy Corps, Save The Children, and Concern. 2017. Étude sur la Prévalence et les Causes de la VBG en Milieu Scolaire au Niger.
- Population Services International (PSI). n.d. Examine Male and Female Family Planning Attitudes and Behaviors in Niger. USAID and Transform PHARE.
- Potts, Malcom, Virginia Gidi, Martha Campbell, and Sarah Zureick. 2011. "Niger: Too Little, Too Late. International Perspectives." International Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health 37:2, 95–101. (Link)
- Quade, Andrea. 2018. "Moringa Plant Reduces Food Insecurity in Niger." The Borgen Project, May 13, 2018. (Link)
- Quisumbing, Agnes, R, Kathryn Sproule, Elena Martinez, and Hazel Malapit. 2021. "Do Tradeoffs Among Dimensions of Women's Empowerment and Nutrition Outcomes Exist? Evidence From Six Countries in Africa and Asia." Food Policy. (Link)
- Rachida, Mani Kango. 2021. Les Déchets Ménagers, Entrave pour le Développement Durable du Niger. UNDP Niger. (Link)
- Raineri, Luca. 2018. If Victims Become Perpetrators: Factors Contributing to Vulnerability and Resilience to Violent Extremism in the Central Sahel. International Alert. (Link)
- Rain for the Sahara and Sahel. n.d. Savings & Loan Groups for Nomadic Women in Niger. Global Giving Microprojects: Project #20217. (Link)
- RAIN. n.d. Maoude Increases Representation at Agadez University. Success story. (Link)
- Republic of Niger. Labor Code, Article 45.
- Republic of Niger. Penal Code, Article 281.
- Republic of Niger. 1998. Law No. 98-12 on Orientation of the Nigerien Education System (Loi d'Orientation du Système Éducatif. LOI n° 98-12 du 1 Juin 1998). Accessed through ILO. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Economics and Finance). 2012. Rapport sur L'alphabétisation, le Niveau d'instruction et la Fréquentation Scolaire.
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Education). 2007. Programme Décennal de Développement de l'Éducation Au Niger (PDDE) 2ème Phase: 2008-2010.

- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Education). 2013. Programme Sectoriel de l'Education et de la Formation (2014-2024): Document de stratégie. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Education). 2022. Statistiques de L'Éducation Nationale: Annuaire de Poche 2020-2021. Direction des Statistiques et de la Promotion de l'Informatique.
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Education). n.d. Projets Programmes. Accessed March 10, 2022. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Finance). 2019. Stratégie Nationale de Finance Inclusive Révisée et son Plan d'Actions: 2019-2023. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Planning). 2017. Plan de Développement Économique et Social (PDES) 2017-2021. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2008. Argumentaire Islamique Sur "L'Equite De Genre." Version 2: December 2008. UNFPA and Initiative Genre Au Niger.
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2014. Analyse de la Situation des Adolescents et des Programmes Existants Au Niger.
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2016. Plan d'action National pour la Mise en œuvre de la Résolution 1325 du Conseil de Sécurité des Nations Unies Dans L'espace Cedeao 2017–2019. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Politique Nationale de Genre*. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Politique Nationale de Genre (révisée*).
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. Profil Genre Niger. UN Women and the Institute for Training and Research (IFORD). (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. La Stratégie Nationale de Prévention et de Réponse aux Violences Basées sur le Genre (VBG) au Niger 2017-2021. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children. 2018. Guide du Niger sur les Standards Minimums Pour la Protection de L'enfance Dans L'intervention Humanitaire. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2018. Plan d'action Quinquennal de Mise en Œuvre de la Stratégie Autonomisation Économique de la Femme. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2020. Argumentaire en Vue de Rehausser les Taux Relatifs a la Loi N°2000-008 Instituant un Systeme de Quota dans les Fonctions Électives, au gouvernement et dans l'administration de l'Etat. (<u>Link</u>)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). June 2021. Etude sur l'Ampleur et les Déterminants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger. Spotlight Initiative.
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Public Health). 2016. Plan de développement Sanitaire 2017-2021 (PDS) Post Validation. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Public Health). 2016. Politique Nationale de Santé. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Public Health). 2019. Plan Stratégique National du Système d'Approvisionnement en Produits de Santé: 2019 2023. (Link)

- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Public Health). 2021. Situation Report on the Cholera Epidemic. October 2021.
- Republic of Niger (Ministry of Youth and Sports) 2021. Politique Nationale de la Jeunesse 2021-2035.
- Republic of Niger (National Human Rights Commission). n.d. Antennes Régionales. (Link)
- Republic of Niger (National Institute for Statistics). 2013. Enquête nationale sur les Conditions de vie des Ménages et l'Agriculture au Niger (ECVMA). World Bank.
- Republic of Niger (National Observatory for Gender Equality). 2020. Niger Rapport Genre 2019, Chiffres, données et analyse des inégalités. May 2020.
- Republic of Niger (National Observatory for Gender Equality). 2021. Rapport d'Analyse du Niveau D'Application de la Loi Sur le Quota Au Niger Lors des Dernieres Elections Generales 2020-2021. March 20, 2021. UN Women.
- Reseau des Femmes Pour La Paix au Niger (REFEPA). 2020. Rapport consolidé des activités des femmes médiatrices sur la prévention et la gestion des conflits.(Link)
- Reuters. 2014. Niger jails man for four years in first slavery case. May 14, 2014. (Link)
- Russell, Nathan and Jennie Barron. 2017. "Rural Women eDiplomats Mediation of a Longstanding Conflict in the Volta River Basin." Blog for Thrive CGIAR. (Link)
- Sall, F.D, Djibo Saley, and Modieli, A.D. 2015. Ampleur et Déterminants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger: Rapport Final. UNFPA and Republique du Niger. (Link)
- Saul, Grace, Andrea J. Melnikas, Sajeda Amin, Sarah Engebretsen, Aissa Diarra, and Chaibou Saadou. 2017. More Than Brides Alliance: Baseline report, Niger. Population Council. New York. (Link)
- Save the Children. 2019. Etude sur l'évaluation des besoins des jeunes et des femmes et du marché du travail dans la zone d'intervention du programme Wadata. Niger Wadata Program.
- Save the Children. n.d. Child Marriage in Niger. (Link)
- Searcy, Dionne. 2019. A Quiet Revolution: More Women Seek Divorces in Conservative West Africa. The New York Times. (Link)
- Silverman, Jay G, Sneha Challa, Sabrina Boyce, Sarah Averbach, and Anita Raj. 2020. "Associations of Reproductive Coercion and Intimate Partner Violence with Overt and Covert Family Planning Use Among Married Adolescent Girls in Niger." *EclinicalMedicine* 3:22. (Link)
- Somé, Batamaka. 2013. "Hot Money': Gender and the Politics of Negotiation and Control over Income in West African Smallholder Households." *Journal of the International African Institute* 82:2 (May 2013): 251-269. (Link)
- Somé, Batamaka. 2018. Resilience in the Sahel Enhanced (RISE) II. Niger: Gender Analysis for USAID. (Link)
- Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. *Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES).* Washington, DC: Promundo-US. (Link)
- Spotlight Initiative. 2019. Document du Programme Pays: Niger. (Link)
- Strengthening Partnerships, Results, and Innovations in Nutrition Globally. n.d. *Drivers of Malnutrition in Niger: Analysis of Secondary Data Sources*. USAID and Feed the Future. (Link)
- Summit for Democracy. 2021. LGBTQI Human Rights Report Card: Niger. (Link)

Telingator, Sue, Gwen Young, and Batamaka Somé. 2020. USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis Final Report. Prepared by Banyan Global. (Link)

The National Cooperative Business Association - CLUSA International. 2021. Resilience and Economic Growth in the Sahel – Enhanced Resilience (REGIS-ER). Final Report for USAID. (Link)

The New Humanitarian. 2009. Teacher Strike Threatens to Reverse MDG Gains. Niamey. (Link)

The New Humanitarian. 2013. Drive for quality in global education post-2015. (Link)

The United Nations. 2020. World Youth Report: Youth Social Entrepreneurship and the 2030 Agenda. Department of Social and Economic Affairs. New York. (Link)

The World Bank. n.d. Niger Profile, Health. Gender Data Portal. Access February 4, 2022. (Link)

The World Bank. n.d. Population, total – Niger. (Link)

Tunezerwe, Sandrine. 2020. Leadership as a Lever for Agroecology: The Case Study of a Leadership Development Initiative in Burkina Faso, Mali and Niger. Center for Creative Leadership. (Link)

UNDP. 2020. Human Development Index: Niger. (Link)

UNHCR. 2020. Sahel Crisis Responding to the urgent needs of refugees, internally displaced, returnees and others of concern.

UNHCR. 2021. Map: Niger Population of Concern – Refugees. (Link)

UNESCO. 2017. All Committed for Girls to Better Learn Math and Science in Niger. Press Release. Dakar.

UNESCO. 2021. Niger: Financing for Equity. (Link)

UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2017. School enrollment, primary, male (percent net) - Niger. Data for the World Bank. (Link)

UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2018. *Literacy rate, adult female (percent of females ages 15 and above)*. Data for the World Bank. (Link)

UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2018. Literacy rate, adult male (percent of males ages 15 and above). Data for the World Bank. (Link)

UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2018. Literacy rate, adult total (percent of people ages 15 and above). Data for the World Bank. (Link)

UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2020. School Enrollment, Tertiary, Female (percent gross) – Niger. Data for the World Bank. (Link)

UNFPA. 2014. L'initiative pour les Adolescentes du Niger Accélère la Transition Démographique. (Link)

UNICEF. 2022. Humanitarian Action for Children (Niger). (Link)

UNICEF. 2018. Niger: Key Demographic Indicators. Cross-sector indicators from UIS.

UNICEF. 2017 and 2020. Niger: Key Demographic Indicators. Data for UNICEF. (Link)

UNICEF Niger. 2019. Niger Health, Sectoral and Thematic Report: January – December 2018. UNICEF. (Link)

UNICEF. 2019. Renewed commitment to implementing child rights. (Link).

UNICEF. 2019. The State of the World's Children 2019. Children, Food and Nutrition: Growing Well in a Changing World. New York: UNICEF. (Link)

UNICEF. n.d. Child protection: Children are at great risk of all forms of violence in Niger and need urgent protection. (<u>Link</u>)

- UNICEF. n.d. Children in Niger: An Overview of the Situation. Accessed on 22 March 2022. (Link)
- UNICEF. n.d. Education Programme. (Link)
- UNICEF. n.d. Giga Initiative, Niger. (Link)
- UNICEF. n.d. Sans Certificat de Naissance, je ne pourrais pas poursuivre l'école. (<u>Link</u>)
- UNICEF. n.d. "Water, Sanitation and Hygiene: Without the basic needs of clean water, toilets and good hygiene, the lives of children are at risk." (Link)
- United Nations Children's Fund, ITU. 2020. Towards an Equal Future: Reimagining Girls' Education through STEM. New York. (Link)
- United Nations Population Fund. 2021. UNFPA Niger. (Link)
- UNOCHA. 2021. Aperçu Sur La Situation Humanitaire: Niger. (Link)
- USAID. 2012. Climate Vulnerabilities and Development in Burkina Faso and Niger Evidence of Impact. (Link)
- USAID. 2017. Food for Peace (FFP) Niger: Country Specific Information, Fiscal Year 2018. (Link)
- USAID. 2017. Sahel Youth Analysis: Building Resilience to Shocks and Stresses and Promoting Alternatives to Violent Extremism in Burkina Faso and Niger. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- USAID. 2020. West Africa Gender Analysis. Final report to USAID. (Link)
- USAID. 2021. Niger: Nutrition Profile. (Link)
- USAID. 2022. U.S. President's Malaria Initiative Niger Malaria Operational Plan FY 2022. (Link)
- USAID/Niger Kagalo. 2020. Conflict and Gender Analysis in Burkina Faso's Sahel Region and Niger's Tillaberi Region.
- U.S. Department of Justice. 2020. Niger Minority Rights Group. (Link)
- U.S. Department of Labor/ Bureau of International Labor. 2020. Findings from the Worst Forms of Child Labor. (Link)
- U.S. Department of State. 2019. Niger 2019 International Religious Freedom Report. (Link)
- U.S. Department of State. 2021. 2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Niger. (Link)
- Vétérinaires Sans Frontières. 2020. Local milk, an emerging value chain in West Africa. An overview of Vétérinaires Sans Frontières Belgium's experiences in Burkina Faso, Niger and Mali. Belgium: Vétérinaires Sans Frontières. (Link)
- Vlahovicova, Kristina and Giovanna Laura. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. (Link)
- Wakaso, Aisha. 2022. "Parents lament as Niger pupils stay home over teachers' strike." Article for *Punch*. (Link)
- Wambua, P., and Logan, C. 2017. "Despite challenges Niger's court system enjoys high levels of popular trust. Afrobarometer." (Link)
- Webb, Julie. 2015. Gender Dynamics in a changing climate: how gender and adaptive capacity affect resilience. Learning Brief for CARE Climate. (Link)
- Windham-Wright, Thor. 2017. Managing the tensions between herding and farming in the Sahel. Blog for IFPRI.

- Wodon, Quentin, Chata Male, Claudio Montenegro, and Ada Nayihouba. 2018. The Challenge of Inclusive Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Report for USAID and the World Bank. (Link)
- Wodon, Quentin, Doerte Doemeland, Sebastian M. Essl, Yele Maweki Batana, Luc Razafimandimby, Aly Sanoh, Olivier Béguy, et al. 2018. *Disrupting the Gender Divide in Mali, Chad, Niger, and Guinea*. Special Topic in the 2018 AFCW3 Economic Update. Washington, DC. (Link)
- Women, Gender and Development Directorate, UN Women, and UNOCHA. 2020. Gender-Based Violence in Africa during the COVID-19 Pandemic. (Link)
- World Bank. 2019. Country profile: Niger. (Link)
- World Bank. 2019. Economic Impacts of Gender Inequality in Niger. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- World Bank. 2019. UNICEF, WHO, World Bank: Joint child malnutrition estimates. (Link)
- World Bank. 2021. This is How Niger Acts Against Climate Change. (Link)
- World Bank. 2021. "Improving Women and Girls' Access to Improved Health and Nutrition Services in Priority areas". (Link)
- World Bank. n.d. Effect of Armed Conflict on Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from the Boko Haram Insurgency in Nigeria. Policy Research Working Paper No. 9168. Washington, DC: (Link)
- World Bank. n.d. Niger Profile, Agency. Gender Data Portal. Accessed February 4, 2022. (Link)
- World Bank. n.d. Niger Profile, Economic Opportunities. Gender Data Portal. Accessed February 4, 2022. (Link)
- World Bank; ONE Campaign. 2014. Levelling the Field: Improving Opportunities for Women Farmers in Africa. Washington, DC: World Bank. (Link)
- World Economic Forum. 2021. Global Gender Gap Index Report, p. 301. (Link)
- World Food Programme. 2017. Gender, Markets and Women's Empowerment in the Sahel Region: A Comparative Analysis of Mali, Niger, and Chad. VAM Gender and Markets Study #4. (Link)
- World Health Organization. 2019. World Health Statistics 2019: Monitoring health for the SDGs. (Link)
- World Health Organization. 2020. "Improving Maternal and New-Born Health in Niger: A Targeted Approach to Universal Health Coverage." (Link)
- World Health Organization. 2020. "Incidence of Malaria (per 1,000 population at risk) Niger." Accessed through World Bank Databank. (Link)
- Worldometer. n.d. Niger Coronavirus Cases. (Link)
- Wouterse, Fleur Stepahnie. 2016. "Empowerment and Agricultural Production: Evidence from Rural Households in Niger." IFPRI Discussion Paper 01509. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) (Link)
- Wouterse, Fleur Stephanie. 2017. "Empowerment, Adaptation, and Agricultural Production Evidence from Niger." IFPRI Discussion Paper 1643. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). (Link)
- Zavala, Eleonor, Shannon E. King, Talata Sawadogo-Lewis, and Timothy Roberton. 2021. "Leveraging Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Nutrition in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Conceptual Framework." *Maternal Child Nutrition* 17:3. (Link)

ENDNOTES

- ¹ INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- 2 Ibid.
- ³ In Niger, registered civil society organizations include advocacy organizations, networks, professional associations, academia, cultural and religious institutions, and the media, as well as local non-governmental organizations (NGOs). This definition is used when referring to CSOs within this report, including organizations that are not formally registered.
- ⁴ African Development Group. 2019. Niger National Climate Change Profile. (Link)
- ⁵ UNICEF Niger. 2019. Niger Health, Sectoral and Thematic Report: January December 2018. UNICEF. (Link)
- ⁶ The World Bank. n.d. *Population, total Niger.* (Link)
- ⁷ Feed the Future. n.d. *Niger*. (Link)
- ⁸ Notre Dame-GAIN. 2017. Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative Index. (Link)
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. Social Institutions & Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- ¹⁰ US Department of Justice. 2020. Niger Minority Rights Group. (Link)
- 11 UNDP. 2020. Human Development Index: Niger. (Link)
- ¹² Ibid.
- ¹³ UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2018. Literacy rate, adult total (percent of people ages 15 and above); Literacy rate, adult male (percent of males ages 15 and above); Literacy rate, adult female (percent of females ages 15 and above). Accessed through World Bank Databank. (Link). It is important to note that different sources have different estimates for women's literacy rates, ranging from 15.1 percent to 27 percent.
- ¹⁴ UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2020. Primary completion rate, total (percent of relevant age group); Primary completion rate, male (percent of relevant age group); Primary completion rate, female (percent of relevant age group). Accessed through World Bank Databank. (Link)
- 15 World Health Organization. 2020. "Improving Maternal and New-Born Health in Niger: A Targeted Approach to Universal Health Coverage." (Link)
 16 INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquete Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut
- NS and ICF International. 2013. Enquete Demographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- ¹⁷ USAID. 2021. Niger: Nutrition Profile. (Link)
- ¹⁸ World Bank. 2019. UNICEF, WHO, World Bank: Joint child malnutrition estimates. (Link)
- 19 World Health Organization, 2020, "Incidence of Malaria (per 1,000 population at risk) Niger." Accessed through World Bank Databank. (Link)
- ²⁰African Development Bank. 2015. African Gender Equality Index. (Link)
- ²¹ Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (Link)
- ²² World Bank. 2019. Country profile: Niger. (Link)
- ²³ INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- ²⁴ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. Social Institutions & Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- ²⁵ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Youth and Sports) 2021. *Politique Nationale de la Jeunesse* 2021-2035.
- ²⁶ UNICEF. 2022. Humanitarian Action for Children (Niger). (Link)
- ²⁷ Ibid.
- 28 Ibid
- ²⁹ UNOCHA. 2021. Aperçu Sur La Situation Humanitaire: Niger. (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁰ OECD. 2014. Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- ³¹ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. Politique Nationale de Genre (révisée).
- ³² See the reservations made by the Government of Niger upon accession of CEDÁW on October 9, 1999, accessible as footnote 50 of CEDAW (<u>Link</u>). Reservations primarily referenced existing customs and practices, especially concerning family relations.
- ³³ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. Social Institutions & Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- ³⁴ UNICEF. 2019. Renewed commitment to implementing child rights. (<u>Link</u>).
- ³⁵ Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁶ Telingator, Sue, Gwen Young, and Batamaka Somé. 2020. USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis Final Report. Banyan Global. (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁷ IPU Pariline. 2021. Niger country Profile. (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁸ OECD. 2014. Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- ³⁹ U.S. Department of State. 2019. Niger 2019 International Religious Freedom Report. (Link)
- ⁴⁰ Republic of Niger (Ministry Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. Politique Nationale de Genre (révisée).
- ⁴¹ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. Social Institutions & Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- ⁴² Ibid.
- 43 Ibid.
- ⁴⁴ Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (<u>Link</u>)
- 45 Ibid
- ⁴⁶ INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- ⁴⁷ Iris Group. 2020. Mariage D'enfants, Précoce Et Forcé: Une analyse d'économie politique du Niger. (<u>Link</u>)
- Kang, Alice J. 2015. "The Puzzle of Non-Adoption: Why Niger Has No Family Code." Bargaining for Women's Rights: Activism in an Aspiring Democracy. University of Minnesota Press.
- ⁴⁸ Iris Group. 2020. Mariage D'enfants, Précoce Et Forcé: Une analyse d'économie politique du Niger. (<u>Link</u>)
- ⁴⁹ Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (Link)
- ⁵⁰ IPU Pariline. 2021. Niger country Profile. (<u>Link</u>) The Parliamentary Committee for Social and Cultural Affairs sometimes addresses gender-related issues, but it does not have a cross-cutting mandate on gender equality. The Niger Parliamentarians Network on Gender Issues supports advocacy for an enabling environment for gender promotion; however, the research team did not find information on its activities.

- ⁵¹ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (Link)
- 52 USAID. 2017. Sahel Youth Analysis: Building resilience to shocks and stresses and promoting alternatives to violent extremism in Burkina Faso and Niger. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- ⁵³ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Youth and Sports) 2021. *Politique Nationale de la Jeunesse 2021-2035*.
- ⁵⁴ ILO Convention. 138, Minimum Age; ILO Convention. 182, Worst Forms of Child Labor; UN CRC and Optional Protocol on Armed Conflict and the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography, and Palermo Protocol on Trafficking in Persons.
- 55 US Department of Labor. 2020. Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor Niger. (Link)
- ⁵⁶ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Youth and Sports) 2021. Politique Nationale de la Jeunesse 2021-2035.
- ⁵⁷ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. Politique Nationale de Genre (révisée).
- 58 Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)
- ⁵⁹ Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link) 60 Ibid.
- ⁶¹ Barroy, Helen, Rafael Cortez, Nora Le Jean, and Hui Wang. 2016. Addressing Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health in Niger. Health, Nutrition and Population (HNP) Discussion Paper. World Bank. (Link)
- 62 Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- 63 Certain ethnic groups, such as the Tuareg and sub-groups of the Fulani, are matrilineal cultures. More information is needed to understand how matriliny functions within these groups.
- 64 World Food Programme. 2017. Gender, Markets and Women's Empowerment in the Sahel Region: A Comparative Analysis of Mali, Niger, and Chad. VAM Gender and Markets Study #4. (Link)
- ⁶⁵ Somé, Batamaka. 2018. Resilience in the Sahel Enhanced (RISE) II. Niger: Gender Analysis for USAID. (Link)
- 66 Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning
- (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)
 67 Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- ⁶⁸ Girma means dignity, prestige, and growth in Hausa.
- 69 Johnson, Abigail, Gottret M.V, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods, Niger. Catholic Relief Services.
- 70 World Food Programme. 2017. Gender, Markets and Women's Empowerment in the Sahel Region: A Comparative Analysis of Mali, Niger, and Chad. VAM Gender and Markets Study #4. (Link)
- 71 USAID. 2017. Sahel Youth Analysis: Building Resilience to Shocks and Stresses and Promoting Alternatives to Violent Extremism in Burkina Faso and Niger. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- 72 Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- ⁷³ INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- ⁷⁴ Diallo, Souleymane. 2022. "Exile, masculine honor, and gender relations among the Tuareg from Mali in Niamey, Niger." *Canadian Journal of* African Studies. (Link)
- 75 Somé, Batamaka. 2018. Resilience in the Sahel Enhanced (RISE) II. Niger: Gender Analysis for USAID. (Link)
- ⁷⁶ Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)
- 77 Republic of Niger (Ministry of Finance). 2019. Stratégie Nationale de Finance Inclusive Révisée et son Plan d'Actions: 2019-2023. 5. (Link)
- 78 Somé, Batamaka. 2018. Resilience in the Sahel Enhanced (RISE) II. Niger: Gender Analysis for USAID. (Link)
- Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- ⁸¹ Telingator, Sue, Gwen Young, and Batamaka Somé. 2020. USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis Final Report. Banyan Global. (Link)
- 82 Ibid.
- 83 Ibid.
- 84 Freedom House. 2021. Freedom in the World 2021: Niger. (Link)
- 85 US Department of State. 2021. 2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Niger. (Link)
- 86 Da Corta Lucia, Diarra Aïssa, Diwakar Vidya et al. 2021. L'inclusion de la jeunesse dans les marchés du travail au Niger: moyens de subsistance et dynamiques de genre. Agence Française de Développement. (Link)

 87 INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012 : Rapport de Synthèse. Institut
- National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD. (Link)
- 89 INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012 : Rapport de Synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD. (Link)
- 90 Johnson, Abigail, Gottret M.V, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods, Niger. Catholic Relief Services.
- 91 Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)
- 92 Da Corta Lucia, Diarra Aïssa, Diwakar Vidya et al. 2021. L'inclusion de la jeunesse dans les marchés du travail au Niger: moyens de
- subsistance et dynamiques de genre. Agence Française de Développement. (Link)

 93 Inter-Agency Standing Committee. 2020. GBV in the Central Sahel GBV AoR West and Central Africa. (Link).

- 94 Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). June 2021. Étude sur l'Ampleur et les Déterminants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger. Spotlight Initiative, pp. 5-6. The study looks specifically at rape, sexual assault, physical aggression, forced marriage, denial of resources, opportunities, and services, and psychological or emotional abuse. It does not separately examine the prevalence of IPV or domestic violence.
- ⁹⁵ INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD. 96 Ibid.
- 97 Save the Children. n.d. Child Marriage in Niger. (Link)
- 98 OECD. 2014. Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI): Niger; Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. (Link); Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. Berkeley, CA and Washington, DC: The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. (Link); and, Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. (Link). ⁹⁹ Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (Link) 100 Ibid.
- 101 Vlahovicova, Kristina and Giovanna Laura. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. (Link); Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. Berkeley, CA and Washington, DC: The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. (Link).
- 102 Agence Nigerienne de Presse. 2021. "Mariage précoce : Une enquête faite en 2012 fait du Niger le premier pays en Afrique en termes de mariages des enfants." September 17, 2021. (Link)
- 103 Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. (Link)
- 104 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 105 Ibid.
- ¹⁰⁶ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 107 Text Box sources: Health Communication Capacity Collaborative, 2014 "Gender Transformative Approaches: An HC3 Research Primer." (Link); United Nations Population Fund, United Nations Children's Fund, and UN Women. 2020. "Technical Note on Gender-Transformative Approaches in the Global Programme to End Child Marriage Phase II: A Summary for Practitioners" (Link)

 108 Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning
- (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link).

 109 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 110 Ibid.
- III Ibid.
- 112 Ibid.
- 113 Ibid.
- 114 World Food Programme. 2017. Gender, Markets and Women's Empowerment in the Sahel Region: A Comparative Analysis of Mali, Niger, and Chad. VAM Gender and Markets Study #4. (Link)
- 115 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 116 Ibid.
- 117 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 118 Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. Berkeley, CA and Washington, DC: The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. (Link).
- 119 DeLong, Stephanie, Mohamad Brooks, Sani Aliou, Rebecka Lundgreen, Caitlin Corneliess, Nichole E. Johns, Sneha Challa, Nicole Carter, Giovanna Lauro, Jay Silverman. 2020. "Married very young adolescent girls in Niger at greatest risk of lifetime male partner reproductive coercion and sexual violence." PLoS ONE 15:4. (Link)
- ¹²⁰ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global.
- 121 Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). June 2021. Etude sur l'Ampleur et les Déterminants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger. Spotlight Initiative.
- ¹²² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global.
- 123 Ibid.
- 124 Ibid.
- Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. Berkeley, CA and Washington, DC: The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. (Link).
- Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro, 2019, Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. (Link).
- ¹²⁷ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global.
- ¹²⁸ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global.
- ¹²⁹ Ibid.
- ¹³⁰ Ibid.
- 131 Ibid.
- ¹³² Perlman, Daniel. 2015. Niger Girls' Vulnerability Assessment: Sahel Women's Empowerment and Demographic Dividend Project (SWEDD). University of California. (Link)

- 133 Perlman, Daniel. 2015. Niger Girls' Vulnerability Assessment: Sahel Women's Empowerment and Demographic Dividend Project (SWEDD). University of California. (Link); and Perlman, Daniel, Sanoussi Chaibou, Giovanna Lauro, and Ruti Levtov. 2019. Young Men's Transition to Adulthood: Relationship Formation and Marriage in Maradi, Niger. Berkeley, CA and Washington, DC: The OASIS Initiative and Promundo-US. (Link)
- ¹³⁴ Perlman, Daniel. 2015. Niger Girls' Vulnerability Assessment: Sahel Women's Empowerment and Demographic Dividend Project (SWEDD). University of California. (Link)
- 135 Plan International. 2018. Adolescent Girls in Crisis: Voice from the Lake Chad Basin. (<u>Link</u>)
- ¹³⁶ UNOCHA. 2021. Aperçu Sur La Situation Humanitaire: Niger. (Link)
- ¹³⁷ Plan International. 2018. Adolescent Girls in Crisis: Voice from the Lake Chad Basin. (<u>Link</u>)
- 138 Ihid
- ¹³⁹ Perlman, Daniel. 2015. Niger Girls' Vulnerability Assessment: Sahel Women's Empowerment and Demographic Dividend Project (SWEDD). University of California. (Link)
- ¹⁴⁰ Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (<u>Link</u>).
- ¹⁴¹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ¹⁴² Ibid.
- ¹⁴³ Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack. 2020. "Supporting Safe Education in the Central Sahel." Briefing paper for GCPEA. p. 4. (Link)
- (Link)

 144 Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack. 2020. "Supporting Safe Education in the Central Sahel." Briefing paper for GCPEA. (Link)

 145 Human Rights Watch. 2021. Submission to the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women: Review of Niger. 81st pre-session of CEDAW. (Link)
- 146 FHI-360, 2021, Mixed Method Study: Gender Differentiated Drivers of Violent Extremism in Central Sahel, Draft report to USAID, (Link)
- ¹⁴⁷ Plan International. 2018. Adolescent Girls in Crisis: Voice from the Lake Chad Basin. (Link)
- 148 Ibid.
- ¹⁴⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ¹⁵⁰ Raineri, Luca. 2018. If Victims Become Perpetrators: Factors contributing to vulnerability and resilience to violent extremism in the central Sahel. International Alert. p. 45. (Link)
- 151 Mercy Corps. 2021. Understanding The Links Between Social Cohesion and Violence. Brief for USAID-funded PEACE Program in Niger. (Link)
- ¹⁵² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global.
- ¹⁵³ INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquête Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- 154 Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- 155 Ibid.
- ¹⁵⁶ Ibid. ¹⁵⁷ Ibid.
- 158 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. Social Institutions & Gender Index (SIGI): Niger. (Link)
- ¹⁵⁹ Effect of Armed Conflict on Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from the Boko Haram Insurgency in Nigeria. Policy Research Working Paper; No. 9168. Washington, DC: World Bank. (<u>Link</u>);
- ¹⁶⁰ Women, Gender and Development Directorate, UN Women, UNOCHA. 2020. Gender-Based Violence in Africa during the COVID-19 Pandemic. (<u>Link</u>); Sue Telingator, Gwen Young, and Batamaka Somé. 2020. USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis Final Report. Prepared by Banyan Global. (<u>Link</u>); Ekhator-Mobayode, Uche Eseosa Hanmer, Lucia C, Rubiano Matulevich, Eliana Carolina, Arango and Diana Jimena. 2020. Plan international. 2020. *Central Sahel facing a protection crisis as gender-based violence against girls continues to rise*. (<u>Link</u>)
 ¹⁶¹ Justice and Dignity for the Women of Sahel. 2020. "Sahel: outbreak of GBV cases under Covid-19." (<u>Link</u>)
- ¹⁶² Andriamasinoro, Lalaina Fatratra. 2021. COVID-19: a threat to progress against child marriage in Niger. UNICEF. (Link). UNFPA. 2020. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Family Planning and Ending Gender-based Violence, Female Genital Mutilation and Child Marriage; Sue Telingator, Gwen Young, and Batamaka Somé. USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis Final Report. Prepared by Banyan Global. 2020; USAID/Niger Kagalo. 2020. Conflict and Gender Analysis in Burkina Faso's Sahel Region and Niger's Tillaberi Region.
- ¹⁶³ Andriamasinoro, Lalaina Fatratra. 2021. COVID-19: a threat to progress against child marriage in Niger. UNICEF. (Link).
- ¹⁶⁴ Chekaraou, Ibro and Nana Aicha Goza. 2019. "Girls' Transition from Primary to Secondary Schools in Two Urban and Semi-Urban School Districts in Niger." University of Abdou Moumouni. Niamey. (<u>Link</u>)
- ¹⁶⁵ INS and ICF International. 2013. Enqueîte Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique and ICF International. Calverton, MD.
- 166 Grace, K. T., and Anderson, J. C. 2018. Reproductive coercion: a systematic review. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse 19(4), 371-390. (Link)
- ¹⁶⁷ Bride price is the practice of the groom's family providing property or money to the bride's family as part of the marriage. See Glinski,
 Allison M., Magnolia Sexton, and Lis Meyers. 2015. The Child, Early, and Forced Marriage Resource Guide Banyan Global. (Link)
 ¹⁶⁸ Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and
 Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality
- Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. ($\underline{\text{Link}}$) 169 Ibid.
- ¹⁷⁰ Masquelier, Adeline. 2013. "Teatime: Boredom and the Temporalities of Young Men In Niger. Africa." *Journal of the International African Institute* 83:3. (Link)
- ¹⁷¹ Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)

 172 Ibid.
- ¹⁷³ Idrissa, Abdourahmane. 2015. *Political Economy of Fertility in Rural Niger: A Report*. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)

```
<sup>174</sup> Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (Link)
<sup>175</sup> US Department of State. 2021. 2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Niger. (Link)
<sup>176</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
<sup>177</sup> Ibid.
<sup>178</sup> Ibid.
<sup>179</sup> Ibid.
<sup>180</sup> Ibid.
181 Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children), 2021, Etude sur l'Ampleur et les Determinants des Violences
Basées sur le Genre au Niger. Spotlight Initiative.
<sup>182</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
<sup>183</sup> Ibid.
<sup>184</sup> OCHA Financial Tracking Service. 2022. Niger 2020. (Link)
<sup>185</sup> Ibid.
186 Ibid.
<sup>187</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
<sup>188</sup> Ibid.
<sup>189</sup> Ibid.
191 NS and ICF International. 2013. Enquete Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut
National de la Statistique and ICF International, Calverton, MD.
<sup>192</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
193 Ibid.
194 Ibid.
195 Institute for Reproductive Health. 2019. Study of the effects of Husbands' School intervention on gender dynamics to improve Family
Planning and Reproductive Health in Niger. (Link).
<sup>196</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
<sup>197</sup> Ibid.
<sup>198</sup> Ibid.
<sup>199</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
<sup>200</sup> Ibid.
<sup>201</sup> Ibid.
<sup>202</sup> Ibid.
203 FAO. 2021. Burkina Faso, Mali et Niger – Analyse des conflits liés aux ressources naturelles dans les trois pays du Liptako-Gourma: Note de
synthèse. (<u>Link</u>) <sup>204</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
<sup>205</sup> Windham-Wright, Thor. 2017. Managing the Tensions between Herding and Farming in the Sahel. Blog for IFPRI.
206 Raineri, Luca. 2018. If Victims Become Perpetrators: Factors Contributing to Vulnerability and Resilience to Violent Extremism in the
Central Sahel. International Alert. (Link)
<sup>207</sup> Ibid.
<sup>208</sup> Webb, Julie. 2015. Gender Dynamics in a changing climate: how gender and adaptive capacity affect resilience. Learning Brief for CARE Climate. (Link)
<sup>209</sup> Human Rights Council. Mission to Niger. 2015. "Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of slavery, including its causes
and consequences, Urmila Bhoola." A/HRC/30/35/Add.1. July 30, 2015. (Link)
<sup>210</sup> Reuters. 2014. Niger jails man for four years in first slavery case. May 14, 2014. (Link)
<sup>211</sup> Abdelkader, Galy Kadir. 2004. L'Esclavage au Niger. Anti-Slavery International and Association Timidria. Niamey: Niger.
<sup>212</sup> Global Slavery Index. 2018. Niger Country Data. (Link)
<sup>213</sup> Human Rights Council. Mission to Niger. 2015. "Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of slavery, including its causes
and consequences, Urmila Bhoola." A/HRC/30/35/Add.1. July 30, 2015. (Link)
<sup>214</sup> Abdelkader, Galy Kadir. 2004. L'Esclavage au Niger. Anti-Slavery International and Association Timidria. Niamey: Niger; and Human Rights
Council. Mission to Niger, 2015, "Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of slavery, including its causes and consequences,
Urmila Bhoola." A/HRC/30/35/Add.1. July 30, 2015, p. 9. (Link)
<sup>215</sup> Key Informant Interviews. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global; and Human Rights Council. Mission to Niger. 2015. "Report of the Special
Rapporteur on contemporary forms of slavery, including its causes and consequences, Urmila Bhoola." A/HRC/30/35/Add.1. July 30, 2015, p. 9
(paragraph 39). (<u>Link</u>)
<sup>216</sup> Human Rights Council. Mission to Niger. 2015. "Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of slavery, including its causes
and consequences, Urmila Bhoola." A/HRC/30/35/Add.1. July 30, 2015, p. 9 (paragraph 39). (Link)
<sup>217</sup> Key Informant Interviews. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global.
<sup>218</sup> Ibid.
<sup>219</sup> Ibid.
<sup>221</sup> Human Rights Council. Mission to Niger. 2015. "Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of slavery, including its causes
and consequences, Urmila Bhoola." A/HRC/30/35/Add.1. July 30, 2015, p. 9 (paragraph 39). (Link)
<sup>222</sup> Key Informant Interviews. 2022. Niamey. Banyan Global.
<sup>223</sup> Key Informant Interviews. 2022. Tahoua. Banyan Global.
<sup>224</sup> Harter, Fred. 2022. 'He bought me like a chicken': the struggle to end slavery in Niger. The Guardian. (<u>Link</u>)
<sup>225</sup> Ibid.
<sup>226</sup> Key Informant Interview. 2022. Remote. Banyan Global.
227 Citations for Text Box: Association Timidria. 2021. Reponses de Timidria Dans Le Cadre De L'Appel a Contributions Sur le Role des
```

Groupes Criminels Organises en ce qui Concerne les Formes Contemporaines D'Esclavage. April 15, 2021. (Link); and Harter, Fred. 2022. 'He

bought me like a chicken': the struggle to end slavery in Niger. The Guardian. (Link)

- ²²⁸ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²²⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Zinder. Banyan Global.
- ²³⁰ US Department of State. 2021. 2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Niger. (Link)
- ²³¹ Refer to Administrator Samantha Power's speech on November 4, 2021 presenting a New Vision for Global Development: "When it comes to empowering women and girls—an investment that pays huge economic and security dividends—I plan to ask every bureau to at least double the percentage of their work that advances gender equality and report to me regularly about these efforts." <u>Administrator Samantha Power On A New Vision for Global Development | November 4, 2021 | U.S. Agency for International Development (usaid.gov).</u>

 ²³² Functional illiteracy means that "a person cannot use reading, writing, and calculation skills for his/her own and the community's
- ²³² Functional illiteracy means that "a person cannot use reading, writing, and calculation skills for his/her own and the community's development. Functional illiteracy has considerable negative effects not only on personal development, but also in economic and social terms." See Vagvolgyi, Reka, Andrea Coldea, Thomas Dresler, Josef Schrader, and Hans-Christoph Nuerk. 2016. "A Review about Functional Illiteracy: Definitions, Cognitive, Linguistic, and Numerical Aspects." *Frontiers in Psychology* (10), November 10, 2016. (Link)
- ²³³ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²³⁴ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global; and Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (Link)
- ²³⁵ African Development Bank. 2020. Gender Profile: Niger, Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- ²³⁶ There are 171 seats in the unicameral National Assembly. Of these, 158 are directly elected from constituencies; 8 are reserved for minority representatives, who are elected directly from special single-seat constituencies; and 5 are reserved for Nigeriens living abroad. While 171 is the statutory number of seats, the actual number of members of parliament may be different (as of 2022, it is 166). IPU Pariline. 2021. *Niger country Profile*. (Link)
- ²³⁷ The youngest member of parliament is currently 24 years (and a woman). IPU Parline. 2021. Niger Country Profile. (Link)
- 238 Ibid
- 239 Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2020. Argumentaire en Vue de Rehausser les Taux Relatifs a la Loi $N^{\circ}2000-008$ Instituant un Systeme de Quota dans les Fonctions Électives, au gouvernement et dans l'administration de l'Etat. (Link)
- ²⁴⁰ IPU Parline. 2021. Niger Country Profile. (Link)
- ²⁴¹ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (Link)
- ²⁴² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁴³ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁵ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁶ Mindzie, Mireille Affa'a. 2015. Building Peace and Development in the Sahel: Enhancing the Political Participation of Women and Youth. International Peace Institute. New York. (Link)
- ²⁴⁷ USAID/Niger Kagalo. 2020. Conflict and Gender Analysis in Burkina Faso's Sahel Region and Niger's Tillaberi Region.
- 248 Ibid
- ²⁴⁹ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. Politique Nationale de Genre (révisée).
- ²⁵⁰ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. Politique Nationale de Genre (révisée).
- ²⁵¹ Counterpart International. 2019. Resilience Activity in Niger. (Link)
- ²⁵² Lepillez, Karine. 2019. Save the Children Niger Wadata Program: Gender and Youth Analysis. Save the Children.
- ²⁵³ Johnson, Abigail, Gottret M.V, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and their Implications for Food Security and livelihoods, Niger. Catholic Relief Services.
- ²⁵⁴ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁵⁵ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global; and Lepillez, Karine. 2019. Save the Children Niger Wadata Program: Gender and Youth Analysis. Save the Children.
- ²⁵⁶ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global; Lepillez, Karine. 2019. Save the Children Niger Wadata Program: Gender and Youth Analysis. Save the Children; and, Johnson, Abigail, Gottret M.V, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods, Niger. Catholic Relief Services.
- ²⁵⁷ Johnson, Abigail, Gottret M.V, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods, Niger. Catholic Relief Services.
- ²⁵⁸ Lepillez, Karine. 2019. Save the Children Niger Wadata Program: Gender and Youth Analysis. Save the Children.
- ²⁵⁹ Ibid.
- ²⁶⁰ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁶¹ Ibid.
- ²⁶² Ibid.
- 263 Ibid.
- ²⁶⁴ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2008. Argumentaire Islamique Sur "L'Equite De Genre." Version 2: December 2008. UNFPA and Initiative Genre Au Niger.
- ²⁶⁵ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁶⁶ World Bank, 2019. Country profile: Niger. (Link)
- ²⁶⁷ CARE International. 2017. Political Consciousness, Leadership, and Collective Action in the Mata Masau Dubaara Structures in Niger. (Link)
- ²⁶⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁷⁰ Ibid.
- ²⁷¹ Perlman, Daniel, and Sanoussi Chaibou. 2018. Women's Empowerment and Resilience in Niger: An Ethnographic Study. Sahel Resilience Learning (SAREL). The Mitchell Group. (Link)
- ²⁷² Ibid.
- ²⁷³ Lepillez, Karine. 2019. Save the Children Niger Wadata Program: Gender and Youth Analysis. Save the Children.
- ²⁷⁴ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁷⁵ Lepillez, Karine. 2019. Save the Children Niger Wadata Program: Gender and Youth Analysis. Save the Children.

- ²⁷⁶ Johnson, Abigail, Gottret M.V, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods, Niger. Catholic Relief Services.
- ²⁷⁷ Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack. 2020. "Supporting Safe Education in the Central Sahel." Briefing paper for GCPEA, p. 4. (Link)
- ²⁷⁸ For example, the Ministries of: Affaires Etrangères; Défense Nationale; Sécurité intérieure et décentralisation; Justice et Droits Humains; Santé; Action humanitaire; Plan; Finances et Budget Education Nationale; Jeunesse et Sports.
- ²⁷⁹ Mindzie, Mireille Affa'a. 2015. *Building Peace and Development in the Sahel: Enhancing the Political Participation of Women and Youth.* International Peace Institute. New York. (Link)
- ²⁸⁰ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁸¹ Counterpart International. 2021. Gender Analysis: Niger's Tillabery, Maradi, And Zinder Regions, Resilient Governance in Niger Activity.
- ²⁸² Anderson, Kristine. 2019. Tearing Down the Walls: Confronting the Barriers to Internally Displaced Women and Girls' Participation in Humanitarian Settings. Report for UNHCR. (Link)
- ²⁸³ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁸⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁸⁵ Ibid.
- ²⁸⁶ Ibid.
- ²⁸⁷ Ibid.
- ²⁸⁸ Ibid.
- ²⁸⁹ Ibid.
- ²⁹⁰ Reseau des Femmes Pour La Paix au Niger (REFEPA). 2020. Rapport consolidé des activités des femmes médiatrices sur la prévention et la gestion des conflits. (<u>Link</u>)
- ²⁹¹ Ibid.
- ²⁹² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁹³ Ibid.
- ²⁹⁴ Wambua, P., and Logan, C. 2017. "Despite challenges Niger's court system enjoys high levels of popular trust. Afrobarometer." (<u>Link</u>)
- ²⁹⁵ Iffat, Idris. 2020. Justice systems in the Sahel. (Link).
- ²⁹⁶ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁹⁷ Ibid.
- $^{\rm 298}$ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ²⁹⁹ Ibid.
- 300 Ibid.
- 301 Ibid.
- ³⁰² USAID. 2017. Sahel Youth Analysis: Building Resilience to Shocks and Stresses and Promoting Alternatives to Violent Extremism in Burkina Faso and Niger. Washington, D.C. (<u>Link</u>)
- 303 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ³⁰⁴ The CNIN is under the supervision of the Ministry of Youth and Sports.
- ³⁰⁵ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ³⁰⁶ USAID. 2017. Sahel Youth Analysis: Building Resilience to Shocks and Stresses and Promoting Alternatives to Violent Extremism in Burkina Faso and Niger. Washington, D.C. (<u>Link</u>)
- 307 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 308 Ibid.
- ³⁰⁹ Ibid.
- 310 Ibid.
- 311 Ibid.
- ³¹² Vétérinaires Sans Frontières. 2020. Local milk, an emerging value chain in West Africa. An overview of Vétérinaires Sans Frontières Belgium's experiences in Burkina Faso, Niger and Mali. Belgium: Vétérinaires Sans Frontières. (Link)
- ³¹³ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Tahoua. Banyan Global.
- ³¹⁴ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Zinder. Banyan Global.
- ³¹⁵ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Dosso. Banyan Global.
- ³¹⁶ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2018. *Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural:* Niger. Série des Evaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (<u>Link</u>)
- 317 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 318 Ibid.
- 319 Doka, Marthe, and Marie Monimart. 2004. Pression foncière et nouvelles normes d'accès à la terre : vers une déféminisation de l'agriculture au sud Niger? International Institute for Environment and Development. Dossier No. 128. (Link); and Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2018. Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural: Niger. Série des Evaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (Link)
- ³²⁰ Wouterse, Fleur. 2016. "Empowerment and Agricultural Production: Evidence from Rural Households in Niger." IFPRI Discussion Paper 01509. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) (Link)
- 321 Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2018. Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural: Niger. Série des Evaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (Link)
- 322 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 323 Ibid.
- 324 Ibid.
- 325 Ibid.
- ³²⁶ Ibid.
- ³²⁷ Ibid.
- ³²⁸ International Fund for Agricultural Development. 2004. *Livestock services and the poor*. Rome: IFAD with DANIDA, World Bank, DAAS, University of Reading and national institutions in Bangladesh, Bolivia, Denmark, India and Kenya. (<u>Link</u>)

- ³²⁹ Food for Peace. 2017. "Country Specific Information: Niger Multi-Year Development Food and Nutrition Security Activity, Fiscal Years 2018-2023." USAID. (Link)
- ³³⁰ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Zinder. Banyan Global.
- 331 NÉPAD Planning and Coordinating Agency. 2012. "African Gender, Climate Change and Agriculture Support Program, Niger Consultation Report." (Link)
- (Link)
 332 Food for Peace. 2017. "Country Specific Information: Niger Multi-Year Development Food and Nutrition Security Activity, Fiscal Years 2018-2023." USAID. (Link)
- 333 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Banyan Global.
- 334 Ibid.
- ³³⁵ Ibid.
- ³³⁶ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ³³⁷ Ibid.
- ³³⁸ Ibid.
- ³³⁹ World Bank; ONE Campaign. 2014. Levelling the Field: Improving Opportunities for Women Farmers in Africa. Washington, DC: World Bank. (Link)
- ³⁴⁰ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Banyan Global.
- ³⁴¹ Food and Agriculture Organization of the Únited Nations. 2018. *Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural:* Niger. Série des Évaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁴² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Banyan Global.
- ³⁴³ Ibid.
- ³⁴⁴ Ibid.
- ³⁴⁵ Ibid.
- ³⁴⁶ Ibid.
- ³⁴⁷ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Dosso. Banyan Global.
- ³⁴⁸ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2018. *Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural:* Niger. Série des Évaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁴⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Dosso. Banyan Global.
- ³⁵⁰ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2018. *Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural:* Niger. Série des Évaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (Link)
- 351 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Dosso. Banyan Global.
- 352 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Maradi. Banyan Global.
- ³⁵³ Ibid.
- 354 Ibid.
- 355 Ibid.
- ³⁵⁶ Ibid.
- ³⁵⁷ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2018. *Profil National Genre des Secteurs de l'Agriculture et du Développement Rural:* Niger. Série des Évaluations Genre des Pays Série. Niamey, Niger: FAO. (Link)
- ³⁵⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Dosso. Banyan Global.
- ³⁶⁰ CÁRE International. 2015. The Resilience Champions: When Women Contribute to The Resilience of Communities in the Sahel through Savings and Community-based Adaptation. Report by CARE
- ³⁶¹ Mwambi, Mercy, Jos Bijman, and Alessandra Galie. 2021. "The Effect of Membership in Producer Organizations on Women's Empowerment: Evidence from Kenya." Women's Studies International Forum (87). (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁶² Johnson, Abigail, Maria Veronica Gottret, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and Their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods. Catholic Relief Services GIRMA Project Report for USAID. 167.

 ³⁶³ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Niamey. Banyan Global.
- ³⁶⁴ Abondo, Olivier, Fiong à Bitegni, Jean Bosco, Mohamed Gaoh, and Honoré Mimche. 2017. Profil Genre du Niger. Ministère de la Promotion de la Femme et de la Protection de l'Enfant, ONU Femmes, IFORD.
- 365 Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. Politique Nationale de Genre. 25.
- ³⁶⁶ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Profil Genre Niger*. UN Women and the Institute for Training and Research (IFORD). (Link)
- ³⁶⁷ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ³⁶⁸ CARE International. 2019. Climate Change Vulnerability and Adaptive Capacity in Dakoro Department, Niger. Adaptation Learning Program (ALP) for Africa.
- ³⁶⁹ Johnson, Abigail, Maria Veronica Gottret, and Rita Muckenhirn. 2020. *Gender Analysis Report: Making Sense of Gender Norms and Behaviors and Their Implications for Food Security and Livelihoods.* Catholic Relief Services GIRMA Project Report for USAID.
- 370 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Niamey. Banyan Global.
- ³⁷¹ Buvinic, Mayra and Rebecca, Furst-Nichols. 2016. *Promoting Women's Economic Empowerment What Works?* World Bank Group. Washington, D.C.
- ³⁷² Aker, Jenny, Rachid Boumnijel, Amanda McClelland, and Niall Tierney. 2011. *Zap It to Me: The Short-Term Impacts of a Mobile Cash Transfer Program.* CGD Working Paper 268. Center for Global Development. Washington, D.C. (<u>Link</u>)
- ³⁷³ Buvinic, Mayra and Rebecca Furst-Nichols. 2016. *Promoting Women's Economic Empowerment What Works?* World Bank Group. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- ³⁷⁴ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ³⁷⁵ Gender Innovation Lab. 2019. Economic Impacts of Gender Inequality in Niger. Washington, DC: World Bank. 31. (Link)
- ³⁷⁶ Ibid.
- ³⁷⁷ Ibid.
- ³⁷⁸ Ibid.
- ³⁷⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Niamey. Banyan Global.

- ³⁸⁰ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 381 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2014. Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI): Niger Factsheet. (Link)
- 382 Republic of Niger. Civil Code, Article 223.
- ³⁸³ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger: Zinder. Banyan Global.
- ³⁸⁴ Globalization Partners. n.d. "Niger." (<u>Link</u>)
- 385 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 386 Ibid.
- ³⁸⁷ Niger Penal Code, Article 281.1. The CFA franc is the currency of the West African Economic and Monetary Union.
- ³⁸⁸ Niger Labor Code, Article 45.
- ³⁸⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global. A representative of one large, woman-led formal agricultural cooperative noted that these policies are an important step to professionalize a business, but they are often pushed by international donors and do not come from within and are not demanded by staff.
- ³⁹⁰ US Department of State. 2021. 2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Niger. (Link)
- 391 Ibid.
- ³⁹² Ibid.
- ³⁹³ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ³⁹⁴ Ibid.
- ³⁹⁵ Ibid.
- ³⁹⁶ Ibid.
- ³⁹⁷ Ibid.
- ³⁹⁸ Ibid.
- ³⁹⁹ Ibid.
- ⁴⁰⁰ CARE International. 2015. The Resilience Champions: When Women Contribute to The Resilience of Communities in the Sahel through Savings and Community-based Adaptation. (Link)
- ⁴⁰¹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global; Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Politique Nationale de Genre.*
- ⁴⁰² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴⁰³ African Development Bank. 2020. Republic of Niger: Gender Profile: Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- 404 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴⁰⁵ Ibid.
- ⁴⁰⁶ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (<u>Link</u>)
- ⁴⁰⁷ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴⁰⁸ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Politique Nationale de Genre*.
- ⁴⁰⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 410 Ibid.
- 411 Ibid.
- ⁴¹² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴¹³ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Profil Genre Niger*. UN Women and the Institute for Training and Research (IFORD). (<u>Link</u>)
- 414 African Development Bank. 2020. Republic of Niger: Gender Profile: Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- ⁴¹⁵ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 416 Ibid.
- 417 Ibid.
- 418 Ibid.
- ⁴¹⁹ African Development Bank. 2020. Republic of Niger: Gender Profile: Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- ⁴²⁰ République du Niger (Ministère de la Promotion de la Femme et de la Protection de l'Enfant), ONU Femmes, IFORD. 2017. *Profil Genre Niger*.
- ⁴²¹ African Development Bank. 2020. Republic of Niger: Gender Profile: Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- ⁴²² Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 423 Key Informant Interview, 2022, Niger, Banyan Global,
- ⁴²⁴ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Profil Genre Niger*. UN Women and the Institute for Training and Research (IFORD). (<u>Link</u>)
- ⁴²⁵ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴²⁶ African Development Bank. 2020. Republic of Niger: Gender Profile: Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- ⁴²⁷ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2017. *Profil Genre Niger*. UN Women and the Institute for Training and Research (IFORD). (<u>Link</u>)
- ⁴²⁸ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 429 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global; Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children).
- 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (Link)
- ⁴³⁰ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴³¹ African Development Bank. 2020. Republic of Niger: Gender Profile: Gender, Women's Empowerment and Poverty.
- ⁴³² Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (Link)
- ⁴³³ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴³⁴ Ibid.
- ⁴³⁵ Ibid.
- ⁴³⁶ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). June 2021. Etude sur l'Ampleur et les Determinants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger. Spotlight Initiative.

- ⁴³⁷ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 438 Ibid.
- ⁴³⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴⁴⁰ Ibid.
- 441 Ibid.
- The GoN attempted a 2017 DHS, but the data collected was deemed invalid (and potentially falsified) and the results were not fully published or legitimized. DHS Program. 2019. "2017 Niger DHS: Distribution of Data and Results Canceled." July 2019. (Link)
- 443 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- ⁴⁴⁵ Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). 2019. Rapport du Niger sur la mise en œuvre de la Déclaration et du Programme d'Action de Beijing +25. (Link)
- 446 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 447 Ibid.
- ⁴⁴⁸ Ibid.
- ⁴⁴⁹ Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global; Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). June 2021. Etude sur l'Ampleur et les Determinants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger. Spotlight Initiative.
- 450 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 451 Republic of Niger (Ministry of Promotion of Women and Protection of Children). June 2021. Etude sur l'Ampleur et les Determinants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger. Spotlight Initiative. p. 107.
- ⁴⁵³ Ibid.
- 454 Mindzie, Mireille Affa'a. 2015. Building Peace and Development in the Sahel: Enhancing the Political Participation of Women and Youth. International Peace Institute. New York. (Link)
- ⁴⁵⁵ Ibid.
- ⁴⁵⁶ Ibid.
- ⁴⁵⁷ US Department of State. 2021. 2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Niger. (Link)
- 458 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 459 USAID. 2017. Sahel Youth Analysis: Building Resilience to Shocks and Stresses and Promoting Alternatives to Violent Extremism in Burkina Faso and Niger. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- 460 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 461 Ibid.
- ⁴⁶² Inter-Parliamentary Union (IPU) and African Parliamentary Union. 2021. Sexism, Harassment and Violence against Women in Parliaments in Africa. (Link)
- 463 Ibid.
- ⁴⁶⁴ Ibid.
- 465 Key Informant Interview. 2022. Niger. Banyan Global.
- 466 Salí, F.D, Djibo Saley, and Modieli, A.D. 2015. Ampleur et Déterminants des Violences Basées sur le Genre au Niger: Rapport Final. UNFPA and Republique du Niger. (Link)
- 467 INS and ICF International. 2013. Enquete Démographique et de Santé et à Indicateurs Multiples du Niger 2012: Rapport de synthèse. Institut National de la Statistique & ICF International. Calverton, MD. ⁴⁶⁸ Ibid.
- 469 Telingator, Sue, Gwen Young, and Batamaka Somé. 2020. USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis Final Report. Prepared by Banyan Global.
- 470 Burning food, Arguing with him, Going out without telling him, Neglecting the children, Refusing to have sexual intercourse with him. ⁴⁷¹ Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- ⁴⁷² Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- 473 Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- 474 Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- 475 Spindler, Ester, Daniel Perlman, Sanoussi Chaibou, Jay Silverman, Nicole Carter, Sabrina Boyce, Ruti Levtov, Kristina Vlahovicova, and Giovanna Lauro. 2019. Child Marriage, Fertility and Family Planning in Niger: Results from a Study Inspired by the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES). Promundo-US. Washington, D.C. (Link)
- ⁴⁷⁶ Telingator, Sue, Gwen Young, and Batamaka Somé. 2020. USAID/Niger COVID-Specific Gender Analysis Final Report. Prepared by Banyan Global. (<u>Link</u>) (<u>Link</u>) (<u>Link</u>) (<u>A77</u> Iris Group. 2020. Analyse d'Économie Politique des Mariages d'Enfants, Précoces et Forcés au Niger. Chapel Hill, USA.
- ⁴⁷⁸ Girls not Brides. 2020. Girls not Brides: Niger. (Link)
- ⁴⁷⁹ Ibid.
- 480 Agence Nigeriènne de Presse. 2019. Le Niger Veut Réduire Le Taux de Prévalence Basée Sur Le Genre de 28,4 Percent à 15,4 pourcent d'Ici 202. June 26, 2019. (Link)
- ⁴⁸¹ UNICEF. 2022. Humanitarian Action for Children (Niger). (Link)
- ⁴⁸² Ibid.
- ⁴⁸³ Ibid.

 ⁴⁸⁴ UNOCHA. 2021. Aperçu Sur La Situation Humanitaire: Niger. (<u>Link</u>)
 485 US Department of State. 2021. 2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Niger. (<u>Link</u>)
 486 Ibid.
 487 Ibid.

⁴⁸⁸ US Department Of Labor/ Bureau of International Labor. 2020. Findings from the Worst Forms of Child Labor. (<u>Link</u>)
489 <u>Draft Report</u> on Gender Differentiated Drivers of Violent Extremism in the Central Sahel.